
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 

Library Development Services Bureau  
900 N Street, Suite 400 
P.O. Box 942837 
Sacramento, California 94237-0001 
(916) 653-7532 phone 
(916) 653-8443 fax 
 

   C     a      l      i       f      o      r      n     i      a             S      t      a      t      e            L      i      b      r     a     r      y 

 

 
The California Library Services Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 25, 2017 
BOARD MEETING 

 
                   
 
 

Anne R. Bernardo, President 
Paymaneh Maghsoudi, Vice-President 
Greg Lucas, Chief Executive Officer 
Brandy Buenafe 
Gary M. Christmas 
Aleita Huguenin 
Florante Peter Ibanez 
Penny Kastanis 
Gregory F. McGinity 
Peter Mindnich  
Elizabeth O. Murguia 
H. Eric Schockman, Ph.D. 
Sandra Tauler 
Connie Williams 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
For further information contact: 

 
 

 
Annly Roman 

California State Library 
P.O. Box 942837 

Sacramento, CA 94237-0001 
(916) 323-0057 

annly.roman@library.ca.gov 
http://www.library.ca.gov/loc/board/agendas/agendas.html 

 
 

Meeting call-in locations are as follows: 
 

California State Library 
Stanley Mosk Library & Courts Building  
914 Capitol Mall, Room 500 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

San Andreas Central Library 
1299 Gold Hunter Rd. 
San Andreas, CA 95249 

  
Black Gold Cooperative Library System 
580 Camino Mercado 
Arroyo Grande, CA 93420 
 
Fresno County Public Library 
2420 Mariposa Street, 
Fresno, CA 93721 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Southern California Library Cooperative 
248 E. Foothill Blvd., Suite 101 
Monrovia, CA 91016 

 

MEETING NOTICE 
 

California Library Services Board 
April 25, 2017 

9:30am – 4:00pm 
 

Stanley Mosk Library & Courts Building 
914 Capitol Mall, Room 500 

Sacramento, Ca 95814 



2 
 

 
 

A. BOARD OPENING 
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
Welcome and introductions of Board members, staff, and audience 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
Consider agenda as presented or amended 

3. Approval of October 2016 Board Minutes – Document 1 
Consider minutes as presented or amended 

4. Board Resolution – Document 2 
Consider resolution for Gerald Maginnity 

5. Board meeting date for Fall 2017 - Document 3 
Discuss the date for the next Board meeting 

6. Nomination of Board Officers – Document 4 
a. Discuss the procedures for election of Board Officers 
b. Consider Nominating Committee for 2018 Board Officers 

 
B. REPORTS TO THE BOARD 

 

1. Board President’s Report 
Report on activities since last Board meeting 

2. Board Vice-President’s Report 
Report on activities since last Board meeting 

3. Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
Report on activities since last Board meeting 

4. Lighting Up Libraries: Broadband Update Report – Document 5 
Update on technology improvement grants and broadband efforts 

5. California eBook Platform with Library Owned Content Program Report 
Update on the status of the California eBook Platform with Library Owned 
Content program funded by a one-time grant  

6. Cross Platform eBook Discovery App and Reader Program Report 
Update on the status of the Cross Platform eBook Discovery App and Reader 
program funded by a one-time grant  

7. Innovation Lab Grant Program Update 
Update on the status of the Innovation Lab program funded by a one-time grant  

8. Libraries Illuminated: Software and Hardware Improvement Program 
Grant Program Report 
Update on the status of the Software and Hardware Improvement program 
funded by a one-time grant  

9. Impact Study and Online Clearing House Grant Program Report 
Update on the status of the Impact Study and Online Clearing House program 
funded by a one-time grant  

10. Zip Books Grant Program Report 
Update on the status of the Zip Books program funded by a one-time grant 

 
C. CLSA PROGRAM ITEMS FOR INFORMATION/ACTION 

 

BUDGET AND PLANNING 
CLSA Proposed Budget for FY 2017/18 – Document 6 
Consider 2017/18 Preliminary Budget for CLSA.  



3 
 

 
RESOURCE SHARING 
1. Consolidation and Affiliations – Document 7 

Reporting only notification of the intent of the Goleta Valley Library to 
separate from the City of Santa Barbara Library System, become its own city 
library, and to join the Black Gold Cooperative Library System 

2. CLSA System-level programs – Document 8 
Review and discuss System Annual Reports, FY 2015/16 

 
D. CLSA REGULATIONS – Document 9 

Review and discuss language for the amendments to the CLSA regulations 
 
E. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE  

 

Consider federal and state legislative issues   
 

F. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 2017/18 
 

Items California Library Services Board members wish to bring up for discussion 
 

G. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Public comment on any item or issue that is under the purview of the California 
Library Services Board and is not on the agenda 

 
H. COMMENTS FROM BOARD MEMBERS/OFFICERS 

 

Board member or officer comment on any item or issues that is under the purview 
of the California Library Services Board and is not on the agenda 

 
I. OLD BUSINESS 

Any old business the Board members wish to discuss 
 

J. AGENDA BUILDING 
Input on agenda items for subsequent Board meetings 

 

 
K. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Adjourn the meeting 



California Library Services Board Meeting 1 

October 14, 2016 2 
 3 

California State Library 4 
914 Capitol Mall, Room 500 5 

Sacramento, CA 6 

 7 
Welcome and Introductions 8 

President Bernardo called the California Library Services Board (CLSB) meeting to 9 

order on October 14, 2016 at 9:34 a.m.  10 

     Board Members Present: Anne Bernardo, Brandy Buenafe, Gary Christmas, Aleita 11 

Huguenin, Florante Ibanez, Paymaneh Maghsoudi, Gregory McGinity, Peter Mindnich, 12 

Elizabeth Murguia, Eric Schockman, Sandra Tauler, and Connie Williams.  13 

     California State Library Staff Present: State Librarian Greg Lucas, Deputy State 14 

Librarian Gerry Maginnity, Natalie Cole, Janet Coles, Lisa Dale, Wendy Hopkins, Lena 15 

Pham, Monica Rivas, and Annly Roman. 16 

Adoption of Agenda  17 

Annly Roman stated that the reference to the Chief Executive Officer’s Report 18 

needed to be removed from the agenda because State Librarian Lucas was unable to 19 

attend the meeting.  20 

It was moved, seconded (Schockman/Murguia) and carried 21 
unanimously that the California Library Services Board send 22 
condolences to the Lucas Family and pay homage to the legacy that 23 
Greg’s father left to the state of California. 24 
 25 
It was moved, seconded (Maghsoudi/Ibanez) and carried 26 
unanimously that the California Library Services Board adopts the 27 
agenda of the October 14, 2016 meeting, as amended. 28 

 29 
Approval of April 2016 Board Minutes  30 
 31 

It was moved, seconded (Huguenin/Ibanez) and carried unanimously 32 
that the California Library Services Board approves the draft minutes 33 
of the July 12, 2016 meeting. 34 

 35 
  36 



2 
 

Election of Board Officers for 2017  1 

Member Schockman reported on behalf of the Nominating Committee, himself and 2 

Member Williams, that they would like to put forward Member Bernardo and Member 3 

Maghsoudi as the nominees for President and Vice President of the Board for another 4 

year. 5 

The Nominating Committee also wanted to request that the Board move from an 6 

annual election of Board officers to a biennial election. That change would require 7 

amending the California Library Services Act regulations.  8 

There were no nominations from the floor. 9 

It was moved, seconded (Huguenin/Ibanez) and carried unanimously 10 
that the California Library Services Board elects Anne Bernardo as 11 
President of the California Library Services Board for the year 2017. 12 
 13 
It was moved, seconded (Ibanez/Christmas) and carried unanimously 14 
that the California Library Services Board elects Paymaneh 15 
Maghsoudi as Vice-President of the California Library Services 16 
Board for the year 2017. 17 
 18 

Board Meeting Date for Spring 2017  19 

 Annly Roman reported that the Board had been meeting in-person in spring, so 20 

members could meet with legislators, and holding a teleconference meeting in fall. A 21 

teleconference meeting was held in July and an in-person meeting held in October of 22 

2016 to discuss the one-time funds allocated in the 2016/17 state budget.  23 

Many members expressed a preference for two in-person meetings instead of a 24 

teleconference. Member Christmas asked if the budget would accommodate two in-25 

person meetings and was informed that travel expenses came out of the Library 26 

Development Services (LDS) Bureau’s General Fund budget so additional travel for the 27 

Board would limit LDS’ budget in other areas. 28 

An additional proposal for a half day, all Board orientation was made, which would 29 

have required an additional trip to Sacramento. Most Board members agreed to an 30 

orientation. There was considerable discussion of whether the orientation could be 31 

concurrent to one of the Board meetings, if both Board meetings should be in-person, 32 

and whether legislator visits could still occur if the orientation was scheduled concurrent 33 

to the spring meeting.  34 



3 
 

The final determination was that the Board would meet in-person in Sacramento in 1 

April and again in fall. The orientation would be held on the day before the April meeting 2 

and if Board members wanted to meet with legislators they would try to schedule their 3 

own meetings in the early part of the day before the orientation.  4 

Annly Roman said that she would send out a Doodle poll to determine the best April 5 

meeting date.  6 

 7 

REPORTS TO THE BOARD  8 

Board President’s Report 9 

President Bernardo reported that she attended the Council of County Law Librarians 10 

meeting in August and met with key legislators. At that same time she attended the 11 

125th anniversary of the County Law Libraries reception that was held in Sacramento. 12 

Senator Wolk recognized that anniversary with a proclamation.  13 

She also attended the State Bar’s meeting as the Law Libraries’ representative.  14 

Board Vice-President’s Report  15 

Vice-President Maghsoudi said that she tried to attend the CLA legislative committee 16 

as much as possible.  17 

Broadband Update Report  18 

Natalie Coles reported that by June 30, 2018 about 143 library jurisdictions would be 19 

connected or in the process of connecting to CalREN, 275 branches would be 20 

connected by June 30, 2017, and approximately $2 million would be available to help 21 

connect libraries in year three.  22 

In year two, which we are just exiting, there were two phases. The first phase was 23 

working with libraries to connect main library branches and the second phase focused 24 

on helping libraries in the central valley and working with libraries that wanted to 25 

connect branches. In year three, 17 new library jurisdictions would be connecting main 26 

libraries, and 22 jurisdictions would be adding branches. 27 

Coles reported that in November participating libraries would be invited to apply for 28 

technology improvement grants. These grants would assist libraries with costs related to 29 

connecting branches to CalREN.  30 



4 
 

Member Schockman wondered if the $1 million in one-time funds for software and 1 

hardware improvements for libraries recommended by the State Library would impact 2 

the technology improvement grant program. Gerry Maginnity clarified that the existing 3 

grants were used to connect libraries to CalREN. The State Library recommendation 4 

would go to upgrade internal components such as PCs, Wifi, etc., not connect to 5 

CalREN.  6 

Member McGinity asked if State Library staff recommended the Board allocate $1 7 

million to upgrade internal components so that libraries could better take advantage of 8 

the broadband connection. Maginnity confirmed it could help utilize the connection 9 

better but he want to clarify that libraries that were not connected to CalREN would still 10 

be eligible for and benefit from the proposed software and hardware improvement 11 

grants.  12 

McGinity stated he had thought the estimate was 400 branches connected by 2018. 13 

Natalie Coles responded that 400 was the estimated number but fewer libraries applied 14 

for branch connections than anticipated. That was why more money would be available 15 

in year three.  16 

Member McGinity asked for the total number of library jurisdictions and branches in 17 

California. Natalie Cole replied there were 184 library jurisdictions and about 1,130 18 

branches. McGinity stated that it sounded like we were getting close to full connectivity 19 

on the jurisdictions but had a long way to go on the branches.  20 

State Library Literacy Program Report 21 

Lisa Dale presented on the California Library Literacy Services (literacy program) 22 

Program which, although not under the Board’s purview, was an important program that 23 

impacted almost 20,000 learners each year. 24 

Literacy program funding fluctuated down to $0 in Fiscal year 11/12, but had now 25 

grown back to $4.8 million a year. That increase in funding allowed an addition nine 26 

library jurisdictions to participate over the last two years. Currently, 105 of the 184 27 

library jurisdictions in the state participate in the literacy program.  28 

At the April 2016 Board meeting members had asked about the program’s 29 

evaluation and Dale reported that a sample report from the Tulare County Library 30 



5 
 

System was included in the Board packet. She offered to take specific questions about 1 

the report after her presentation.  2 

Dale reported that each of the 105 literacy programs had to adhere to program 3 

essentials, but each program implemented literacy services differently to meet the 4 

individual community’s needs. Each organization also had their own local funding 5 

support so there were differences in operating budgets with some jurisdictions being  6 

unable to afford a coordinator, technology, tracking software, or family or digital literacy 7 

services.  8 

The final report libraries submitted on their programs provided state library staff with 9 

program status and an overview of program activities. It enabled the tracking of learner 10 

and tutor numbers as well as local partners and support. Library staff also reviewed 11 

program outcome measures in the form of learner goals which track the individual goals 12 

set by learners of each program.  13 

In addition to the final report, Dale stated that each year libraries completed an 14 

application for ongoing funding which asked for information such as the program’s 15 

anticipated budget expenditures, staffing, etc. The application, final report, State library 16 

staff site visits, and communications with the literacy coordinators provided the 17 

necessary oversite and ensured that all programs adhered to the program guidelines.  18 

Lisa Dale informed the Board that the literacy program was funded out of the State’s 19 

General Fund in response to a question from Member Schockman. Schockman then 20 

asked what could be accomplished within the program with an additional $200,000. 21 

Dale said that she would provide additional funding to existing programs to enhance 22 

their participation in offshoot programs such as digital literacy and family literacy 23 

services. Member Schockman stated that later in the Board meeting they would be 24 

discussing library staff’s recommendation to allocate $200,000 to innovation labs. He 25 

suggested investing in the literacy program instead.  26 

Member Williams asked about outreach to schools and the potential for working with 27 

the California School Library Associations and teacher librarians. Dale reported that the 28 

California Library Literacy Services (CLLS) Program had grown its partnerships with the 29 

Department of Education and a number of the programs were reaching out to partner 30 

with adult schools. Dale stated that they hesitated to reach out to younger grades 31 



6 
 

because the core of the program was adult literacy. There was so much money in 1 

education that it was important to protect the $4.8 million allocation for the adult literacy 2 

learners and their children. There were, however, a number of programs that partnered 3 

with schools to help children struggling with English language skills and some programs 4 

used schools as a place to outreach to parents.  5 

In response to a question by Member Christmas, Lisa Dale reported that 38 6 

jurisdictions offered family literacy services. There were still 79 jurisdictions not 7 

participating, some due to money considerations. The program was based on local 8 

matching, and some thought there weren’t enough adult learners to warrant 9 

implementing this type of work intensive, costly program.  10 

Member McGinity questioned the expense of the program, stating that based on the 11 

Tulare report the cost was about $69 per hour, per person. He felt the cost was high, 12 

even for one-on-one services, compared with other programs. Member Tauler 13 

commented that the funding was actually a combination of state and local funding with 14 

the local being much higher than the state. Lisa Dale said that for the $4.8 million 15 

received from the state, locals contributed about $17.5 million so it was an excellent 16 

return on investment. 17 

 18 
CLSA PROGRAM ITEMS FOR INFORMATION/ACTION 19 

BUDGET AND PLANNING 20 

System Amended Plans and Service  21 

Monica Rivas reported that the Board had received the amended plans of service for 22 

the remaining $1.75 million in on-going funding that was allocated to the systems at the 23 

July 2016 meeting. The plans took into consideration the direction given by the Board to 24 

address digital content, 21st century technologies, and shared resources. The proposals 25 

included things like: renew subscriptions to Enki, connection to Cenic, Digi-labs, 26 

purchase of eBooks, Link+ (a collaborative state-wide collection sharing program), 27 

Zinio, Joomla, and Overdrive. State library staff felt that the systems complied with the 28 

Board’s directions while staying with the communication and delivery guidelines.  29 

Member McGinity asked Rivas to define what Zinio, Joomla and Overdrive were. 30 

Diane Satchwell, responded that Joomla was a shared knowledge platform, sort of like 31 

an intranet, that Blackgold Cooperative was coordinating for all of the cooperative 32 



7 
 

systems. It would be a place to find sample RFPs, existing policies and procedures to 1 

compare, etc. to save time and energy for libraries at a minimal cost. Blackgold already 2 

had 7 pages of depository topics that they would be populating and making accessible 3 

to public libraries.  4 

Satchwell further clarified that Zinio was a downloadable electronic magazine 5 

database and Overdrive was eBooks. Purchasing those had allowed some libraries to 6 

get rid of print subscriptions and opened up their budgets to purchase other things.  7 

McGinity commented that he appreciated that digitization was included in many of 8 

the plans of service. Several members agreed that the systems did a great job with their 9 

amendments. 10 

It was moved, seconded (Ibanez/Tauler) and carried unanimously 11 
that the California Library Services Board approves the CLSA 12 
System Amended Plans of Service for the nine Cooperative Library 13 
Systems, submitted for the fiscal year 2016/17.  14 

CLSA Budget for FY 2016/17 15 

Gerry Maginnity reported that at the July meeting the Board allocated $1.5 million of 16 

the on-time funding but agreed to give State Library staff additional time to develop 17 

recommendations for the remaining $1.5 million. Annly Roman reported that two of the 18 

main proposals discussed that had needed more research were Bibframe, dealing with 19 

google searchability, and Yewno, a data discovery application. Upon further 20 

examination, staff felt those programs were not appropriate for the one-time funds 21 

based on the direction previously given by the Board. Annly Roman, as well as some 22 

public libraries, tested the Yewno product and it was concluded that the product could 23 

be helpful for experienced researchers but was not user friendly for those who were 24 

unfamiliar with research techniques.  25 

In considering Bibframe, the Library of Congress’ system that would have made 26 

library records google accessible, library staff had meetings with the Library of 27 

Congress and the Public Library Partnership Cooperative. It was determined that the 28 

project would have been a limited pilot program. The program would have developed 29 

tools for other jurisdictions and made the records for pilot sites accessible, but it 30 

probably would have taken additional funds to add jurisdictions. State Library staff could 31 



8 
 

not determine how beneficial the project would be to California’s libraries so they were 1 

not comfortable recommending one-time funds to move that program forward.  2 

Maginnity stated that based on further research into received proposals, discussions 3 

with state library staff, and consideration of direction provided by the Board, staff put 4 

forward three proposals: $1 million for internal hardware and software improvements for 5 

libraries; $200,000 for makerspace type innovation labs; and $300,000 for an value 6 

impact study and online clearinghouse of the economic and social value of libraries.  7 

 Member Schockman said he liked the software and hardware proposal and the 8 

value study, but he felt that the innovation labs proposal was not compatible with 9 

libraries’ mission and instead was using libraries as employment training. He suggested 10 

that there were better uses for those funds, such as increasing the literacy footprint. 11 

Member Buenafe stated that she did not see the $200,000 for maker space type 12 

areas as that different from other literacy programs; it was just a different kind of 13 

literacy. Buenafe pointed out the importance of STEM education and making sure 14 

libraries were a collaborative partner in education and she thought the labs would be 15 

valuable both to increase library patronage and to help people think about alternate 16 

careers. Member Christmas agreed with Member Buenafe siting the success of the 17 

Riverside makerspace and the community investment and partnerships it had inspired.  18 

Member Williams pointed out that many of the makerspace materials were 19 

expendables or consumables. She wanted to make sure purchases would go toward 20 

setting them up to be on-going. Makerspaces were big in schools too, she reported, and 21 

there were far too many that had empty labs because there was no money for materials, 22 

or librarians to lead those programs. Williams said that she would hope that school 23 

libraries would be included as partners in the innovation labs as well as the value study. 24 

President Bernardo stated that she believed the recommendation did include an 25 

advisory board composed of librarians, educators, and employers. She asked if Member 26 

Williams was recommending that the California Library Services Board directly oversee 27 

the advisory board. Gerry Maginnity stated that he did not think that was the intention. 28 

As a group working with CLSA funding the advisory board would report to the Board but 29 

it would be difficult set-up the advisory board and expend all funds by June 30, 2019 if 30 

every decision was governed by the Board given the infrequency of meetings.  31 



9 
 

Member McGinity asked how decisions would be made for allocating the $200,000; 1 

would libraries be submitting proposals and if so who was going to make the final 2 

decisions. Member Tauler also had questions about the exact plan for the innovation 3 

labs. She thought they were a good idea but was concerned about sustainability and the 4 

purchase of materials. Several other members, including Members Murguia and 5 

Maghsoudi sited that they also had questions and concerns on exactly what the 6 

innovation lab program would look like, how many labs would be created and how they 7 

would be sustained. Members also asked if the program was expected to influence 8 

other libraries to create lab spaces. Gerry Maginnity responded that the created spaces 9 

would be models for public/private partnership and those local partnerships would allow 10 

for sustainability due to continued investment. In response to a question by Member 11 

McGinity he said there was a large demand for these programs. 12 

Member Williams wanted to try to require whichever jurisdiction got the pilot 13 

programs to contact local school libraries, the county librarian, and the STEM and the 14 

CTE folks within that district. She felt that was the only way to have full community 15 

partnerships.  16 

Member Murguia wanted to know if the systems would have rather had the money 17 

given to them by allocation formula. Diane Satchwell said that the Southern California 18 

Library Cooperative (SCLC) was partnering with Chula Vista on their Innovation Lab. 19 

Betty Waznis, the director of Chula Vista, had an amazing relationship with her school 20 

district and Qualcomm and they all partnered on the program, with the school district 21 

providing a teacher at the library, after hours and on the weekends at no cost to the 22 

library. The partnerships allowed the program to blossom. It was like a makerspace but 23 

much bigger, allowing exposure to equipment and experiences for children in an 24 

underserved community who would not get it elsewhere.  25 

Satchwell stated there were many options for providing programs like this, it did not 26 

have to be engineering materials; it could also be artists, and sewing machines. She did 27 

think the $200,000 would need to be for test sites for libraries with partners already in 28 

place. Partners and a plan were why Chula Vista’s program and other partnership 29 

programs had been successful.  30 



10 
 

Member McGinity stated he did not think the Board should fund the $200,000 for the 1 

Innovation Labs because he felt there would be ongoing costs. He also had issues with 2 

the $300,000 for the impact study because he was worried about the perception of 3 

spending money on promotion and he did not feel that the program would make a 4 

sustainable difference. His preference was to allocate $750,000 for a digital lab 5 

proposal and $750,000 for the software and hardware improvements inside libraries.  6 

Janet Coles, Library Development Services, reported that the State Library had $1 7 

million dedicated toward digitization statewide in 2016/17 and an equal amount for 8 

2017/18. There was a consultant team in place that had met at the state library that day 9 

and the day before, positioning themselves to move forward. There were 40 public 10 

libraries already on board with the project and they had another 20-25 they anticipated 11 

joining in the next 6 months. Coles also observed that digital labs actually were 12 

expensive to sustain. There were many considerations, from staff to equipment and 13 

infrastructure. She felt that it would not be a wise use of the one-time money, 14 

particularly when they are already dedicating $1 million this year and next.  15 

Member Christmas asked state library staff to discuss the thought process that went 16 

into the three recommendations. Gerry Maginnity said it was difficult to determine the 17 

best way to leverage one-time funding. The makerspaces would be demonstrations that 18 

would promote the public library as a center of collaboration, sustained by public/private 19 

partnerships. They would be examples going forward that allowed for the sharing of 20 

resources and ideas, and exposed people to different career paths, providing a needed 21 

emphasis on technology and STEM.  22 

Maginnity stated that the state library was constantly called by libraries saying they 23 

need statistics on library impacts to help them dialog with relevant local powers. If the 24 

perception persisted that public libraries were just a reading room, local governments 25 

were not going to invest more money. State Library staff felt that an impact study and a 26 

way to disseminate that information would be a good use of the one-time funds. 27 

Member Buenafe said that as the representative for the 110,000+ incarcerated persons 28 

in California she felt that anything that continued to elevate the profile of the public 29 

library was important. Prisons were teaching that when people were paroled the public 30 

library is where they need to go to get access to internet and job programs.  31 



11 
 

Christmas commented that one of the big issues that public libraries face today was 1 

lack of awareness. Some of the cities in the Inland area of southern California, like 2 

Riverside, had issues identifying the role of public libraries for budget talks with the city 3 

council or board of supervisors for the county. He felt that the value study was a good 4 

way to help show the broad spectrum of things public libraries do and help maintain 5 

funding.  6 

Member Ibanez said he thought staff had presented good recommendations that fit 7 

with other state programs. He felt it should be up to local jurisdictions to determine the 8 

best collaboration relationships. Even though it was one-time money, he felt that these 9 

showcase programs would encouraged to people to invest.  10 

Member Murguia asked if State Library staff could talk about literacy funding versus 11 

other program funding for public libraries. Gerry Maginnity clarified that the Board did 12 

not allocate funds for literacy. State on-going funding fits three categories; California 13 

Library Services Act (CLSA) funding, the broadband project, and the adult literacy 14 

program. The Board oversaw only the funding and programs under the California 15 

Library Services Act. Literacy funding was zeroed out a few years ago, like CLSA, and 16 

the California Library Association and their lobbyists had been pretty successful in 17 

getting that program re-established. Annly Roman stated that the Governor had 18 

allocated funding specifically for the literacy program fairly consistently over the last few 19 

years.  20 

Member Murguia asked the public library participants if they felt the impact study 21 

would be useful. Vice-President Maghsoudi said the State Library had made an effort to 22 

do similar things in the past and she was unsure if it was used in the communities. 23 

Usefulness depended if your jurisdiction wanted to embrace or use those ideas for 24 

promotion. Gerry Maginnity clarified the past project she referred to was a story board 25 

called “How the Library Tells its Own Story.”  26 

Maginnity said the past project was story based for marketing, this project would be 27 

data driven to address the value of public libraries. President Bernardo said she felt it 28 

would be important to have that bank of information. So much of what was presented to 29 

legislators now had to be data driven with hard numbers for it to mean anything to them. 30 

She was, however, unsure if the recommendation of $300,000 for the project was the 31 



12 
 

right number.  Gerry Maginnity said that estimate included gathering the data, 1 

synthesizing it and making it available. Member McGinity and Vice-President 2 

Maghsoudi expressed concern over who would be doing the work, was it the state 3 

library or would they be hiring a consultant.  4 

Annly Roman clarified that the value study and clearinghouse was looked at by staff 5 

as a one-time expense that could be done at the state-level and made available to 6 

public libraries to use as was appropriate in their own jurisdictions. Roman said she 7 

knew that Greg had discussed initially working with San Jose State to assess what data 8 

had already been collected and make it available to public libraries to use in their 9 

jurisdictions for whatever they might need; whether it was patrons or the local city 10 

council.  11 

Member Christmas thought that this one-time money should be spent on something 12 

that would add some value for the long term. He felt the impact study and the 13 

makerspaces would be a good investment for increasing awareness of and generating 14 

interesting in libraries. He felt investment in infrastructure and computers for libraries 15 

which could not afford it was a good investment as well. Christmas felt that if the Board 16 

allocated the money to the literacy program they would just have created a hole the next 17 

year when the funds were not there.  18 

Member Schockman called for a vote on all three issues.  19 

It was moved, seconded (Schockman/Ibanez) and carried with a vote 20 
of 11 ayes and 1 nay (McGinity) that the California Library Services 21 
Board adopts $1 million of the 2016/17 CLSA one-time budget 22 
augmentation to fund software and hardware improvements inside 23 
libraries. 24 
 25 
It was moved, seconded (Schockman/Ibanez) and carried with a vote 26 
of 9 ayes and 3 nays (McGinity, Mindnich, Schockman) that the 27 
California Library Services Board adopts $200,000 of the 2016/17 CLSA 28 
one-time budget augmentation to create innovation labs through 29 
partnerships between libraries, employers, and educators. 30 
 31 
It was moved, seconded (Schockman/Ibanez) and carried with a vote 32 
of 8 ayes, 2 nays (McGinity, Mindnich), and 2 abstentions (Maghsoudi, 33 
Schockman) that the California Library Services Board adopts 34 
$300,000 of the 2016/17 CLSA one-time budget augmentation to create 35 
an impact study and online clearinghouse cataloguing the economic 36 
and social value of California libraries. 37 



13 
 

 1 
President Bernardo stated that when the question was called votes were taken prior 2 

to public comment. She invited participants who had additional comments to speak.  3 

Susan Hildreth, strategic advisor to NorthNet Cooperative System and Califa, said 4 

that her organizations, particularly Califa, wanted to make sure the State Library was 5 

very clear about the purpose of the $1 million allocated for software and hardware. The 6 

California Library Association had been asking for additional funds for the broadband 7 

program. They were at a critical point in the project where they were done with the low 8 

hanging fruit and are getting to the really tough cases where they will have to work with 9 

schools and health services to really get connectivity in those communities. Additionally, 10 

some libraries had a difficult time transitioning to CalREN because there was a period of 11 

time before they could get the e-rate subsidy where they had to spend the full amount 12 

on connectivity and they just couldn’t make that little nut. Hildreth said there was still a 13 

lot of need in terms of connectivity so she hoped we could really be clear about those 14 

funds being for hardware and software. 15 

Hildreth said that she liked the concept of the Innovation Labs but felt it would be 16 

good to have an idea of how many libraries would be able to participate. In terms of the 17 

study and libraries return-on-investment, she felt that San Jose State had great 18 

researchers and staff and if they partnered with the State Library they could help 19 

discover or create a really cool tool to do some of that return-on-investment analysis. 20 

Those kinds of analysis can be difficult and she suggested the state library make sure 21 

that they were asking the right questions.  22 

Hildreth also mentioned the Bibframe proposal that the Pacific Library Partnership 23 

(PLP) submitted. She thought that some of the libraries involved in PLP were going to 24 

move forward with that effort. She felt that a lot could be done with that proposal in 25 

terms of a partnership and the access benefits of a web friendly version of the MARC 26 

record. Hildreth hoped there would be an opportunity to request LSTA funds for that 27 

effort.  28 

Christina DiCaro, California Library Association (CLA) lobbyist, Stated that she and 29 

Mile Dillon wanted to be a resource for the Board with any questions on how funding is 30 

appropriated or obtained. She thought it would be helpful to give an overview of the two 31 



14 
 

ways funding came about in the budget. One is that the CLA legislative committee 1 

identified a need, such as literacy or services act funding, then she and Mike worked 2 

with the Department of Finance and the legislature. The recent increase in funding for 3 

the literacy program, the services act and CENIC was a partisan effort in the legislature. 4 

The second, more unusual, way is that the Governor thinks of an idea. In the case of 5 

the $3 million in one-time funds the Governor decided to give the funds to encourage 6 

libraries to think of more innovative ways of digital delivery.  7 

She and Mike were concerned about $1 million proposal for the internal software 8 

and hardware, and they did relay those concerns to the Department of Finance. They 9 

felt it was duplicative of their advocacy efforts for the $1 million for the CENIC project. 10 

They thought what the Board was doing on the Zip Books and Enki project was 11 

innovative and those were the kinds of projects they could take back to finance as an 12 

example of a program that made a big difference and use them to make the case for 13 

more on-going money going forward. The report on how the Board spent the money 14 

was not due until September 30th, 2017 and the money needed to be encumbered by 15 

June 30, 2017, so if they had been at a point where there was not consensus they 16 

would have a little bit more time to decide.  17 

 18 

D.   CLSA REGULATIONS 19 

Annly Roman reported that the regulatory issue was not placed before the Board as 20 

an action item since they were barely getting ready to start the regulatory process. The 21 

language would need to be refined, go through the Office of Administrative Law, and 22 

have public hearings.  23 

Most of the changes recommended where reflections of statute changes made by 24 

AB 1602, which was passed as part of the 2016/17 budget package. The bill removed 25 

some obsolete, unfunded provisions and broadened some of the language to include 26 

digital materials and resource sharing under “communication and delivery.” Additionally, 27 

the Nominating Committee had suggested that elections of Board officers be held every 28 

two years instead of every year so that change had been included for discussion.  29 

Annly Roman reported that there was a letter included in the Board packet from the 30 

Systems that suggested changes, some of which the state library staff had included in 31 



15 
 

the draft before the Board. Roman reported that there was also a letter from the 1 

California Library Association supporting the systems’ recommended changes. 2 

Roman said that goal was to put forward the regulatory sections that staff felt 3 

needed to be amended to make sure that, at the beginning of the process, everyone 4 

had a chance to give input on what changes needed to be made and which sections 5 

should be addressed. The regulatory process was lengthy and any changes made once 6 

the process started would lengthen the process further.   7 

Member McGinity commented that he noticed the contiguous borders issue he had 8 

raised a few years ago was addressed in the draft language and he appreciated staff 9 

remembering his thoughts. He noted that in Article 5, section 20180, which talked about 10 

public library consolidation, contiguous borders was still mentioned and he wanted it 11 

removed. Gerry Maginnity stated that section only related to public library consolidation, 12 

not systems. Member McGinity said he did not think there should be a requirement that 13 

public library jurisdictions had to be contiguous to consolidate. If libraries were using 14 

digital delivery, he felt requiring them to be geographically contiguous would not make 15 

sense. He understood that last time the regulations were amended arguments were 16 

made that, potentially, rurally isolated libraries or less economically viable libraries 17 

would be excluded. However, he still thought that in a 21st century world the idea of 18 

geographic contiguousness being important did not make sense. Member Christmas 19 

stated that he agreed with that position. 20 

Member McGinity suggested that the Board have biennial elections for board officers 21 

in an odd year because the Governor is elected in an even year and he felt Board 22 

leadership should be selected after any changes made by a new Governor. Members 23 

Schockman and Williams stated that they supported that recommendation. McGinity 24 

also asked about Article 8, which showed as being deleted. Annly Roman replied that 25 

section was being deleted because all reference to the interlibrary loan program, 26 

discussed in that section, was removed from statute.  27 

Member McGinity expressed confusion on the System and CLA regulation letters 28 

and asked for clarification if all their requested changes were included in the 29 

regulations. Annly Roman stated that staff attempted to address some of them. The 30 

regulatory section the systems and CLA specifically addressed in their letters was the 31 



16 
 

communication and delivery definition section, which had been expanded in state 1 

statute to include resource sharing. Some of the things the Systems recommended in 2 

the communication and delivery regulatory section, specifically in the definition of 3 

“other”, included system wide service assessment. Funding for assessment was 4 

mentioned in statute, but was not currently included in the regulatory amendments 5 

because staff did not know if it made sense to lump it under the communications and 6 

delivery definitions 7 

Additionally, under the same “other” definition, they requested to include “any 8 

service, communication, or resource provided…” that fit within the act. Staff did not 9 

include the “any service” language because it was overly broad and could include 10 

services that were not communication, delivery, or resource sharing. There were also 11 

some sections of the regulations that staff was still working on. 12 

Member McGinity requested that staff make sure they could have a robust 13 

conversation around the requests from the systems and the language put forward by 14 

staff so the Board could make the best decision possible. Member Murguia requested a 15 

spreadsheet or other comparison of changes the systems had asked for that was not 16 

included so the Board could see the differences.  17 

Member McGinity stressed the importance of being able to amend the regulations as 18 

it was a lengthy process that was very time consuming for staff so could not be done 19 

regularly. Member Ibanez asked what the timetable was. Annly Roman responded that 20 

there was a calendar from the Office of Administrative Law regarding regulation 21 

submission and posting dates. Regulations had to be posted for a certain number of 22 

days and have public hearings which could extend the timeline if additional changes are 23 

found to be necessary. Additionally, the Office of Administrative Law would need to 24 

accept the changes as well. She said that she felt like it was ambitious to say it would 25 

be done by the end of 2018 but staff would keep the Board updated throughout the 26 

process.  27 

President Bernardo stated she agreed with the biennial and odd year proposals that 28 

the other Board members had suggested. She added that she thought they needed 29 

address some Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act conflicts in sections 20122, 20123, and 30 



17 
 

20134. Annly Roman said staff had already been complying with open meeting laws 1 

and was aware that conforming changes needed to be made to the regulations.  2 

President Bernardo also asked that, when they came up with language, they tried to 3 

avoid library-ese as some of those specific terms, such as “discovery layer,” may not be 4 

relevant in the future. She then invited the Systems to comment.  5 

Diane Satchwell addressed the contiguous borders issue, say she understood and 6 

respected that this was a digital age, but as the representative of five systems, the 7 

joining of several large library jurisdictions could have huge repercussions. If San Diego 8 

and Los Angeles County were to create a cooperative, for example, Calexico would 9 

suffer because the funding formula was based on population. Taking larger players out 10 

of the equation would have a phenomenal impact on small libraries, making the poor 11 

libraries poorer and only allowing the larger library systems to blossom. Los Angeles 12 

County and LA Public were phenomenal players in SCLC, and provided resources to 13 

the smaller libraries. As the regulatory language becomes less restrictive they would be 14 

able to have more resource sharing. LA County and LA Public were already providing 15 

resources to their patrons which freed up the system to provide more funding to those 16 

smaller entities within the library cooperative. This took pressure off the county of LA 17 

and LA public because those funds allowed the smaller libraries to get their own e-18 

resources or whatever else the system decided to do. Satchwell said she would highly 19 

recommend maintaining the contiguous borders requirement. 20 

Carol Frost, representing PLP and NLS, said that when the cooperatives wrote the 21 

memo of their suggestions together they tried to think 20 or 30 years down the line 22 

because technology was changing so quickly. In their narrative they were trying to 23 

embrace the traditional idea of a database and what delivery was going to look like in 24 

the future. Frost felt it would bear further discussion on how they could have language 25 

that was enduring but inclusive, so that was something they wanted to continue to talk 26 

to the state library about before the next Board meeting.  27 

 28 

E.   BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 2016/2017  29 

Annly Roman reported that the Board had previously discussed the possibility of 30 

being more entrepreneurial. It was one of the concepts that were considered in the use 31 



18 
 

of the one-time funds to bring together public libraries, schools, businesses, and the 1 

community. Staff left it on the agenda in case the Board wanted to continue discussion.  2 

Member Williams asked if the Career Online High School program was a public 3 

private partnership. Janet Coles responded that Career Online High School was state 4 

funded as a $1 million appropriation to the State Library in the 2015/16 budget. State 5 

Library staff was working with Gayle Cengage and there were 43 library jurisdictions 6 

participating. The $1 million purchased close to 900 scholarships and all but 100 had 7 

been given out. All recipient libraries were required to match the scholarships they 8 

received which doubled the amount of money going into the program. It was a public 9 

private partnership and had been going really well.  10 

Annly Roman commented that she believed Member Schockman knew of another 11 

example partnership between the Los Angeles Public Library and the Los Angeles 12 

School District to give library cards to students. Member Schockman said that the Los 13 

Angeles public libraries were teaming up with campus libraries to give students library 14 

cards. Many students did not know that the public library databases were not available 15 

to them without a library card. Los Angles was also going into elementary schools to 16 

offer library cards. He felt this should be done in other large jurisdictions  17 

Susan Hildreth commented that LSTA funded a project that the Pacific Library 18 

Partnership and NorthNet were cooperating on called Student Success where they were 19 

modeling that activity through at least 11 pilot libraries in the bay area. There were 20 

many other libraries in California that were already making access to the public library 21 

resources easy for students  22 

Vice-President Maghsoudi said that their library, for the last 5 years, had a campaign 23 

that every first grader got a library card. Member Schockman asked how to model that 24 

program and get it out to other jurisdictions that need assistance. Natalie Cole 25 

commented that was one of the things the Student Success project would be working 26 

on. As the project monitor she was working with Carol and her team to create a number 27 

of models to reach people in different communities because the school library function 28 

looked different in different communities. The beauty of their project was that they were 29 

looking at different libraries in different communities in different schools and producing a 30 

number of models that other communities could look at to see what would work for 31 



19 
 

them. So the aim of the project was not just the pilot communities but to also develop a 1 

portfolio that could be disseminated statewide.  2 

Member Williams said that school librarians and the California School Librarian 3 

Associations would certainly be a stand-up partner. She was sure that was something 4 

school librarians would be interested in. Member Christmas stated that charter schools 5 

should also be included.  6 

Helen McAlary, Ontario City Library, reported that Ontario was in the second year of 7 

a program where they went to every kindergarten classroom in the city, about 82, and 8 

put a library card into the hands of every kindergartener. They delivered those through 9 

partnerships with a number of city departments in Ontario such as Code Enforcement 10 

Officers, people from the fire department, or from their budget office. Those individuals 11 

went out to all those kindergarten classrooms and made a connection with the kids, 12 

giving them library cards, inviting them back to the library and talking to them about 13 

literacy. That was done over about a month, and then the program culminated into a 14 

Kinder Fair. They had a large resource fair and invite all the different providers of 15 

services for children 0-5 to participate. They got about 25 different organizations to 16 

participate and they made it fun for the kids with learning stations. It had been a really 17 

successful program for them.  18 

 19 

F.   LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 20 

   Annly Roman reported that 2016 was the end of a two-year session. There was a 21 

lot of action with the California Library Services Act with the new $1.75 in on-going 22 

funding and $3 million in one-time funds. At the end of the legislative session, which 23 

occurred since the last meeting, there was not much legislation still active that was 24 

related to libraries.  A new legislative session would be starting on December 1, 2016. 25 

She knew that Greg had been in meetings with the Department of Finance already 26 

talking about the 2017 budget, but they did not have anything concrete to report.  27 

Vice-President Maghsoudi reported that the CLA legislative committee was working 28 

on a possible bond measure. Member Christmas asked what election cycle they were 29 

looking at and Maghsoudi said that was still being discussed.  30 



20 
 

Member McGinity asked Annly Roman if they had heard where the tax receipts were 1 

for the state. Annly Roman said she thought the most recent report showed receipts as 2 

slightly up but they had been down for a few reports prior to that one. She was not sure 3 

exactly where it averaged out but it would definitely not be like past years where 4 

receipts were way above the estimates.  5 

Susan Hildreth said that she wanted to make sure the Board was aware that the 6 

Library Services and Technology Act was up for re-authorization in Washington. It did 7 

have sponsors and a lot of support, so they were hopefully it would get through and be 8 

signed by the current administration. Annly Roman brought up that the California Library 9 

Association was sending out requests to contact legislators.  10 

 11 

G.   PUBLIC COMMENT 12 

There were no public comments brought forward.  13 

 14 

H.   COMMENTS FROM BOARD MEMBERS/OFFICERS 15 

Board members commented on the professionalism and civility of the group during 16 

discussions and thanks Board members and staff for their work before and during the 17 

meeting.  18 

 19 

I.   OLD BUSINESS 20 

There was no old business brought forward. 21 

 22 

J.   AGENDA BUILDING 23 

Member McGinity asked if there was information or analysis on what would be 24 

needed, in terms of timeline, for digitization of important resources in public libraries. He 25 

did not want staff to spend huge amounts of resources, but if that information could be 26 

easily available in the future he would be interested. 27 

Janet Coles responded that was part of the digitization program for this year. As part 28 

of the first phase, which ran from March to the end of September, public libraries were 29 

invited to apply and a team of consultants would survey and interview library staff, local 30 

partners such as historical societies, and other entities with important local history to 31 

determine the digitization needs. There was a preliminary report that would be coming 32 



21 
 

out in October but the finding was that many public libraries did not have the staff 1 

expertise, infrastructure, or knowledge to support a local digitization program. The 2 

project was looking at consolidating services such as digitization, preservation, access 3 

and discovery, and centralizing expertise, creating a few centers to serve many.  4 

Member McGinity asked if local libraries had the ability to figure out what needed to 5 

be done. Coles said there were libraries at all different levels. Some libraries had robust 6 

programs but many of them, particularly the smaller and rural libraries don’t even know 7 

what they need to know.  8 

Member McGinity asked if it would be possible to circulate the preliminary report. 9 

Janet Coles said they would circulate it.  10 

Member Christmas asked for an update on the one-time funds at the next meeting. 11 

Annly Roman confirmed there would be one.  12 

 13 

K.  ADJOURNMENT 14 

President Bernardo called for adjournment on the California Library Services Board 15 

meeting at 12:37pm in memory of Greg’s father, the Chief Justice Malcom Lucas in 16 

honor of his service to the state. 17 



 
 
 
 

 

 
California Library Services Board Resolution 2017-01 

 

In Honor of Gerald Maginnity 
 

WHEREAS, Gerald “Gerry” Maginnity has provided the people of California with exemplary service and 
leadership in the many roles he has held during his tenure at the State Library; and 
 

WHEREAS, Gerry Maginnity began his career at the California State Library in 2005 in the Library 
Development Services Bureau where he served as Assistant Bureau Chief and Bureau Chief, he also served 
as Acting State Librarian in 2012 until his appointment as Deputy State Librarian on May 22, 2014; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to his tenure at the California State Library Gerry was deeply involved in the California 
library community, including working as the supervising librarian at the Lassen County Free Library, 
regional librarian for the Solano County library, associate county librarian for Fresno County Free Library 
and working as coordinator for both the Serra Cooperative Library System and the Mountain Valley Library 
System; and 
 

WHEREAS, Gerry’s in-depth knowledge of librarianship allowed the state library to better serve its patrons, 
enhanced staff capability and camaraderie and improved service to the more than 22 million “customers” at 
California’s 1,100 public libraries; and  
 

WHEREAS, Gerry provided high-level vision to the California State Library and its partners during the 
turbulent fiscal time of 2008-2010,  consistently promoting positive relationships between federal, state and 
public library staff; and 
 

WHEREAS, Gerry educated and mentored staff, inspiring them to engage in work that would serve as a 
lasting model of professional excellence in the library community; and 
 

WHEREAS, Gerry extended library community cooperation and collaboration beyond the borders of 
California through his passionate support of and participation in the Seguimos Creando Enlaces Conference 
which brings together librarians from the United States and Mexico to share knowledge and ideas; and 
 

WHEREAS, Gerry’s knowledge of and experience with library programs, the California Library Services 
Act, the state Cooperative Systems and the library community as a whole made his advice and input a 
valuable asset to the Library of California Board and the California Library Services Board that will be 
sorely missed; and  
 
WHEREAS, the California Library Services Board desires to recognize Gerry for his contributions to the 
California State Library and his leadership role in and advocacy for California libraries; and 
 

BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board expresses its sincere gratitude to Gerald Maginnity for his guidance, 
assistance, and never ceasing support California State Library, the people of California and the library 
community as a whole; and  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the members of the California Library Services Board commend Gerry 
for his achievements and extend to him sincere best wishes in his retirement. 

 

Gerald Maginnity 
 

shall be honored by the California Library Services Board 
for his distinguished leadership and contributions 

to the libraries and people of the State of California 
on this day of April 25, 2017 

 
 



       Document 3 
 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  2017 Meeting Schedule and Locations 
 
 
 

2017 Proposed Board Meeting Schedule 

 
Date 

 
Late August -Early 

September? 
 

 
 
 
 
 

April? 
 

 
Location 

 
Sacramento? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sacramento? 
 
 

  
Activities 

 
Regular Business 
Annual Budget Meeting 
Election of Board Officers for 
year 2018 
LSTA State Advisory Council 
on Libraries Meeting 
 
 
Budget and Planning 
Election of the Nominating 
Committee 
 

 
 
BACKGOUND: 
 
California Library Services Act (CLSA) regulations specify that the Board shall conduct bi-
monthly meetings; however, Section 20118 (c) states: 

 
“(c) Nothing in this regulation shall be construed to prevent the state board from 
altering its regular meeting dates or places of meetings.” 

 
Staff will provide members with a Doodle poll to determine the dates for 2017 meetings.  
The question for Board members is when to schedule a face-to-face meeting in Sacramento. 
A calendar of upcoming and future library-related events and dates is included to this agenda 
item as Exhibit A. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INFORMATION 



 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 
 

CALENDAR OF UPCOMING LIBRARY-RELATED EVENTS AND DATES 
The following is a list of upcoming library-related events and dates worth noting: 

 

2017 
ARL (Association of Research Libraries) Association Meeting   May 2-4, 2017 Philadelphia, PA 

ACRL (Association of College & Research Libraries) 2017 Conference May 22-25, 2017 Baltimore, MD 

SLA (Special Libraries Association) Annual Conference & Info Expo June 18-20, 2017 Phoenix, AZ 

ACRL (Association of College & Research Libraries) at ALA June 22-27, 2017 Chicago, IL 

ALA (American Library Association) Annual Conference June 22-27, 2017 Chicago, IL 

AALL (American Association of Law Libraries) Annual Meeting and 
Conference 

July 15-18, 2017 Austin, TX 

IFLA (International Federation of Library Associations & Institutions) 
General Conference & Assembly 

August 19-25, 2017 Wroclaw, Poland 

State Bar of California Annual Meeting August 24-27, 2017 Anaheim, CA 

ARL (Association of Research Libraries) Association Meeting, Fall 2017 October 3-4, 2016 Washington, DC 

Educause Annual Conference 
October 31-November 
3, 2017 

Philadelphia, PA 

CLA (California Library Association) Annual Conference November 2-4, 2017 Riverside, CA 

AASL (American Association of School Libraries) National Conference  November 9-11, 2017 Phoenix, AZ 

PLA (Public Library Association) Leadership Academy December 4-8, 2017 Chicago, IL 

2018 
ALA (American Library Association) Midwinter Conference February 9-13, 2018 Denver, CO 

PLA (Public Library Association) Conference March 20-24, 2018 Philadelphia, PA 

ARL (Association of Research Libraries) Association Meeting   April 24-26, 2018 Atlanta, GA 

SLA (Special Libraries Association) Annual Conference & Info Expo June 11-13, 2018 Baltimore, MD 

ALA (American Library Association) Annual Conference June 21-26, 2018 New Orleans, LA 

AALL (American Association of Law Libraries) Annual Meeting and 
Conference 

July 14-17, 2018 Baltimore, MD 

IFLA (International Federation of Library Associations & Institutions) 
General Conference & Assembly 

August 24-30, 2018 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 

Educause Annual Conference 
October 30-November 
2, 2018 

Denver, CO 



Document 4 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM:   Nominating Committee for 2018 Board Officers 
 
 
ISSUES TO COME BEFORE THE BOARD AT THIS MEETING:  Consider 

candidates to the Nominating Committee for 2018 Board Officers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
California Library Services Act regulations, Section 20116 (a), state that, “The state board 
shall annually elect a president and vice-president at the first regular meeting of each 
calendar year.”  It has been Board policy to elect Board officers at the last meeting of the 
calendar year so the new officers may begin their term in the new calendar year.   
 
The Board will appoint two of its members to serve on the Nominating Committee and to 
report to the Board at its fall meeting the slate of Board Officer for 2018. In the absence of 
regulations prescribing the form and method for electing officers, according to Code of 
California Regulations Section 20127, the CLSB is guided by procedures set forth in 
Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, Chapter XIV, Nominations and Elections. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION 

RECOMMENDED MOTION FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE BOARD: I move that 
the California Library Services Board appoint ______________ and _______________ 
to the Nominating Committee to select Board Officers for 2018. 









Exhibit A

System
Baseline 
Budget

System 
Administration Total

Black Gold 120,549$       30,137$             150,686$                
49-99 120,587$       30,147$             150,734$                
Inland 306,963$       76,742$             383,705$                
NorthNet 655,785$       163,946$           819,731$                
PLP 556,748$       139,187$           695,935$                
SJVLS 192,761$       48,191$             240,952$                
Santiago 168,830$       42,208$             211,038$                
Serra 216,946$       54,236$             271,182$                
SCLC 564,831$       141,206$           706,037$                
   TOTAL 2,904,000$    726,000$           3,630,000$             

Totals are based on May 2016 population figures from the Department of Finance, final budget allocation 

California Library Service Board at a later meeting.

           CLSA Preliminary System Budget Allocations - FY 2017/18
Communications and Delivery Program

numbers will be based on population figures to be approved by the California Library 



 

































Document 9 
 
 

DISCUSSION ITEM:  CLSA REGULATORY AMENDMENTS 
 
ISSUE TO COME BEFORE THE BOARD AT THIS MEETING:   
Consider Regulatory changes to CLSA 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The package of budget-related bills for the 2016-2017 fiscal year contained AB 1602 which, among 
other things, made statutory changes to the California Library Services Act, Education Code 18700-
18767. These changes removed language addressing obsolete, unfunded programs, added 
modernizing language, and expanded the programs allowed under “Communications and Delivery” 
to include resource sharing.  
 
Due to the extent of these changes, the regulations associated with the Act (Title 5, Division 2, 
Chapter 1, Subchapter 2, Articles 1-8, Sec. 20101-20265) need to be updated.  
 
Library staff received feedback from the Cooperative Library Systems that the regulations did not 
account for newer technologies and digital resources and also defined how “communication and 
delivery” funding could be spent too narrowly.  
 
Before the October 2016 California Library Services Board meeting, State Library staff drafted 
amendments to the regulatory language based on several factors:  
 

 The current Library Services Act signed into law as AB 1602. (Included as Exhibit F)  
 Past and current requests for modifications from board members. Members Schockman and 

Williams previously requested that the regulations be changed to allow for biennial elections 
of board officers. Member McGinity repeated his request at the October meeting to remove 
references to “contiguous boarders” from the regulations – to which no board members 
objected. 

 Input from the cooperative library systems (Included as Exhibit D - Exhibit E)   
 
The State Library’s draft language was intended to begin a discussion of what changes should be 
made to the regulations and ensure an opportunity for board members, system coordinators, public 
library staff and the general public to state their opinions and suggest additional changes.  
 
Based on the discussion at the board’s October 2016 meeting, State Library staff drafted new 
amendments to the library services act regulations which are displayed in spreadsheet form in 
Exhibit B and presented in other formats in Exhibit A and Exhibit C.   
 
A brief description of the reasons for the proposed changes follows at the conclusion of this 
narrative.  
 
At the October 2016 board meeting, several members sought clarification over the differences 
between the Library Cooperative Systems’ recommended regulatory changes and the draft 
regulations under consideration by the board. The spreadsheet in Exhibit D was created to help 
clarify what language is and is not being proposed. 
 



 2

 

Several systems and public library jurisdictions have submitted letters expressing their opinion on 
the proposed regulations before the board at this meeting. They can be found in Exhibit G - Exhibit 
N. 
 
Of the proposed regulatory changes, the one generating the greatest feedback from systems and 
public libraries is removing the requirement that systems be composed of contiguous library 
jurisdictions.  
 
This issue has been debated several times by the board. The argument for removing the word 
“contiguous” centers around it restricting options for libraries in an age where digital transfer of 
information is common.  
 
Objections can be summarized as the potential that the loss of the contiguous requirement would 
allow large library jurisdictions, who benefit from the act’s funding formula for systems which is 
based in part on population served, to band together and create “mega-systems” that would receive a 
large chunk of funding under the act to the disadvantage of smaller, less financially secure 
jurisdictions. 
 
The letters to the board regarding proposed regulatory changes focus chiefly on the possibility of 
such “mega-systems” being formed. 
 
There are three options for the board to consider, including the State Library’s recommendation 
below. In weighing a course of action, the board may wish to consider that it holds final approval 
authority over the systems, including the creation of new ones.  
 
Under the law, the board can only approve a consolidation if it “provides a more effective way of 
carrying out the purposes of the act than would be the case if the consolidation did not occur.” 
 
The options are: 
 

 Approve all language as is and direct State Library staff to submit the proposed regulatory 
changes to the Office of Administrative Law. 

 
 Direct staff to study the impact of allowing non-contiguous systems, approve other changes in 

the regulations and begin the regulatory approval process.  
 

 Postpone amending the regulations until completion of a study on the potential impact of 
eliminating the requirement systems be composed of contiguous library jurisdictions. 

 
Recommendation:  
State Library staff recommends the Board approve all changes to the regulations except for 
the removal of the “contiguous” language in Article 5 and direct staff to begin the regulatory 
amendment process.  
 
(Staff feels that the contiguous issue needs further discussion. In preparation for discussion of the 
“contiguous” language, it might be helpful to the Board to review the system’s attached letters 
(Exhibit G-N) as well as the attached survey (Exhibit O) which, although conducted five years ago, 



 3

 

gives varying perspectives on the removal of the “contiguous” language.)  
 
Following is the short summary of the reasons for all regulatory changes being proposed:  
  
Article 1. General Provisions 
Sec. 20101. General Provisions – amend  
Revise to make minor conforming changes. 
 
Sec. 20105. General Requirements for Participation – amend 
Revise to make minor conforming changes. 
 
Sec. 20107. Definitions – amend 
Revise to remove obsolete definitions that are no longer applicable; add new definitions to 
reflect new statute requirements and updated references 
 
Article 2.  California Library Services Board Procedures 
Sec. 20116. Officers of the Board – amend   
Revise to allow for the election of Board President and Vice-President every two years. 
 
Sec. 20118.  Regular meetings – amend 
Revise to reflect current approach to Board meetings currently taking place at least once a 
year; and to address the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act requirements which are mandated 
by statute when noticing meetings. 
 
Sec. 20119. Notices – repeal 
Section is no longer needed as notice requirements can be addressed in the Bagley-Keene 
references included in section 20118. 
 
Sec. 20122. Special Meetings – amend 
Revise to reference Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act requirements which are mandated by 
statute. 
 
Sec. 20123. Emergency Meetings and Agenda Items – amend  
Revise to reflect changes made to preceding regulatory sections.  
 
Sec. 20124.  Agenda – amend 
Revise language to allow for email submittal and update mailing address; make changes to 
address current open meeting notice requirements. 
 
Sec. 20125.  Speakers – amend  
Revise section to broaden who is allowed to speak at meetings and items that can be addressed. 
 
Sec. 20130. Public Hearings – amend 
Revise language to remove reference the Board Secretary; update address information 
 
Sec. 20134. Public Records – amend 
Revise language to remove reference the Board Secretary; update address information 



 4

 

 
Article 3. General Provisions for Systems 
Sec. 20135.  System budget request and plan of service – amend  
Revise language to remove obsolete provisions relating to information requirements for 
cooperative system budget requests and plans of service. 
 
Article 5.  Consolidations and Affiliations 
Sec. 20180.  Public Library Consolidation – amend  
Remove language referring to consolidation grants because state grants are no longer available 
for public library consolidations; remove language requiring public library jurisdictions to 
have contiguous borders 
 
Sec. 20185.  System consolidations – amend  
Remove language referring to consolidation grants because state grants are no longer available 
for system consolidations; remove language requiring system members to have contiguous 
borders. 
 
Sec. 20190.  Public library affiliation with an existing System – amend  
Remove language referring to affiliation grants because state grants are no longer available for 
library affiliations with existing systems; remove language requiring system members to have 
contiguous borders. 
 
Article 6. Direct Loans 
Sec. 20215. Reimbursement for Net Direct Loans – repeal 
Sec. 20216. Reporting Requirements – repeal  
Sec. 20217. Reimbursable costs – repeal  
These sections are no longer needed as funds have not been available for these reimbursements 
for several years and all reference to this kind of reimbursement were removed from statute in 
2016. 
  
Article 7. Communication and Delivery 
Sec. 20235. Definitions – amend  
Revise language to include new references in statute to resource sharing and digital content. 
 
Sec. 20236. Inclusion – add 
Add language clarifying that communication, delivery and resource sharing refers to digital 
and electronic materials and supporting equipment, installation or fees. 
 
Article 8. Interlibrary Loans 
Sec. 20251. Scope – repeal 
Sec. 20252. Intent – repeal 
Sec. 20255. Eligibility – repeal  
Sec. 20257. Reimbursable transaction – repeal  
Sec. 20260. Reimbursable costs – repeal  
Sec. 20265. Participation requirements – repeal  
These sections are no longer needed as funds have not been available for these reimbursements 
for several years and all references to this program were removed from statute in 2016. 



1 

CALIFORNIA LIBRARY SERVICES ACT REGULATIONS 
(Code of California Regulations, Title 5, Division 2, Chapter 1, Subchapter 2, 

Articles 1-8, Sec. 20101-20265) 

SUBCHAPTER 2. CALIFORNIA LIBRARY SERVICES 

ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec. 20101. General Provisions.  

(b) Any public library participating in programs of the Act shall, under section 18724(g)
(e) of the Act, provide access to the library's bibliographic and location data upon
request from the State Board for inclusion in the appropriate database established
by the State Board in implementation of the Act. The access shall be provided in
such form, manner, and frequency as are agreed upon between the State Board and
the affected library.

Change section 18724(g) to 18724(e) per-changes to statute.  

Sec. 20105. General Requirements for Participation.  

(b) Public Library Certification. Upon the authorization by the jurisdictional governing
body, the head librarian of each public library wishing to participate in the programs
of the Act must file a certification of compliance with provisions of the Act. This
certification shall remain in effect until the library jurisdiction no longer complies with
the stated provisions. The certification shall specifically include compliance with
Education Code Sections 18703(c) and 18724(e)(d). If the library or jurisdiction is no
longer in compliance, the head librarian shall notify the Board no later than thirty
days following such a change in compliance status.

Change section 18724(e) to 18724(d) per changes to statute. 

§ 20107. Definitions.
(b) Additions to the regulations hereby incorporated are as follows:

(1) “Board Assistant” meant the Administrative Assistance II position designated to
the Board 

Added the Board Assistant definition to replace the “Secretary” definition. The Board no 
longer has a Secretary but it does have an Administrative Assistant II that is appointed 
by the Board. 

(1) (2) “Chief Executive Officer” means the State Librarian.
(2) (3) “President” means the elected President of the Board.
(3) (4) “Public library affiliation” means the formal and legal joining to a System (i.e.

the obtaining of full System membership status) by a public library not previously

Exhibit A 



2 
 

a member of any System. A Public Library Affiliation is not considered complete 
until all necessary local System and jurisdictional agreements have been 
approved and are in force, and the State Board has approved the affiliation. 

(4) (5) “Public library consolidation” means the formal and legal joining of the 
functions, services, operations, etc. of two or more formerly independent public 
libraries into a single public library, as defined in Education Code Section 18710 
(f). A Public Library Consolidation is not considered complete until all necessary 
local jurisdictional agreements have been approved and are in force, and the 
State Board has approved the consolidation (see Administrative Code Section 
20180, below). 

 
Numbers changed to reflect new definition. 

 
(5) “Reference collection” Reference collection means a collection of materials, both 

print and non-print, designed primarily for use in answering requests for 
information. 
 

Definition removed because the term it is no longer mentioned in the regulations. 
 

(6) Reference specialist. Reference specialist means a trained and experienced 
librarian who can provide reference referral services and who can also 
understand how to approach the community in general and the undeserved in 
particular, together with appropriate skills in analysis of information needs and 
design and implementation of reference programs responsive to those needs. A 
reference specialist may be employed in providing any of the services for which 
he/she is qualified. 

 
Definition removed because the term it is no longer mentioned in the regulations. 

 
(7) “Secretary” means the Executive Secretary of the Board. 

 
Definition removed because the Board no longer has a Secretary. 
 

(6)”Resource Sharing” refers to one or more participating libraries allowing the use 
or application of a library created, purchased, or leased resource by three or 
more participating libraries 

 
Resource sharing added to Sec. 18745 of the Education Code. There needed to be a 
base definition of what constituted sharing. 
 

(8) (7) “State Board” means the California Library Services Board. 
(9) (8) “System consolidation” means the formal and legal joining of geographic 

service areas, functions, operations, etc. of two or more formerly separate 
Systems into a single Cooperative Library System, as defined in Education Code 
Section 18710 (c). A System Consolidation is not considered complete until all 
necessary local System consolidation agreements have been approved and are 



3 
 

in force, and until the State Board has approved the consolidation (see 
Administrative Code Section 20185, below). 

(10) (9) “Valid non-resident borrowers card” means a card that is issued free of 
charge by a public library to a resident of another jurisdiction which maintains a 
public library, as long as such card meets all of the legal requirements of the  

(11) (10) “Vice-President” means the elected Vice-President of the Board. 
 

Numbers changed to reflect new definitions and removal of obsolete definitions. 
 

Article 2: California Library Services Board Procedures 

Sec. 20116. Officers of the State Board.  
(a) The State Board shall annually biennially elect a President and Vice-President at the 
first last regular meeting of each every odd calendar year. 

Procedures not explicitly designate by statue. Since Board members’ term is 4 years the 
members feel that a two year term for elected officers will promote continuity and 
conserve the board’s time given the infrequency of meetings. Currently the Board deals 
with some aspect of Board nominations at every meeting and biennial elections would 
allow them to address elections every two meetings. 

§ 20118. Regular Meetings.  
(a) Date. Regular meetings of the State Board shall take place at least  bi-monthly on 
the third Thursday of the months of February, April, June, August, October; the 
December meeting shall be held in conjunction with the California Library Association 
conference once each year. 

Amendment reflects the status of Board meetings. With the cuts to the budget the Board 
has not needed to meet more that 1-3 times since 2003. 
 
(b) Place. The tentative time of year locations for the regular meetings of in the following 
forthcoming calendar year shall be determined annually, at the last regular meeting of 
the calendar year. 

Wording clean-up 
 
(c) Change of date or place. Nothing in this regulation shall be construed to prevent the 
State Board from altering its regular meeting dates or places of meeting location. 

Wording clean-up 
 
(d) Meeting notice. A notice of regular meetings shall be provided at least seven days 
prior to the meeting date to any person annually requesting such notice under section 
20119 below. Such notice shall include the time, date, and place of the regular meeting 
and a copy of the agenda therefor Notices of regular meetings shall comply with all 
requirements laid out in Government Code sections 11120-11131. 



4 
 

Remove current language and amend regulations to reference the Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act (Gov. Code 11120-11131. The CLSB, as a state Board, is required to 
comply with all meeting and meeting notice requirements in the Act.  

(e) Any person or organization desiring to receive notice(s) of State Board meetings 
may email the current Board Assistant or direct the request to: California Library 
Services Board, State Librarian’s Office, California State Library, P.O. Box 942837, 
Sacramento, CA 94237-0001. 

Section amended to include the ability to email the request and to update the mailing 
address  

Sec. 20119. Notices. 
(a) Eligibility. Notice of any regular or special public meeting of the State Board shall be 
given to any person annually requesting under section 20119(b). 

(b) Procedure. Individuals and organizations wishing to receive notice of regular and 
special meetings of the State Board and copies of the agenda may annually request the 
Secretary to include their names on the mailing list. Inclusion on the mailing list will 
result in notification to the addressee of all regular and special meetings of the State 
Board. The Secretary shall annually notify interested agencies and organizations that, 
upon request, they are entitle to be placed on the mailing list.  
 
Entire Section removed because section 20118d no references the meeting notice 
requirements contained in the Government Code. This section is no longer necessary. 
 
§ 20122. Special Meetings. 
Special meetings may be called by the President of the State Board or a majority of the 
members thereof for any stated purpose. Notice of such meetings shall be provided at 
least 24 hours in advance to those persons so requesting under section 20119(b). 
Special meetings shall comply with all special meeting provisions provided in 
Government Code sections 11120-11131. 

Remove current language and amend regulations to reference the Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act (Gov. Code 11120-11131. The CLSB, as a state Board, is required to 
comply with all meeting and meeting notice requirements in the Act.  

§ 20123. Emergency Meetings and Agenda Items. 
(a) Power. An emergency meeting may be called by the President of the State Board or 
a majority of the members thereof without providing the notice required by section 
20119 20118(d) if there is an unforeseen emergency condition in existence. 
 
Revised to reflect changes made to sec. 20118(d) and 20019. 



5 
 

(c) Agenda Items. An item may be included on the agenda of any regular meeting if an 
unforeseen emergency condition exists without the notice required by section 20119 
20118(d). 

Revised to reflect changes made to sec. 20118(d) and 20019. 
 
(e) Notice. If reasonably possible, notice of the emergency item or meeting shall be 
provided to those so requesting under section 20119(b) 20118(e). Lack of such notice 
shall not invalidate any action taken on said item or at said meeting. 
 
Revised to reflect changes made to sec. 20118(d) and 20019. 
 
§ 20124. Agenda.  
(a) All matters to be submitted for consideration of the State Board shall be sent to the 
Secretary Board Assistant at least 10 15 business days preceding a regular meeting of 
the State Board, by email or by mail at California Library Services Board, California 
State Library, P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001. 

Reference to the Secretary removed and replaced with Board Assistant; requirement for 
submitting issues to be placed before the Board changed to accommodate current open 
meeting notice requirements; revised to allow for email delivery and to update mailing 
address. 
 
(b) Setting of Agenda. The agenda for regular meetings of the State Board shall be set 
by the Chief Executive Officer at least 8 12 business days prior to the meeting. 

Requirement for CEO setting of agenda changed to accommodate current open 
meeting notice requirements. 
 
§ 20125. Speakers.  
(a) Recognition of Speakers. Members of the public or the State Library staff will may be 
recognized by the President of the State Board to speak at any State Board meeting. All 
remarks made shall be germane to the business at hand and shall be addressed to the 
President. No person other than the person having the floor and members of the State 
Board shall be permitted to enter the discussion. 

Revised to reflect current practices. 
 
(b) Subject of Remarks. All speakers before the State Board shall confine their remarks 
to the subject indicated in their written request, or for which they were recognized by the 
President. 
 
Revised to reflect current practices. 



6 
 

§ 20130. Public Hearings. 
(c) Speakers. 
(1) Notice. Persons wishing to address the State Board on a subject to be considered at 
a public hearing, should present a request to the Secretary Board Assistant four (4) 
working days in advance of the meeting at the office of the Secretary by email, or in 
person at the Board Assistant’s Office, at the Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building, 914 
Capitol Mall, Sacramento California 95814, stating the subject they wish to address, the 
organization they represent, if any, and the nature of their testimony. Persons wishing to 
address the Board, who have not presented a request four days in advance, may be 
heard at the discretion of the presiding officer. 

Reference to the Secretary removed and replaced with Board Assistant; requirement for 
submitting issues to be placed before the Board changed to accommodate current open 
meeting notice requirements; revised to allow for email delivery and to update mailing 
address. 
 
(2) Copies of Statement. The speaker may provide a written copy of his statement to the 
Secretary Board Assistant 24 hours in advance of the hearing. 
 
Revise to remove reference to the Secretary and replaced with Board Assistant. 

§ 20134. Public Records. 
(a) Inspection of Public Records. 
(1) Inspection of the original copy of any public record of the State Board (as defined in 
Government Code section 6252(d) and 6254) will be permitted during regular office 
hours of the State Library, Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building, 914 Capitol Mall, 
Sacramento California 95814. 

Revised to update the mailing address. 
 
(2) Requests to inspect such records should be filed with the Secretary Board Assistant 
at least five working days prior to the requested date in order to insure availability. 
 
Revise to remove reference to the Secretary and replaced with Board Assistant. 
 
(4) Original copies of public records shall not be removed from the office the Secretary 

Secretary Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building. 

Revised to remove reference to the Secretary and update record location. 
 
(b) Obtaining Copies of Public Records. 
(1) Requests to obtain copies of public records may be made in person or by mail to the 



7 
 

office of the Secretary Board Assistant at California Library Services Board, California 
State Library, P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001. 

Revised to remove reference to the Secretary, update the contact person to the Board 
Assistant and update the mailing address. 
. 
(3) Certification of the authenticity of copies may be obtained from the Secretary Board 
Assistant. 

Revise to remove reference to the Secretary and replaced with Board Assistant. 

ARTICLE 3. GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR SYSTEMS 

§ 20135. System Budget Request and Plan of Service.  
(1) A population profile. This shall be no more than five three years old, and shall use 
the most current data available. 

Revised to reflect the routine use of more up-to-date statistics. 

 
(2) A description of the users and the non-users of the services of the members of the 
System. 
(3) A description of the services provided by the System. 
(4) A list of the major unmet information needs of the population of the System area. 
(5) A plan for the use of CLSA funds, listing each of the services(s) in (3) above which 
the System plans to maintain or improve, and each of the unmet needs in (4) above 
which the System plans to address. Under each such service to be provided, the plan 
shall include: 
(A) The user benefit expected. 
(B) A brief description of the method by which the benefit will be provided. 
(b) Budget. The System budget shall document in the form and manner prescribed by 
the State Board the dollar amounts to be expended for providing each System service 
or addressing each unmet need. 
(c) In addition, each System shall file by September 1 of each year a report, in the form 
and manner prescribed by the State Board for the fiscal year just ended, that describes 
actual accomplishments and expenditures of the System program, compares them with 
the planned accomplishments and expenditures for the fiscal year reported and includes 
other appropriate commentary. 

Language revised to bring section in line with current requirements for the cooperative 
systems based on current funding levels. 

ARTICLE 5. CONSOLIDATIONS AND AFFILIATIONS 
 

§ 20180. Public Library Consolidations.  
(a) If any two or more contiguous jurisdictions operating public libraries wish to 



8 
 

consolidate their libraries into a single library agency and receive establishment grants 
under Education Code Section 18732, a joint notice of intent signed by the head 
librarians of the consolidating jurisdictions must be filed with the State Board no later 
than September 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date for 
consolidation. Authorizations to consolidate, approved by the governing body of each 
consolidating jurisdiction, and a joint plan for provision of consolidated services, signed 
by the head librarians, must be filed with the State Board no later than June 1 of the 
fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date of the consolidation. 

Revised to remove the reference to “contiguous” based on requests by Board members; 
remove reference to unfunded grants provided under education code section 18732. 
This code section has been removed from statute.  
 
(b) The State Board's approval of requests for library consolidation funds under 
Education Code Section 18732 shall be based on its determination that the 
consolidation provides a more effective means of carrying out the purposes of the Act 
than would be the case if the consolidation did not occur. 

Revise to remove reference to unfunded grants provided under education code section 
18732. This code section has been removed from statute. 
 
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the consolidating jurisdictions to receive 
funds under other provisions of the Act, a A public library consolidation approved by the 
State Board will be considered effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately 
following the fiscal year in which the consolidation authorizations are filed. 

Revise to remove reference to unfunded grants for library jurisdiction consolidation 
provided under education code section 18732. This code section has been removed 
from statute. 
 
§ 20185. System Consolidations.  
(a) If any two or more Systems whose borders are contiguous wish to consolidate and 
receive a consolidation grant under Education Code Section 18751, a joint notice of 
intent, approved by the Administrative Councils of the consolidating systems, must be 
filed with the State Board no later than September 1 of the fiscal year immediately 
preceding the effective date of consolidation. System participation authorizations 
approved by the jurisdictional governing body of each of the System's member libraries, 
and a new system plan of Service and budget, must be filed with the State Board no 
later than June 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date of 
consolidation. If the State Board approves the consolidation funding request, a grant 
shall be awarded for each of the two fiscal years following the fiscal year in which the 
filing is made. 
 
Revised to remove the reference to “contiguous” based on requests by Board members; 
remove reference to unfunded grants provided under education code section 18751. 



9 
 

This code section has been removed from statute. 
 
(b) The State Board's approval of requests for System consolidation funds under 
Education Code Section 19851 shall be based on its determination that the 
consolidation provides a more effective way of carrying out the purposes of the Act than 
would be the case if the consolidation did not occur. 
 
Revise to remove reference to unfunded grants for consolidation provided under 
education code section 18751. This code section has been removed from statute. 
 
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the consolidating systems to receive 
funds under other provisions of the Act, a A system consolidation approved by the State 
Board will be considered effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately 
following the fiscal year in which the consolidation authorizations are filed. 

Revise to remove reference to unfunded system consolidation grants for provided under 
education code section 18751. This code section has been removed from statute. 
 
§ 20190. Public Library Affiliation with an Existing System.  
(a) If any jurisdiction, not previously a member of any System, joins a System with 
borders contiguous to the jurisdiction, and the System wishes to receive an affiliation 
grant under Education Code Section 18752, the administrative body of the System shall 
file a notice of intent and the jurisdictional governing body of the affiliating library shall 
file an affiliation authorization with the State Board. 

Revised to remove the reference to “contiguous” based on requests by Board members; 
remove reference to unfunded grants provided under education code section 18752. 
This code section has been removed from statute 
 
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the affiliating public library or system to 
receive funds under other provisions of the Act, aAn affiliation will be considered 
effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately following the fiscal year in which 
the affiliation authorization is filed. 

Revise to remove reference to unfunded system affiliation grants for provided under 
education code section 18752. This code section has been removed from statute. 

ARTICLE 6. DIRECT LOANS 

§ 20215. Reimbursement for Net Direct Loans. 
Loan of a library material of any type by a participating public library to an eligible 
nonresident borrower shall result in reimbursement from the state under Education 
Code Sections 18731 and 18743 to the extent that the number of such loans exceeds 
the number of items borrowed by that library jurisdiction's residents from other 
participating public libraries, during a specific reporting period. 
 



10 
 

Revise to remove reference to reimbursement for direct loans provided under education 
code section 18731 and 18743. Reimbursement language was removed from statute. 

§ 20216. Reporting Requirements. 
To obtain reimbursement, participating public libraries shall provide reports in the form 
and manner, and for the period required. Reports must be submitted by established 
deadlines. Records in support of claims for state funds must be maintained for four 
years. 
 
Revise to remove reference to reporting for reimbursement purposes for direct loans 
provided under education code section 18731 and 18743. Reimbursement language 
was removed from statute. 

§ 20217. Reimbursable Costs. 
Reimbursable costs, expressed on a unit basis, are those handling costs incurred by the 
lending library in processing a direct loan to a non-resident. The State Board shall 
periodically review, at least once a year, and approve such cost data, but the 
reimbursement rate, as adopted, shall be uniform statewide. 
 
Revise to remove reimbursable cost language for direct loans provided under education 
code section 18731 and 18743. Reimbursement language was removed from statute. 

 
ARTICLE 7. COMMUNICATION AND DELIVERY 

§ 20235. Definition of Reporting Terms. 
In complying with the reporting requirements of Section 20135 each system shall report 
the following items using the following definitions with respect to the communication, 
and delivery, and resource sharing programs: 

Revise to add resource sharing into the definition section due to revisions to statute. 
This added resource sharing to communication and delivery under Education code 
section 18745 and 18766. 
 
(a) “Message” means the transmission of a discrete body of information from one library 
to another by means of a telecommunications system to a single individual or 
institutional addressee. Many separate items of information may be contained in a 
single message. The same body of information transmitted to several addressees at 
physically distinct locations constitutes several, not one, messages. Written information 
physically conveyed by delivery van, U.S. Mail, or other courier services is not 
considered a “message” for communications and delivery reporting purposes. 
(b) “Item delivered” means the physical removal of a discrete item from one library to 
another by means of a delivery van, U.S. Mail, courier service, or other delivery system 
or the delivery of digital materials. Reasonable judgement shall be exercised in 
determining particular “items” status (e.g., a carton containing 10,000 brochures is one -
not 10,000 items). 



11 

Revise to include delivery of digital materials under message as digital materials are not 
mentioned in section 18745 dealing with communication, delivery and resource sharing 
funding. 

(d) “Other” means that when a system employs communications, or delivery, or
resource sharing methods other than those specifically cited on the standard reporting
forms, the system must specify the method(s) employed and separately account for the
message or delivery volume for each such method. The System must describe the
communication, delivery method, or shared resource and the outcome of providing it.
procured by one (1) or more participating libraries to be shared by three (3) or more
participating libraries, accessible for use by participating libraries.

Revise to add resource sharing into the definition section due to revisions to statute. 
This added resource sharing to communication and delivery under Education code 
section 18745 and 18766; also add description of the communication, delivery and 
shared resource provided and the outcomes.  

§ 20236. Inclusion
Unless otherwise prohibited by Education Codes 18745-18746, intra-system
communication, delivery and resource sharing includes the acquisition or maintenance
of technology or digital transmission products required to locate, create, or make
accessible digital, virtual, or electronic material, which may also include
telecommunication equipment and its installation along with monthly service fees.

Language added to clarify reference that anything that education code section 18745 
and 18745 states can be funded will be included under this section. Language clarifies 
that includes transmission products for e-materials, equipment and its installation and 
fees. These items are needed to facilitate the delivery or sharing of digital, virtual or 
electronic materials. 

ARTICLE 8. INTERLIBRARY LOANS 

§ 20251. Scope.
The regulations in this article refer to interlibrary loan activity covered under the
provisions of Education Code section 18744 (i.e. System interlibrary loan) and 18765
(i.e. Statewide loan).

§ 20252. Intent.
It is the intent of this program of the Act to support the sharing of library resources
through interlibrary loan. Library materials needed by a library user and not available in
that user's library will be made available to the user via interlibrary loan.

§ 20255. Eligibility.
(a) Public Libraries. Any public library as defined in Education Code section 18710(l),



12 

which has been authorized by its jurisdiction to participate in programs of the Act must 
participate in the interlibrary loan programs of the Act. 
(b) Libraries Other Than Public Libraries. To be eligible to participate these libraries
must be authorized by their own administrative authorities to do so and must file the
proper notice with the State Board as outlined in section 20105(c). Further, a library,
other than a public library, may be eligible for a reimbursement only for a loan to an
eligible public library. Libraries, other than public libraries, which can become eligible for
participation in the interlibrary loan reimbursement programs of the Act include only the
following:
(1) Libraries operated by public schools or school districts. These libraries include only
those defined in Education Code section 18710(m).
(2) Libraries operated by public colleges or universities. These include those academic
libraries (Education Code section 18710(a)) which are funded primarily with public
funds. Academic libraries potentially eligible for these programs include the libraries of
the University of California, of the State University and College System, and of the
California Community Colleges.
(3) Libraries operated by public agencies for institutionalized persons. Libraries for the
institutionalized include hospital, correctional, and residential treatment facility libraries
which are funded primarily with public funds (i.e. local, state, or federal tax monies).
(4) Libraries operated by nonprofit private educational or research institutions. These
libraries include those operated by private colleges and universities which maintain
nonprofit status under provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Service or the
California Franchise Tax laws. These libraries also include those operated by private
companies which are primarily devoted to educational or research purposes and which
maintain nonprofit status under provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Service or the
California Franchise Tax laws. Such libraries may be required by the State Board to
furnish proof of their nonprofit status in addition to any other required notices and forms.

§ 20257. Reimbursable Transaction.
An interlibrary transaction can result in reimbursement under Education Code sections
18744 and 18765 if it consists of the loan of a library material of any type which is
collected by a library or if it consists of the provision of a copy in lieu of loan of a library
material, from any eligible, participating lending library to any eligible public library as
defined in section 20255 and in Education Code sections 18744 and 18765.

§ 20260. Reimbursable Costs.
Reimbursable costs are only those handling costs which a lending library incurs in filling
a successfully completed interlibrary loan transaction. The State Board shall
periodically, and at least annually, review and approve the cost data and determine an
appropriate funding formula which shall be uniform statewide.

§ 20265. Participation Requirements.
Participating libraries, both public and nonpublic, shall conform to the following
requirements:



13 

(a) Reporting. To obtain reimbursement a library shall provide by the deadline reporting
date, all required reports of its interlibrary loan transactions in an established form and
manner determined by the Board for the period required.
(b) Audit. For audit purposes, a record of the interlibrary loan transactions must be
maintained for four years.
(c) Fees. A library providing an item for interlibrary loan may not collect a handling fee
on a transaction for which that library claims an interlibrary loan reimbursement under
provisions of this article. A photocopy fee, exclusive of photocopy handling charge, may
be collected.
(d) Direct Loan Availability. Participating libraries shall make maximum use of available
bibliographic access tools to refer users to borrow directly from nearby libraries where
requested material is easily available, rather than to process an interlibrary loan.
(e) Responsibility for Borrowed Materials. The borrowing library shall be responsible for
all items it borrows, and if such item is lost or damaged by the library or its users, the
borrowing library may be required by the lending library to make restitution for the item.
(f) Adherence to Standards. All participating libraries shall attempt to follow the
standards described in the “California Library Services Act Interlibrary Loan Standards,”
which is hereby incorporated by reference. The State Board may withhold
reimbursements to libraries which continually fail to meet the standards of performance.

Revise to remove language pertaining to interlibrary loan under educations codes 
18744 and 1875 as those code sections were removed from statute.  



Exhibit B  

Regulatory Language Updates: Original Vs. Amendments 

Reg. Section Original Language Change Recommendation Explanation 

Article 1: General Provisions 

20100: Scope 

The regulations contained in this chapter shall 
implement the California Library Services Act, 
Chapter 4 of part 11 of Division 1 or Title 1 of the 
Education Code beginning with section 18700 
thereof. 

No change needed 

20101: 
General 

Provisions 

(a)The State Board finds that it is in the best
interests of the citizens of California and best fulfills
the purposes of the Act (Chapter 4, part 11, Division
1, Title 1, Education Code) that libraries
participating in any one program of the Act
participate in all applicable programs of the Act.

No change needed 

(b) Any public library participating in programs of the
Act shall, under section 18724(g) of the Act, provide
access to the library's bibliographic and location
data upon request from the State Board for
inclusion in the appropriate database established by
the State Board in implementation of the Act. The
access shall be provided in such form, manner, and
frequency as are agreed upon between the State
Board and the library.

(b) Any public library participating in programs of
the Act shall, under section 18724(g)(e) of the Act,
provide access to the library's bibliographic and
location data upon request from the State Board
for inclusion in the appropriate database
established by the State Board in implementation
of the Act. The access shall be provided in such
form, manner, and frequency as are agreed upon
between the State Board and the library.

Changed section 18724(g) 
to 18724(e). This change 
represents changes made 
to the Education Code 
statute in 2016. In section 
18724, the list of powers 
and duties of the state 
board, items (c) and (f) 
were removed which 
changed item (g) to item 
(e) instead

(c) Funding distributed according to California
Library Services Act provisions may not be used to
support other than library purposes. To comply with
Education Code Section 18703(c), the funding may
not be used to replace local funds for library
services, but only to supplement the local funding to
further the purposes of the Act.

No change needed 

(d) A public library participating in any program of
the Act must participate in the direct loan
transaction reporting, whether the library
participates in either of the direct loan programs or
not. During the designated transaction reporting
periods all CLSA participating libraries must record
all direct loans made to eligible residents of other
jurisdictions whose libraries are participating in the
direct loan programs, as long as the handling costs
of paid loans are not being covered in whole, or in

No change needed 



part, by CLSA funds in addition to direct loan 
reimbursement funds, LSTA funds, or by funds 
provided by the jurisdiction of the eligible non-
resident. 

20103:  Waiver 
of Filing Date 

The State Board may waive of reset any filing dates 
required by these regulations, if the State Board 
determined that so doing would best serve the 
purposes of the Act. 

No change needed 

20104: 
Eligibility to 
Participate 

Funding under any program of the Act shall be 
provided only to libraries which are physically and 
administratively located within California and which 
meet any additional eligibility criteria required for 
specific program participations. 

No change needed 

20105: 
General 

Requirements 
for 

Participation 

(a) Public Library Participation Authorization. Every
public library wishing to participate in any of the
programs of the Act must file with the State Board
an authorization by the jurisdictional governing body
for that library's participation. The authorization
must be in the form and manner and be filed by the
date specified by the State Board.

No change needed 

(b) Public Library Certification. Upon the
authorization by the jurisdictional governing body,
the head librarian of each public library wishing to
participate in the programs of the Act must file a
certification of compliance with provisions of the Act.
This certification shall remain in effect until the
library jurisdiction no longer complies with the stated
provisions. The certification shall specifically include
compliance with Education Code Sections 18703(c)
and 18724(e). If the library or jurisdiction is no
longer in compliance, the head librarian shall notify
the Board no later than thirty days following such a
change in compliance status.

(b) Public Library Certification. Upon the
authorization by the jurisdictional governing body,
the head librarian of each public library wishing to
participate in the programs of the Act must file a
certification of compliance with provisions of the
Act. This certification shall remain in effect until
the library jurisdiction no longer complies with the
stated provisions. The certification shall
specifically include compliance with Education
Code Sections 18703(c) and 18724(e)(d). If the
library or jurisdiction is no longer in compliance,
the head librarian shall notify the Board no later
than thirty days following such a change in
compliance status.

Change section 18724(e) 
to 18724(d). This change 
represents changes made 
to the Education Code 
statute in 2016. In section 
18724, the list of powers 
and duties of the state 
board, items (c) and (f) 
were removed which 
changed item (e) to item 
(d) instead



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20105 Cont. 
 
 

(c) Participation by Libraries other than Public 
Libraries. The head librarian of such library eligible 
to participate in any of the programs of the Act and 
wishing to do so must file with the State Board a 
notice of its intent to participate and of its 
agreement to the provisions of the Act and 
administrative regulations as they apply to the 
library's participation. This notice shall be filed in 
such form and manner as specified by the State 
Board by September 1 of the fiscal year preceding 
active participation. The agreement shall remain in 
effect until rescinded by the State Board or the 
library. 

No change needed  

(d) Reports, Applications, and Claims. Any budget 
documents, reports, applications, and claims for 
funds pursuant to this Act shall be submitted by 
participating libraries in such form and manner and 
by the dates established by the State Board. 

No change needed  

(e) No public library participating in the programs of 
the Act may charge its residents, as defined in 
section 20203, any fee to obtain a library card nor 
for services for which it is receiving reimbursement 
under the California Library Services Act. 

No change needed  

(f) The California Library Services Board believes 
that it is in the best interests of the citizens of 
California that the information services of public 
libraries be provided free of charge. 

No change needed  

20106: 
Uniform 

Population 
Statistics 

Any funds distributed per capita shall be awarded 
using the most recently published and available 
combined estimate for cities and counties from the 
California State Department of Finance. 

No change needed  

 
 

 
 
 

20107: 
Definitions 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(a) The definitions concerning California Library 
Services Act components set forth in Education 
Code Section 18710 are hereby incorporated by 
reference, with additions as noted in subsection (b) 
of this section. The definitions incorporated by 
reference are accurate to California Statutes 1979. 

No change needed  

(b) Additions to the regulations hereby incorporated 
are as follows: 
(1) “Chief Executive Officer” means the State 

Librarian. 
(2) “President” means the elected President of the 

Board. 
(3) “Public library affiliation” means the formal and 

(b) Additions to the regulations hereby 
incorporated are as follows: 
(1) “Board Assistant” means the Administrative 
Assistant II position designated to the Board 
(1)(2) “Chief Executive Officer” means the State 
Librarian. 
(2)(3) “President” means the elected President of 

Item (1) Board Assistant 
definition is added and 
item (7) Board Secretary is 
removed. The Board no 
longer has a secretary; 
they have an 
Administrative Assistant II 



20107 Cont. 

legal joining to a System (i.e. the obtaining of 
full System membership status) by a public 
library not previously a member of any System. 
A Public Library Affiliation is not considered 
complete until all necessary local System and 
jurisdictional agreements have been approved 
and are in force, and the State Board has 
approved the affiliation. 

(4) “Public library consolidation” means the formal
and legal joining of the functions, services,
operations, etc. of two or more formerly
independent public libraries into a single public
library, as defined in Education Code Section
18710 (f). A Public Library Consolidation is not
considered complete until all necessary local
jurisdictional agreements have been approved
and are in force, and the State Board has
approved the consolidation (see Administrative
Code Section 20180, below).

(5) Reference collection. Reference collection
means a collection of materials, both print and
non-print, designed primarily for use in
answering requests for information.

(6) Reference specialist. Reference specialist
means a trained and experienced librarian who
can provide reference referral services and who
can also understand how to approach the
community in general and the undeserved in
particular, together with appropriate skills in
analysis of information needs and design and
implementation of reference programs
responsive to those needs. A reference
specialist may be employed in providing any of
the services for which he/she is qualified.

(7) “Secretary” means the Executive Secretary of
the Board.

(8) “State Board” means the California Library
Services Board.

(9) “System consolidation” means the formal and
legal joining of geographic service areas,
functions, operations, etc. of two or more
formerly separate Systems into a single
Cooperative Library System, as defined in
Education Code Section 18710 (c). A System
Consolidation is not considered complete until

the Board. 
(3)(4) “Public library affiliation” means the formal 
and legal joining to a System (i.e. the obtaining of 
full System membership status) by a public library 
not previously a member of any System. A Public 
Library Affiliation is not considered complete until 
all necessary local System and jurisdictional 
agreements have been approved and are in force, 
and the State Board has approved the affiliation. 
(4)(5) “Public library consolidation” means the 
formal and legal joining of the functions, services, 
operations, etc. of two or more formerly 
independent public libraries into a single public 
library, as defined in Education Code Section 
18710 (f). A Public Library Consolidation is not 
considered complete until all necessary local 
jurisdictional agreements have been approved 
and are in force, and the State Board has 
approved the consolidation (see Administrative 
Code Section 20180, below). 
(6) “Resource Sharing” refers to the allowed use
or application of a resource created, purchased or 
leased by one (1) or more participating libraries’ 
with three (3) or more participating libraries. 
(5) Reference collection. Reference collection
means a collection of materials, both print and
non-print, designed primarily for use in answering
requests for information.
(6) Reference specialist. Reference specialist
means a trained and experienced librarian who
can provide reference referral services and who
can also understand how to approach the
community in general and the undeserved in
particular, together with appropriate skills in
analysis of information needs and design and
implementation of reference programs responsive
to those needs. A reference specialist may be
employed in providing any of the services for
which he/she is qualified.
(7) “Secretary” means the Executive Secretary of
the Board.
(8)(7) “State Board” means the California Library
Services Board.
(9)(8) “System consolidation” means the formal
and legal joining of geographic service areas,

that they appoint. Item (5) 
reference collection and 
item (6) reference 
specialist were removed 
because these terms are 
no longer present in the 
regulations. All numbers 
were adjusted accordingly 
for changes.  



20107 Cont. 

all necessary local System consolidation 
agreements have been approved and are in 
force, and until the State Board has approved 
the consolidation (see Administrative Code 
Section 20185, below). 

(10) “Valid non-resident borrowers card” means a
card that is issued free of charge by a public
library to a resident of another jurisdiction which
maintains a public library, as long as such card
meets all of the legal requirements of the
issuing library.

(11) “Vice-President” means the elected Vice-
President of the Board.

functions, operations, etc. of two or more formerly 
separate Systems into a single Cooperative 
Library System, as defined in Education Code 
Section 18710 (c). A System Consolidation is not 
considered complete until all necessary local 
System consolidation agreements have been 
approved and are in force, and until the State 
Board has approved the consolidation (see 
Administrative Code Section 20185, below). 
(10)(9) “Valid non-resident borrowers card” means 
a card that is issued free of charge by a public 
library to a resident of another jurisdiction which 
maintains a public library, as long as such card 
meets all of the legal requirements of the issuing 
library. 
(11)(10) “Vice-President” means the elected Vice-
President of the Board. 

Article 2: California Library Services Board Procedures 

20116: 
Officers of the 
State Board 

The State Board shall elect a President and Vice-
President. The State Librarian shall be the Chief 
Executive Officer of the State Board. 
(a) The State Board shall annually elect a
President and Vice-President at the first regular
meeting of each calendar year.

(a) The State Board shall annually biennially
elect a President and Vice-President at the first
last regular meeting of each every odd
numbered calendar year.

Change the annual election of 
Board officers to biennial 
based on recommendation 
from the Board’s current 
nominating committee. 
Changed verbiage to reflect 
that elections would occur at 
the last meeting of every odd 
calendar year based on 
discussions the Board had at 
the October 2016 meeting.  

(b) Should a vacancy occur in the Office of
President or Vice-President, the State Board shall
at its next regular meeting elect one of its
members to fill such vacancy for the remainder of
the term.

No change necessary 

(c) Duties of President. The President shall
preside at all meetings of the State Board, shall
execute for the State Board any documents
requiring such execution, and shall perform such
other duties as the State Board so provides.

No change necessary 

(d) Duties of Vice-President. The Vice-President
shall in the absence of the President perform any
of the duties of President that cannot reasonably
await the President's return.

No change necessary 

(e) Duties of the Chief Executive Officer. No change necessary 



20116 Cont. 

(1) Make such reports and recommendations to
the State Board as he deems desirable and
appropriate or as may be required by the State
Board.
(2) Administer the provisions of this chapter.
(3) Review all claims to ensure programmatic and
technical compliance with the provisions of this
chapter

20117: 
Quorum 

A quorum for all State Board meetings shall be 
seven (7) members. The concurrence of 7 of its 
members shall be necessary to the validity of all 
actions of the State Board. 

No change necessary 

20118. 
Regular 

Meetings 

(a) Date. Regular meetings of the State Board
shall take place at least bi-monthly on the third
Thursday of the months of February, April, June,
August, October; the December meeting shall be
held in conjunction with the California Library
Association conference.

(a) Date. Regular meetings of the State Board
shall take place at least  bi-monthly on the third
Thursday of the months of February, April, June,
August, October; the December meeting shall
be held in conjunction with the California Library
Association conference once each year.

Revised language to reflect 
the current situation of the 
Board. With the cuts to the 
budget the Board has not 
needed to meet more that 1-3 
times since 2003. 

(b) Place. The tentative locations for the regular
meetings of the following calendar year shall be
determined annually, at the last regular meeting of
the calendar year.

(b) Place. The tentative time of year and
locations for the regular meetings of in the
following forthcoming calendar year shall be
determined annually, at the last regular meeting
of the calendar year.

Change on wording only 

(c) Change of date or place. Nothing in this
regulation shall be construed to prevent the State
Board from altering its regular meeting dates or
places of meeting.

(c) Change of date or place. Nothing in this
regulation shall be construed to prevent the
State Board from altering its regular meeting
dates or places of meeting location.

Change on wording only 

(d) Meeting notice. A notice of regular meetings
shall be provided at least seven days prior to the
meeting date to any person annually requesting
such notice under section 20119 below. Such
notice shall include the time, date, and place of
the regular meeting and a copy of the agenda
therefor

(d) Meeting notice. A notice of regular meetings
shall be provided at least seven days prior to the
meeting date to any person annually requesting
such notice under section 20119 below. Such
notice shall include the time, date, and place of
the regular meeting and a copy of the agenda
therefor  Notices of regular meetings shall
comply with all requirements laid out in
Government Code sections 11120-11131.  

Removed current language 
and reference code sections 
for Bagley-Keene Opening 
Meeting Act which is the law 
followed for all meetings. This 
Act governs the meetings of 
”state bodies” including the 
Board.  

(e) Any person or organization desiring to
receive notice(s) of State Board meetings may 
email the current Board Assistant or direct the 
request to: California Library Services Board, 
State Librarian’s Office, California State Library, 
P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001. 

Revise the section to allow for 
email requests and to include 
the address where individuals 
may request a meeting notice 

20119. Notices 
(a) Eligibility. Notice of any regular or special
public meeting of the State Board shall be given to
any person annually requesting under section

(a) Eligibility. Notice of any regular or special
public meeting of the State Board shall be given
to any person annually requesting under section

Removed current language 
because section above was 
amended to reference notice 



20119 Cont. 

20119(b). 20119(b). requirements in the Bagley-
Keene Opening Meeting Act, 
making this section redundant. 

(b) Procedure. Individuals and organizations
wishing to receive notice of regular and special
meetings of the State Board and copies of the
agenda may annually request the Secretary to
include their names on the mailing list. Inclusion
on the mailing list will result in notification to the
addressee of all regular and special meetings of
the State Board. The Secretary shall annually
notify interested agencies and organizations that,
upon request, they are entitle to be placed on the
mailing list.

(b) Procedure. Individuals and organizations
wishing to receive notice of regular and special
meetings of the State Board and copies of the
agenda may annually request the Secretary to
include their names on the mailing list. Inclusion
on the mailing list will result in notification to the
addressee of all regular and special meetings of
the State Board. The Secretary shall annually
notify interested agencies and organizations
that, upon request, they are entitle to be placed
on the mailing list.

Removed current language 
because section above was 
amended to reference notice 
requirements in the Bagley-
Keene Opening Meeting Act, 
making this section redundant 

20120. Open 
Meetings of 
Committees, 

Commissions, 
and Advisory 

Boards 

(a) State Board Committees. Meetings of State
Board committees composed solely of members
of the State Board, created by a formal action of
the State Board, shall be open and public.

No change needed 

(b) Advisory Bodies. Unless otherwise provided by
law, meetings of any advisory body, or
committees or subcommittees thereof, created by
statutes or by formal action of the State Board, to
advise or report or recommend to the State Board,
shall be open and public.

No change needed 

20121. Open 
Meetings 

All meetings of the State Board will be open and 
public except for executive sessions authorized by 
Government Code Sections 11120-11131. 

No change needed 

20122. Special 
Meetings 

Special meetings may be called by the President 
of the State Board or a majority of the members 
thereof for any stated purpose. Notice of such 
meetings shall be provided at least 24 hours in 
advance to those persons so requesting under 
section 20119(b). 

Special meetings may be called by the 
President of the State Board or a majority of the 
members thereof for any stated purpose. Notice 
of such meetings shall be provided at least 24 
hours in advance to those persons so 
requesting under section 20119(b). Special 
meetings shall comply with all special meeting 
provisions provided in Government Code 
sections 11120-11131. 

Removed current notice 
requirement language and 
reference Bagley-Keene 
Opening Meeting Act which is 
the law followed for all 
meetings. This Act governs the 
meetings of ”state bodies” 
including the Board. 

20123. 
Emergency 

Meetings and 
Agenda Items 

(a) Power. An emergency meeting may be called
by the President of the State Board or a majority
of the members thereof without providing the
notice required by section 20119 if there is an
unforeseen emergency condition in existence.

(a) Power. An emergency meeting may be
called by the President of the State Board or a
majority of the members thereof without
providing the notice required by section 20119
section 20118(d) if there is an unforeseen
emergency condition in existence.

Remove the reference to 
section 20119 which is being 
removed, insert reference to 
section 20118(d) which is 
where the meeting notice 
language is now located. 

(b) Definition. An unforeseen emergency condition
exists when there is an immediate threat of
adverse effects on the program authorized by the

No change needed 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20123 Cont. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Act of such scope that requires action of the State 
Board to avert such effects. 
(c) Agenda Items. An item may be included on the 
agenda of any regular meeting if an unforeseen 
emergency condition exists without the notice 
required by section 20119. 

(c) Agenda Items. An item may be included on 
the agenda of any regular meeting if an 
unforeseen emergency condition exists without 
the notice required by section 20119 section 
20118(d). 

Remove the reference to 
section 20119 which is being 
removed, insert reference to 
section 20118(d) which is 
where the meeting notice 
language is now located. 

(d) Certification. Concurrence of 7 of the members 
is required to certify that an emergency condition 
exists in order to take any action at an emergency 
meeting or regarding an emergency item. 

No change needed  

(e) Notice. If reasonably possible, notice of the 
emergency item or meeting shall be provided to 
those so requesting under section 20119(b). Lack 
of such notice shall not invalidate any action taken 
on said item or at said meeting. 

(e) Notice. If reasonably possible, notice of the 
emergency item or meeting shall be provided to 
those so requesting under section 
20119(b)20118(e). Lack of such notice shall not 
invalidate any action taken on said item or at 
said meeting. 

Remove the reference to 
section 20119(b) which is 
being removed, insert 
reference to section 20118(e) 
which is where the language 
regarding those who request 
notice is now located. 

20124. Agenda 

(a) All matters to be submitted for consideration of 
the State Board shall be sent to the Secretary at 
least 10 days preceding a regular meeting of the 
State Board, at California Library Services Board, 
P.O. Box 2037, Sacramento, CA 95809.  

(a) All matters to be submitted for consideration 
of the State Board shall be sent to the Secretary 
to the Board Assistant at least 10 15 business 
days preceding a regular meeting of the State 
Board, by email or by mail at California Library 
Services Board, California State Library, P.O. 
Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001.  

Reference to the Secretary 
replaced by Board Assistant 
since the Board no longer has 
a secretary. Time period of 
submitting items for 
consideration changed from 10 
to 15 days before to 
accommodate the 10 day 
requirement for advanced 
posting of the meeting 
Agenda. Also updated so 
items for consideration can 
now be submitted by email 
and the board address 
information updated.  

(b) Setting of Agenda. The agenda for regular 
meetings of the State Board shall be set by the 
Chief Executive Officer at least 8 days prior to the 
meeting. 

(b) Setting of Agenda. The agenda for regular 
meetings of the State Board shall be set by the 
Chief Executive Officer at least 8 12 business 
days prior to the meeting. 

Time period for CEO to set the 
meeting agenda changed from 
8 to 12 days prior to the 
meeting to accommodate the 
10 day requirement for 
advanced posting of the 
meeting Agenda. 



20125. 
Speakers 

(a) Recognition of Speakers. Members of the
public or the State Library staff will be recognized
by the President of the State Board to speak at
any meeting. All remarks made shall be germane
to the business at hand and shall be addressed to
the President. No person other than the person
having the floor and members of the State Board
shall be permitted to enter the discussion.

(a) Recognition of Speakers. Members of the
public or the State Library staff will may be
recognized by the President of the State Board
to speak at any State Board meeting. All
remarks made shall be germane to the business
at hand and shall be addressed to the President.
No person other than the person having the floor
and members of the State Board shall be
permitted to enter the discussion.

Sections revised to reflect 
current practices. 

(b) Subject of Remarks. All speakers before the
State Board shall confine their remarks to the
subject indicated in their written request, or
indicated in the recognition by the President.

(b) Subject of Remarks. All speakers before the
State Board shall confine their remarks to the
subject indicated in their written request, or
indicated in the recognition by for which they
were recognized by the President.

Sections revised to reflect 
current practices. 

20127. 
Robert’s Rules 

of Order 

Except where the provisions of the California 
Library Services Act of 1977 or of these 
regulations provide to the contrary, or when the 
State Board determines otherwise, the State 
Board shall operate under the latest edition of 
Robert's Rules of Order. 

No change needed 

20130. Public 
Hearings 

(a) Notice. The State Board may hold a public
hearing regarding any matter pending before it,
after giving the 45-day notice as required by the
California Administrative Procedures Act. Such
notice shall include adequate descriptive matter
relating to the subjects to be considered in
hearing.

No change needed 

(b) Alternative hearing. The State Board may
direct that a public hearing be held before staff of
the State Library, an advisory commission to the
State Board, or a standing or ad hoc committee of
the State Board regarding any matter which is, or
is likely to be, pending before the State Board.

No change needed 

(c) Speakers.
(1) Notice. Persons wishing to address the State
Board on a subject to be considered at a public
hearing, should present a request to the Secretary
four (4) working days in advance of the meeting at
the office of the Secretary, stating the subject they
wish to address, the organization they represent,
if any, and the nature of their testimony. Persons
wishing to address the Board, who have not
presented a request four days in advance, may be
heard at the discretion of the presiding officer.

(c) Speakers.
(1) Notice. Persons wishing to address the State
Board on a subject to be considered at a public
hearing, should present a request to the
Secretary Board Assistant four (4) working days
in advance of the meeting at the office of the
Secretary by email, or in person at the Board
Assistant’s Office, at the Stanley Mosk Library-
Courts Building, 914 Capitol Mall, Sacramento 
California 95814, stating the subject they wish to 
address, the organization they represent, if any, 

Section revised to removed 
mention of the Secretary and 
replace it with the Board 
Assistant. Also revised to 
allowed for contact via email or 
in person and adding the 
appropriate address. 



20130 Cont. 

(2) Copies of Statement. The speaker may
provide a written copy of his statement to the
Secretary 24 hours in advance of the hearing.
(3) Public Testimony. At or before the hearing at
which oral comments from the public are to be
received, the State Board or other hearing body
shall determine the total amount of time that will
be devoted to hearing such oral comments, and
may, at its discretion, determine the time to be
allotted to each person or to each side of an
issue.

and the nature of their testimony. Persons 
wishing to address the Board, who have not 
presented a request four days in advance, may 
be heard at the discretion of the presiding 
officer. 
(2) Copies of Statement. The speaker may
provide a written copy of his statement to the
Secretary Board Assistant 24 hours in advance
of the hearing.
(3) Public Testimony. At or before the hearing at
which oral comments from the public are to be
received, the State Board or other hearing body
shall determine the total amount of time that will
be devoted to hearing such oral comments, and
may, at its discretion, determine the time to be
allotted to each person or to each side of an
issue.

20131. Waiver 
of presiding 

officer 

At any time upon a showing of good cause, the 
presiding officer of the hearing may waive the 
requirements of Sections 20130. 

No change needed 

20134. Public 
Records 

(a) Inspection of Public Records.
(1) Inspection of the original copy of any public
record of the State Board (as defined in
Government Code section 6252(d) and 6254) will
be permitted during regular office hours of the
State Library, Library-Courts Building,
Sacramento.
(2) Requests to inspect such records should be
filed with the Secretary at least five working days
prior to the requested date in order to insure
availability.
(3) Requests for inspection should be as specific
as possible in identifying the records desired.
(4) Original copies of public records shall not be
removed from the office the Secretary.

(a) Inspection of Public Records.
(1) Inspection of the original copy of any public
record of the State Board (as defined in
Government Code section 6252(d) and 6254)
will be permitted during regular office hours of
the State Library, Stanley Mosk Library-Courts
Building, 914 Capitol Mall, Sacramento
California 95814.
(2) Requests to inspect such records should be
filed with the Secretary Board Assistant at least
five working days prior to the requested date in
order to insure availability.
(3) Requests for inspection should be as specific
as possible in identifying the records desired.
(4) Original copies of public records shall not be
removed from the office the Secretary Stanley
Mosk Library-Courts Building.

Section updated to remove 
references to the Secretary 
and replace them with the 
Board Assistant or other 
appropriate information. 
Updated language to include 
the address of the library. 

(b) Obtaining Copies of Public Records.
(1) Requests to obtain copies of public records
may be made in person or by mail to the office of
the Secretary.
(2) Such requests should be as specific as
possible in identifying the records desired.
(3) Certification of the authenticity of copies may
be obtained from the Secretary.

(b) Obtaining Copies of Public Records.
(1) Requests to obtain copies of public records
may be made in person or by mail to the office
of the Secretary Board Assistant at California
Library Services Board, California State Library,
P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001.
(2) Such requests should be as specific as
possible in identifying the records desired.

Section updated to remove 
references to the Secretary 
and replace them with the 
Board Assistant or other 
appropriate information. 
Updated language to include 
the address of the library. 



(3) Certification of the authenticity of copies may
be obtained from the Secretary Board Assistant.

Article 3: General Provisions for Systems 

20135. System 
Budget 

Request and 
Plan of Service 

Each System participating in programs of the Act 
shall adopt a System Plan of Service and prepare 
a budget for carrying out the objectives of the 
Plan. After approval by the Administrative Council, 
the System budget request and Plan of Service 
shall be annually submitted to the State Board by 
June 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding 
the fiscal year for which funds are requested. 
(a) Plan of Service. The annual Plan of Service
shall describe in the form and manner prescribed
by the State Board how the System proposes to
carry out the purposes of the Act, and it shall
include information relative to the following
statements:
(1) A population profile. This shall be no more
than five years old, and shall use the most current
data available.
(2) A description of the users and the non-users of
the services of the members of the System.
(3) A description of the services provided by the
System.
(4) A list of the major unmet information needs of
the population of the System area.
(5) A plan for the use of CLSA funds, listing each
of the services in (3) above which the System
plans to maintain or improve, and each of the
unmet needs in (4) above which the System plans
to address. Under each such service to be
provided, the plan shall include:
(A) The user benefit expected.
(B) A brief description of the method by which the
benefit will be provided.
(b) Budget. The System budget shall document in
the form and manner prescribed by the State
Board the dollar amounts to be expended for
providing each System service or addressing
each unmet need.
(c) In addition, each System shall file by
September 1 of each year a report, in the form
and manner prescribed by the State Board for the
fiscal year just ended, that describes actual

Each System participating in programs of the 
Act shall adopt a System Plan of Service and 
prepare a budget for carrying out the objectives 
of the Plan. After approval by the Administrative 
Council, the System budget request and Plan of 
Service shall be annually submitted to the State 
Board by June 1 of the fiscal year immediately 
preceding the fiscal year for which funds are 
requested. 
(a) Plan of Service. The annual Plan of Service
shall describe in the form and manner
prescribed by the State Board how the System
proposes to carry out the purposes of the Act,
and it shall include information relative to the
following statements:
(1) A population profile. This shall be no more
than five three years old, and shall use the most
current data available.
(2) A description of the users and the non-users
of the services of the members of the System.
(3) A description of the services provided by the
System.
(4) A list of the major unmet information needs
of the population of the System area.
(5) A plan for the use of CLSA funds, listing
each of the services(s) in (3) above which the
System plans to maintain or improve, and each
of the unmet needs in (4) above which the
System plans to address. Under each such
service to be provided, the plan shall include:
(A) The user benefit expected.
(B) A brief description of the method by which
the benefit will be provided.
(b) Budget. The System budget shall document
in the form and manner prescribed by the State
Board the dollar amounts to be expended for
providing each System service or addressing
each unmet need.
(c) In addition, each System shall file by
September 1 of each year a report, in the form
and manner prescribed by the State Board for

Amend language to bring this 
section up to date with what is 
required from cooperative 
systems. 



20135 Cont. 

accomplishments and expenditures of the System 
program, compares them with the planned 
accomplishments and expenditures for the fiscal 
year reported and includes other appropriate 
commentary. 

the fiscal year just ended, that describes actual 
accomplishments and expenditures of the 
System program, compares them with the 
planned accomplishments and expenditures for 
the fiscal year reported and includes other 
appropriate commentary. 

20136. System 
Administrative 
Policy manual 

Each System participating in programs of the Act 
must develop by July 1, 1979, a System 
Administrative Policy Manual which shall include 
along with any other items the System finds 
useful, its policies for: 
(a) Receiving and accounting for state and federal
funds on behalf of the System.
(b) Employment of System personnel.
(c) Executing the System programs approved by
the State Board. Policy manuals shall be in
conformity with the California Library Services Act.
Policy manuals shall be kept current

No change needed 

20140. System 
Administration 

(a) Cooperative Library Systems. The System
Administrative Council shall consist of the head
librarian of each jurisdiction in the system. In case
of the head librarian's absence, an official
delegate or alternate may vote in place of the
head librarian. It shall have regular meetings,
open and accessible to the public as required in
the Ralph M. Brown Act (Govt. Code Section
54950-54961). Information about the meetings of
the Council shall be disseminated in such a way
and in such languages as the Council determines
will most effectively inform the public of the
Council's activities. The Council shall provide for
the position of a Council Chair-person, and for
rotation of that position among the Council
members.

No change needed 

Article 4: System Reference 

20158. 
Allowance 

Each System shall receive an annual allowance 
based on the number of member libraries of the 
System and on the total population served by that 
System. The State Board shall periodically, and at 
least annually, review and approve the 
membership and population figures, and 
determine an appropriate funding formula which 
shall be uniform statewide. 

No change needed 

Article 5: Consolidations and Affiliations 



20180. Public 
Library 

Consolidations 

(a) If any two or more contiguous jurisdictions
operating public libraries wish to consolidate their
libraries into a single library agency and receive
establishment grants under Education Code
Section 18732, a joint notice of intent signed by
the head librarians of the consolidating
jurisdictions must be filed with the State Board no
later than September 1 of the fiscal year
immediately preceding the effective date for
consolidation. Authorizations to consolidate,
approved by the governing body of each
consolidating jurisdiction, and a joint plan for
provision of consolidated services, signed by the
head librarians, must be filed with the State Board
no later than June 1 of the fiscal year immediately
preceding the effective date of the consolidation.

(a) If any two or more contiguous jurisdictions
operating public libraries wish to consolidate
their libraries into a single library agency and
receive establishment grants under Education
Code Section 18732, a joint notice of intent
signed by the head librarians of the
consolidating jurisdictions must be filed with the
State Board no later than September 1 of the
fiscal year immediately preceding the effective
date for consolidation. Authorizations to
consolidate, approved by the governing body of
each consolidating jurisdiction, and a joint plan
for provision of consolidated services, signed by
the head librarians, must be filed with the State
Board no later than June 1 of the fiscal year
immediately preceding the effective date of the
consolidation.

Remove reference to the term 
“contiguous”. Several Board 
members at the last meeting 
said that in the 21st century 
they no longer felt it was 
necessary. 
Remove language referring to 
consolidation grants and the 
associated code section 
because that section was 
removed from statute since 
state grants were no longer 
available for public library 
consolidation  

(b) The State Board's approval of requests for
library consolidation funds under Education Code
Section 18732 shall be based on its determination
that the consolidation provides a more effective
means of carrying out the purposes of the Act
than would be the case if the consolidation did not
occur.

(b) The State Board's approval of requests for
library consolidation funds under Education
Code Section 18732 shall be based on its
determination that the consolidation provides a
more effective means of carrying out the
purposes of the Act than would be the case if the
consolidation did not occur.

Remove language referring to 
consolidation funds and the 
associated code section 
because that section was 
removed from statute since 
state grants were no longer 
available for public library 
consolidation  

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of
the consolidating jurisdictions to receive funds
under other provisions of the Act, a public library
consolidation approved by the State Board will be
considered effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal
year immediately following the fiscal year in which
the consolidation authorizations are filed.

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of
the consolidating jurisdictions to receive funds
under other provisions of the Act, a A public
library consolidation approved by the State
Board will be considered effective beginning July
1 of the fiscal year immediately following the
fiscal year in which the consolidation
authorizations are filed.

Remove language referring to 
consolidation funds because 
state grants are no longer 
available for public library 
consolidation so that section 
was removed from statute  

20185. System 
Consolidations 

(a)If any two or more Systems whose borders are
contiguous wish to consolidate and receive a
consolidation grant under Education Code Section
18751, a joint notice of intent, approved by the
Administrative Councils of the consolidating
systems, must be filed with the State Board no
later than September 1 of the fiscal year
immediately preceding the effective date of
consolidation. System participation authorizations
approved by the jurisdictional governing body of
each of the System's member libraries, and a new
system plan of Service and budget, must be filed

(a) If any two or more Systems whose borders
are contiguous wish to consolidate and receive a
consolidation grant under Education Code
Section 18751, a joint notice of intent, approved
by the Administrative Councils of the
consolidating systems, must be filed with the
State Board no later than September 1 of the
fiscal year immediately preceding the effective
date of consolidation. System participation
authorizations approved by the jurisdictional
governing body of each of the System's member
libraries, and a new system plan of Service and

Remove reference to the term 
“contiguous”. Several Board 
members at the last meeting 
said that in the 21st century 
they no longer felt it was 
necessary. 
Remove language referring to 
consolidation grants and the 
associated code section 
because that section was 
removed from statute since 
state grants were no longer 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20185 Cont. 

with the State Board no later than June 1 of the 
fiscal year immediately preceding the effective 
date of consolidation. If the State Board approves 
the consolidation funding request, a grant shall be 
awarded for each of the two fiscal years following 
the fiscal year in which the filing is made. 
 

budget, must be filed with the State Board no 
later than June 1 of the fiscal year immediately 
preceding the effective date of consolidation. If 
the State Board approves the consolidation 
funding request, a grant shall be awarded for 
each of the two fiscal years following the fiscal 
year in which the filing is made. 

available for system 
consolidation 

(b) The State Board's approval of requests for 
System consolidation funds under Education 
Code Section 19851 shall be based on its 
determination that the consolidation provides a 
more effective way of carrying out the purposes of 
the Act than would be the case if the consolidation 
did not occur. 

(b) The State Board's approval of requests for 
System consolidation funds under Education 
Code Section 19851 shall be based on its 
determination that the consolidation provides a 
more effective way of carrying out the purposes 
of the Act than would be the case if the 
consolidation did not occur. 

Remove language referring to 
consolidation funds and the 
associated code section 
because that section was 
removed from statute since 
state grants were no longer 
available for system 
consolidation 

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of 
the consolidating systems to receive funds under 
other provisions of the Act, a system consolidation 
approved by the State Board will be considered 
effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year 
immediately following the fiscal year in which the 
consolidation authorizations are filed. 

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of 
the consolidating systems to receive funds under 
other provisions of the Act, a A system 
consolidation approved by the State Board will 
be considered effective beginning July 1 of the 
fiscal year immediately following the fiscal year 
in which the consolidation authorizations are 
filed. 

Remove language referring to 
consolidation funds because 
state grants are no longer 
available for system 
consolidation so that section 
was removed from statute  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20190. Public 
Library 

Affiliation with 
an Existing 

System. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(a) If any jurisdiction, not previously a member of 
any System, joins a System with borders 
contiguous to the jurisdiction, and the System 
wishes to receive an affiliation grant under 
Education Code Section 18752, the administrative 
body of the System shall file a notice of intent and 
the jurisdictional governing body of the affiliating 
library shall file an affiliation authorization with the 
State Board. 

(a) If any jurisdiction, not previously a member of 
any System, joins a System with borders 
contiguous to the jurisdiction, and the System 
wishes to receive an affiliation grant under 
Education Code Section 18752, the 
administrative body of the System shall file a 
notice of intent and the jurisdictional governing 
body of the affiliating library shall file an 
affiliation authorization with the State Board. 

Remove reference to the term 
“contiguous”. Several Board 
members at the last meeting 
said that in the 21st century 
they no longer felt it was 
necessary. 
Remove language referring to 
affiliation grants and the 
associated code section 
because that section was 
removed from statute since 
state grants were no longer 
available for affiliation with a 
system 

(b) The State Board's approval of requests for 
affiliation shall be based on its determination that 
the proposed membership is at least as effective a 
way of carrying out the purposes of the Act as 
would be the case if the membership were with a 
System other than the one joined. 

No change needed  

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of 
the affiliating public library or system to receive 

(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of 
the affiliating public library or system to receive 

Remove unnecessary 
language 



20190 Cont. 

funds under other provisions of the Act, an 
affiliation will be considered effective beginning 
July 1 of the fiscal year immediately following the 
fiscal year in which the affiliation authorization is 
filed. 

funds under other provisions of the Act, aAn 
affiliation will be considered effective beginning 
July 1 of the fiscal year immediately following the 
fiscal year in which the affiliation authorization is 
filed. 

20192. Public 
Library 

Withdrawal 
from System 
Membership. 

(a)If a member library does not retain its
membership in any System participating in the
programs of the Act, the System shall notify the
State Board no later than three months preceding
the beginning of the fiscal year in which the
withdrawal takes effect.
(b) Any System failing to provide the notice
required in Section 20192(a) may be required to
return to the State Board any funds allocated to it
on the basis of the withdrawing library's
membership, if the Chief Executive Officer
determines that such funds would not have been
allocated had the required notice been provided.

No changes needed 

20195. Public 
Library 

Change of 
System 

Membership. 

If any jurisdiction at present or previously a 
member of a System which has received state 
funds pursuant to that jurisdiction's membership, 
wishes to join another System instead, and if the 
library and the System it proposes to join wish to 
receive state funds pursuant to that jurisdiction's 
membership under Article 5 of the Act, the 
governing body of the jurisdiction and the 
administrative body of the System it proposes to 
join shall file a joint notice of intent with the State 
Board. The notice shall be filed by September 1 of 
the year preceding any July 1 of the first full fiscal 
year for which state funds pursuant to the new 
membership are requested. The State Board shall 
approve all appropriate state fund payments to the 
System under Article 5 of the Act only if it 
determines that the new membership results in a 
more effective statewide method of carrying out 
the purposes of the Act than would be the case if 
the jurisdiction retained or resumed the System 
membership it had previously. If the State Board 
does not make such a determination in favor of 
the new membership, then the new System's 
funding under Article 5 of the Act shall be 
calculated on the basis of the System comprising 
only those public library jurisdictions whose 
membership is approved. 

No change needed 



Article 6. Direct Loans 

20200. Scope 

Except where otherwise specified, the regulations 
contained in the Article apply both to Education 
Code Section 18731 (Universal Borrowing) and 
Education Code Section 18743 (Equal Access) of 
the Act. 

No change needed 

20203. 
Residency 

For purposes of this Article, each resident of the 
State shall be deemed to have a single legal 
residency, which shall entitle him/her to resident 
library services of the jurisdiction in which he/she 
resides, and such services shall not be 
reimbursable under this Article. In determining the 
places of residency, the following rules as 
excepted from Government Code section 244 shall 
be observed: 
(a) It is the place where one remains when not
called elsewhere for labor or other special or
temporary purpose, and to which he or she returns
in seasons of repose.
(b) There can be only one residence.
(c) A residence cannot be lost until another is
gained.
(d) The residence of the parent with whom an
unmarried minor child maintains his or her place of
abode is the residence of such unmarried minor
child.
(e) A married person shall have the right to retain
his or her legal residence in the State
notwithstanding the legal residence or domicile of
his or her spouse.

No change needed 

20204. Loans 
to Eligible 

Non-Resident 
Borrowers 

(a) Public libraries participating in direct loan
programs under this Act, shall not charge any fee
to non-residents for borrowing privileges.
(b) Reserves and interlibrary loan requests shall be
accepted by the participating public library under
the same rules and policies applied to local
residents.
(c) All procedures governing registration of
borrowers shall apply equally to residents and non-
residents.
(d) All materials normally loaned by a participating
public library are available for loan to non-residents
under the same rules and policies applied to local
residents.

No change needed 



 
 
 
 
 
 

20204 Cont. 

(e) All loan and return rules governing circulation 
apply equally to residents and non-residents. If 
overdue materials are returned to a library other 
than the library from which borrowed, fines may be 
paid to and retained by the library to which the 
return is made. Payments for lost or damaged 
material are payable to the lending library, and are 
to be forwarded by the library to which payment is 
made. 
(f) Special loan privileges extended by the 
participating public library to teachers and other 
groups within its jurisdiction need not be extended 
beyond the jurisdiction. 

20205. Non-
Resident 
Borrower 
Eligibility 

An eligible non-resident borrower must be a 
resident of California, 
(a) Hold a valid borrowers card issued by his/her 
home library, or 
(b) Hold or obtain a valid non-resident borrowers 
card issued by any California public library, or 
(c) Hold a valid state borrowers identification card 
issued by any California public library; 
(d) And present any additional identification 
normally required by a library of its own residents. 
(e) Nothing in this section shall prevent the issuing 
of a non-resident card or charging of fees to a 
resident of another state, except that loans to such 
non-residents shall not be counted as reimbursable 
transactions. 

No change needed  

20206. Valid 
Identification 

The lending library must be supplied with the name 
and current address of the borrower and the name 
of the library jurisdiction in which the borrower 
maintains his or her legal residency. 

No change needed  

20210. 
Exchange of 
Local Funds 
Prohibited 

Libraries participating in direct loan programs 
authorized by the Act, shall not charge other 
jurisdictions for borrowing privileges extended to 
their residents, except that contracts for loan or 
other services provided within a defined 
geographic area by a library jurisdiction to 
residents of another jurisdiction not served by their 
library jurisdiction are not prohibited. Persons 
served under such contracts are to be registered 
as residents of the jurisdiction providing the 
contract service. 

No change needed  

 
 

It is the intent of this Article that local service 
standards be maintained: 

No change needed  



20211. 
Maintenance 

of Local 
Service 

Standards 

(a) Extension of borrowing privileges by libraries to
non-residents, should not adversely affect the level
of service provided by the home library to its own
residents.
(b) No library jurisdiction may reduce or fail to
maintain or improve the level of service to its
residents for the purpose of placing undue reliance
on the library services of neighboring library
jurisdictions.

20215. 
Reimburseme

nt for Net 
Direct Loans 

Loan of a library material of any type by a 
participating public library to an eligible nonresident 
borrower shall result in reimbursement from the 
state under Education Code Sections 18731 and 
18743 to the extent that the number of such loans 
exceeds the number of items borrowed by that 
library jurisdiction's residents from other 
participating public libraries, during a specific 
reporting period. 

Loan of a library material of any type by a 
participating public library to an eligible 
nonresident borrower shall result in 
reimbursement from the state under Education 
Code Sections 18731 and 18743 to the extent 
that the number of such loans exceeds the 
number of items borrowed by that library 
jurisdiction's residents from other participating 
public libraries, during a specific reporting 
period. 

Remove this section because 
the reimbursements specified 
are no long funded and all 
reference has been removed 
from Statute. 

20216. 
Reporting 

Requirements 

To obtain reimbursement, participating public 
libraries shall provide reports in the form and 
manner, and for the period required. Reports must 
be submitted by established deadlines. Records in 
support of claims for state funds must be 
maintained for four years. 

To obtain reimbursement, participating public 
libraries shall provide reports in the form and 
manner, and for the period required. Reports 
must be submitted by established deadlines. 
Records in support of claims for state funds 
must be maintained for four years. 

Remove this section because 
the reimbursements specified 
are no long funded and all 
reference has been removed 
from Statute. 

20217. 
Reimbursable 

Costs 

Reimbursable costs, expressed on a unit basis, are 
those handling costs incurred by the lending library 
in processing a direct loan to a non-resident. The 
State Board shall periodically review, at least once 
a year, and approve such cost data, but the 
reimbursement rate, as adopted, shall be uniform 
statewide. 

Reimbursable costs, expressed on a unit basis, 
are those handling costs incurred by the lending 
library in processing a direct loan to a non-
resident. The State Board shall periodically 
review, at least once a year, and approve such 
cost data, but the reimbursement rate, as 
adopted, shall be uniform statewide. 

Remove this section because 
the reimbursements specified 
are no long funded and all 
reference has been removed 
from Statute. 

Article 7. Communication and Delivery 

20235. 
Definition of 
Reporting 

Terms 

In complying with the reporting requirements of 
Section 20135 each system shall report the 
following items using the following definitions with 
respect to the communication and delivery 
programs: 

In complying with the reporting requirements of 
Section 20135 each system shall report the 
following items using the following definitions 
with respect to the communication, and delivery, 
and resource sharing programs: 

Revise language to include 
“resource sharing” to reflect 
changes to statute. 

(a) “Message” means the transmission of a
discrete body of information from one library to
another by means of a telecommunications system
to a single individual or institutional addressee.
Many separate items of information may be
contained in a single message. The same body of

(a) “Message” means the transmission of a
discrete body of information from one library to
another by means of a telecommunications
system to a single individual or institutional
addressee. Many separate items of information
may be contained in a single message. The



20235 Cont. 

information transmitted to several addressees at 
physically distinct locations constitutes several, not 
one, messages. Written information physically 
conveyed by delivery van, U.S. Mail, or other 
courier services is not considered a “message” for 
communications and delivery reporting purposes. 

same body of information transmitted to several 
addressees at physically distinct locations 
constitutes several, not one, messages. Written 
information physically conveyed by delivery van, 
U.S. Mail, or other courier services is not 
considered a “message” for communications and 
delivery reporting purposes. 

(b) “Item delivered” means the physical removal of
a discrete item from one library to another by
means of a delivery van, U.S. Mail, courier service,
or other delivery system Reasonable judgement
shall be exercised in determining particular “items”
status (e.g., a carton containing 10,000 brochures
is one -not 10,000 items).

(b) “Item delivered” means the physical removal
of a discrete item from one library to another by
means of a delivery van, U.S. Mail, courier
service, or other delivery system or the delivery
of digital materials. Reasonable judgement shall
be exercised in determining particular “items”
status (e.g., a carton containing 10,000
brochures is one -not 10,000 items).

Revise language to add 
reference to delivery of digital 
materials to reflect changes to 
statute 

(c)“Frequency/schedule of delivery service” means 
that specific (daily, twice weekly, weekly, etc.) 
frequency of delivery service received by member 
libraries. If not all members receive the same 
frequency of delivery service the number of 
member libraries served on each differing schedule 
must be reported. 

No change needed 

(d) “Other” means that when a system employs
communications or delivery methods other than
those specifically cited on the standard reporting
forms, the system must specify the method(s)
employed and separately account for the message
or delivery volume for each such method.

(d) “Other” means that when a system employs
communications, or delivery methods, or shared
resources, other than those specifically cited on
the standard reporting forms, the system must
specify the method(s) employed and separately
account for the message or delivery volume for
each such method. The System must describe
the communication, delivery method, or shared
resource and the outcome of providing it. 
procured by one (1) or more participating 
libraries to be shared by three (3) or more 
participating libraries, accessible for use by 
participating libraries. 

Revise language to add 
reference to shared resources 
to reflect changes to statute. 

20236. 
Inclusion 

Unless otherwise prohibited by Education Codes 
18745-18746, intra-system communication, 
delivery and resource sharing includes the 
acquisition or maintenance of technology or 
digital transmission products required to locate, 
create, or make accessible digital, virtual, or 
electronic material, which may also include 
telecommunication equipment and its installation 
along with monthly service fees. 

Language required clarifying 
that funds could also be used 
for products or fees necessary 
to facilitate the 
communication, and delivery 
of print, digital or other 
information materials or the 
sharing of resources. This 
section also includes 
reference to the statute 



language on assessment. 

Article 8. Interlibrary Loans 

20251. Scope 

The regulations in this article refer to interlibrary 
loan activity covered under the provisions of 
Education Code section 18744 (i.e. System 
interlibrary loan) and 18765 (i.e. Statewide loan). 
 

The regulations in this article refer to interlibrary 
loan activity covered under the provisions of 
Education Code section 18744 (i.e. System 
interlibrary loan) and 18765 (i.e. Statewide loan). 

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 

20252. Intent 

It is the intent of this program of the Act to support 
the sharing of library resources through interlibrary 
loan. Library materials needed by a library user 
and not available in that user's library will be made 
available to the user via interlibrary loan. 

It is the intent of this program of the Act to 
support the sharing of library resources through 
interlibrary loan. Library materials needed by a 
library user and not available in that user's 
library will be made available to the user via 
interlibrary loan. 

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20255. 
Eligibility 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(a) Public Libraries. Any public library as defined in 
Education Code section 18710(l), which has been 
authorized by its jurisdiction to participate in 
programs of the Act must participate in the 
interlibrary loan programs of the Act. 
(b) Libraries Other Than Public Libraries. To be 
eligible to participate these libraries must be 
authorized by their own administrative authorities 
to do so and must file the proper notice with the 
State Board as outlined in section 20105(c). 
Further, a library, other than a public library, may 
be eligible for a reimbursement only for a loan to 
an eligible public library. Libraries, other than public 
libraries, which can become eligible for 
participation in the interlibrary loan reimbursement 
programs of the Act include only the following: 
(1) Libraries operated by public schools or school 
districts. These libraries include only those defined 
in Education Code section 18710(m). 
(2) Libraries operated by public colleges or 
universities. These include those academic 
libraries (Education Code section 18710(a)) which 
are funded primarily with public funds. Academic 
libraries potentially eligible for these programs 
include the libraries of the University of California, 
of the State University and College System, and of 
the California Community Colleges. 
(3) Libraries operated by public agencies for 
institutionalized persons. Libraries for the 
institutionalized include hospital, correctional, and 
residential treatment facility libraries which are 

a) Public Libraries. Any public library as defined 
in Education Code section 18710(l), which has 
been authorized by its jurisdiction to participate 
in programs of the Act must participate in the 
interlibrary loan programs of the Act. 
(b) Libraries Other Than Public Libraries. To be 
eligible to participate these libraries must be 
authorized by their own administrative 
authorities to do so and must file the proper 
notice with the State Board as outlined in section 
20105(c). Further, a library, other than a public 
library, may be eligible for a reimbursement only 
for a loan to an eligible public library. Libraries, 
other than public libraries, which can become 
eligible for participation in the interlibrary loan 
reimbursement programs of the Act include only 
the following: 
(1) Libraries operated by public schools or 
school districts. These libraries include only 
those defined in Education Code section 
18710(m). 
(2) Libraries operated by public colleges or 
universities. These include those academic 
libraries (Education Code section 18710(a)) 
which are funded primarily with public funds. 
Academic libraries potentially eligible for these 
programs include the libraries of the University 
of California, of the State University and College 
System, and of the California Community 
Colleges. 
(3) Libraries operated by public agencies for 

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 



20255. Cont. 

funded primarily with public funds (i.e. local, state, 
or federal tax monies). 
(4) Libraries operated by nonprofit private
educational or research institutions. These libraries
include those operated by private colleges and
universities which maintain nonprofit status under
provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Service
or the California Franchise Tax laws. These
libraries also include those operated by private
companies which are primarily devoted to
educational or research purposes and which
maintain nonprofit status under provisions of the
federal Internal Revenue Service or the California
Franchise Tax laws. Such libraries may be required
by the State Board to furnish proof of their nonprofit
status in addition to any other required notices and
forms.

institutionalized persons. Libraries for the 
institutionalized include hospital, correctional, 
and residential treatment facility libraries which 
are funded primarily with public funds (i.e. local, 
state, or federal tax monies). 
(4) Libraries operated by nonprofit private
educational or research institutions. These
libraries include those operated by private
colleges and universities which maintain
nonprofit status under provisions of the federal
Internal Revenue Service or the California
Franchise Tax laws. These libraries also include
those operated by private companies which are
primarily devoted to educational or research
purposes and which maintain nonprofit status
under provisions of the federal Internal Revenue
Service or the California Franchise Tax laws.
Such libraries may be required by the State
Board to furnish proof of their nonprofit status in
addition to any other required notices and forms.

20257. 
Reimbursable 
Transaction. 

An interlibrary transaction can result in 
reimbursement under Education Code sections 
18744 and 18765 if it consists of the loan of a 
library material of any type which is collected by a 
library or if it consists of the provision of a copy in 
lieu of loan of a library material, from any eligible, 
participating lending library to any eligible public 
library as defined in section 20255 and in 
Education Code sections 18744 and 18765. 

An interlibrary transaction can result in 
reimbursement under Education Code sections 
18744 and 18765 if it consists of the loan of a 
library material of any type which is collected by 
a library or if it consists of the provision of a copy 
in lieu of loan of a library material, from any 
eligible, participating lending library to any 
eligible public library as defined in section 20255 
and in Education Code sections 18744 and 
18765. 

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 

20260. 
Reimbursable 

Costs. 

Reimbursable costs are only those handling costs 
which a lending library incurs in filling a 
successfully completed interlibrary loan 
transaction. The State Board shall periodically, and 
at least annually, review and approve the cost data 
and determine an appropriate funding formula 
which shall be uniform statewide. 

Reimbursable costs are only those handling 
costs which a lending library incurs in filling a 
successfully completed interlibrary loan 
transaction. The State Board shall periodically, 
and at least annually, review and approve the 
cost data and determine an appropriate funding 
formula which shall be uniform statewide. 

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 

20265. 
Participation 

Records 

Participating libraries, both public and nonpublic, 
shall conform to the following requirements: 
(a) Reporting. To obtain reimbursement a library
shall provide by the deadline reporting date, all
required reports of its interlibrary loan transactions
in an established form and manner determined by
the Board for the period required.
(b) Audit. For audit purposes, a record of the

Participating libraries, both public and nonpublic, 
shall conform to the following requirements: 
(a) Reporting. To obtain reimbursement a library
shall provide by the deadline reporting date, all
required reports of its interlibrary loan
transactions in an established form and manner
determined by the Board for the period required.
(b) Audit. For audit purposes, a record of the

Remove this section because 
all reference to the program 
has been removed from 
Statute. 



20265 Cont. 

interlibrary loan transactions must be maintained 
for four years. 
(c) Fees. A library providing an item for interlibrary
loan may not collect a handling fee on a
transaction for which that library claims an
interlibrary loan reimbursement under provisions of
this article. A photocopy fee, exclusive of
photocopy handling charge, may be collected.
(d) Direct Loan Availability. Participating libraries
shall make maximum use of available bibliographic
access tools to refer users to borrow directly from
nearby libraries where requested material is easily
available, rather than to process an interlibrary
loan.
(e) Responsibility for Borrowed Materials. The
borrowing library shall be responsible for all items it
borrows, and if such item is lost or damaged by the
library or its users, the borrowing library may be
required by the lending library to make restitution
for the item.
(f) Adherence to Standards. All participating
libraries shall attempt to follow the standards
described in the “California Library Services Act
Interlibrary Loan Standards,” which is hereby
incorporated by reference. The State Board may
withhold reimbursements to libraries which
continually fail to meet the standards of
performance.

interlibrary loan transactions must be maintained 
for four years. 
(c) Fees. A library providing an item for
interlibrary loan may not collect a handling fee
on a transaction for which that library claims an
interlibrary loan reimbursement under provisions
of this article. A photocopy fee, exclusive of
photocopy handling charge, may be collected.
(d) Direct Loan Availability. Participating libraries
shall make maximum use of available
bibliographic access tools to refer users to
borrow directly from nearby libraries where
requested material is easily available, rather
than to process an interlibrary loan.
(e) Responsibility for Borrowed Materials. The
borrowing library shall be responsible for all
items it borrows, and if such item is lost or
damaged by the library or its users, the
borrowing library may be required by the lending
library to make restitution for the item.
(f) Adherence to Standards. All participating
libraries shall attempt to follow the standards
described in the “California Library Services Act
Interlibrary Loan Standards,” which is hereby
incorporated by reference. The State Board may
withhold reimbursements to libraries which
continually fail to meet the standards of
performance.



CALIFORNIA LIBRARY SERVICES REGULATIONS 
(Code of California Regulations, Title 5, Division 2, Chapter 1, Subchapter 2, 

Articles 1-8, Sec. 20101-20265) 

SUBCHAPTER 2. CALIFORNIA LIBRARY SERVICES 

ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

§ 20100. Scope.
The regulations contained in this chapter shall implement the California Library Services
Act, Chapter 4 of Part 11 of Division 1 of Title 1 of the Education Code, beginning with
section 18700 thereof.

§ 20101. General Provisions.
(a) The State Board finds that it is in the best interests of the citizens of California and
best fulfills the purposes of the Act (Chapter 4, part 11, Division 1, Title 1, Education
Code) that libraries participating in any one program of the Act participate in all
applicable programs of the Act.
(b) Any public library participating in programs of the Act shall, under section
18724(g)(e) of the Act, provide access to the library's bibliographic and location data
upon request from the State Board for inclusion in the appropriate database established
by the State Board in implementation of the Act. The access shall be provided in such
form, manner, and frequency as are agreed upon between the State Board and the
library.
(c) Funding distributed according to California Library Services Act provisions may not
be used to support other than library purposes. To comply with Education Code Section
18703(c), the funding may not be used to replace local funds for library services, but
only to supplement the local funding to further the purposes of the Act.
(d) A public library participating in any program of the Act must participate in the direct
loan transaction reporting, whether the library participates in either of the direct loan
programs or not. During the designated transaction reporting periods all CLSA
participating libraries must record all direct loans made to eligible residents of other
jurisdictions whose libraries are participating in the direct loan programs, as long as the
handling costs of paid loans are not being covered in whole, or in part, by CLSA funds
in addition to direct loan reimbursement funds, LSTA funds, or by funds provided by the
jurisdiction of the eligible non-resident.

§ 20103. Waiver of Filing Date.
The State Board may waive or reset any filing dates required by these regulations, if the
State Board determines that so doing would best serve the purposes of the Act.

§ 20104. Eligibility to Participate.
Funding under any program of the Act shall be provided only to libraries which are

physically and administratively located within California and which meet any additional
eligibility criteria required for specific program participation.

Exhibit C 



§ 20105. General Requirements for Participation.
(a) Public Library Participation Authorization. Every public library wishing to participate
in any of the programs of the Act must file with the State Board an authorization by the
jurisdictional governing body for that library's participation. The authorization must be in
the form and manner and be filed by the date specified by the State Board.
(b) Public Library Certification. Upon the authorization by the jurisdictional governing
body, the head librarian of each public library wishing to participate in the programs of
the Act must file a certification of compliance with provisions of the Act. This certification
shall remain in effect until the library jurisdiction no longer complies with the stated
provisions. The certification shall specifically include compliance with Education Code
Sections 18703(c) and 18724(e)(d). If the library or jurisdiction is no longer in
compliance, the head librarian shall notify the Board no later than thirty days following
such a change in compliance status.
(c) Participation by Libraries other than Public Libraries. The head librarian of such
library eligible to participate in any of the programs of the Act and wishing to do so must
file with the State Board a notice of its intent to participate and of its agreement to the
provisions of the Act and administrative regulations as they apply to the library's
participation. This notice shall be filed in such form and manner as specified by the
State Board by September 1 of the fiscal year preceding active participation. The
agreement shall remain in effect until rescinded by the State Board or the library.
(d) Reports, Applications, and Claims. Any budget documents, reports, applications,
and claims for funds pursuant to this Act shall be submitted by participating libraries in
such form and manner and by the dates established by the State Board.
(e) No public library participating in the programs of the Act may charge its residents, as
defined in section 20203, any fee to obtain a library card nor for services for which it is
receiving reimbursement under the California Library Services Act.
(f) The California Library Services Board believes that it is in the best interests of the
citizens of California that the information services of public libraries be provided free of
charge.

§ 20106. Uniform Population Statistics.
Any funds distributed per capita shall be awarded using the most recently published and
available combined estimate for cities and counties from the California State
Department of Finance.

§ 20107. Definitions.
(a) The definitions concerning California Library Services Act components set forth in
Education Code Section 18710 are hereby incorporated by reference, with additions as
noted in subsection (b) of this section. The definitions incorporated by reference are
accurate to California Statutes 1979.
(b) Additions to the regulations hereby incorporated are as follows:
(1) “Board Assistant” means the Administrative Assistant II position designated to the
Board
(1)(2) “Chief Executive Officer” means the State Librarian.
(2)(3) “President” means the elected President of the Board.



(3)(4) “Public library affiliation” means the formal and legal joining to a System (i.e. the 
obtaining of full System membership status) by a public library not previously a member 
of any System. A Public Library Affiliation is not considered complete until all necessary 
local System and jurisdictional agreements have been approved and are in force, and 
the State Board has approved the affiliation. 
(4)(5) “Public library consolidation” means the formal and legal joining of the functions, 
services, operations, etc. of two or more formerly independent public libraries into a 
single public library, as defined in Education Code Section 18710 (f). A Public Library 
Consolidation is not considered complete until all necessary local jurisdictional 
agreements have been approved and are in force, and the State Board has approved 
the consolidation (see Administrative Code Section 20180, below). 
(6) “Resource Sharing” refers to the allowed use or application of a resource created,
purchased or leased by one (1) or more participating libraries’ with three (3) or more 
participating libraries.  
(5) Reference collection. Reference collection means a collection of materials, both print
and non-print, designed primarily for use in answering requests for information.
(6) Reference specialist. Reference specialist means a trained and experienced
librarian who can provide reference referral services and who can also understand how
to approach the community in general and the undeserved in particular, together with
appropriate skills in analysis of information needs and design and implementation of
reference programs responsive to those needs. A reference specialist may be employed
in providing any of the services for which he/she is qualified.
(7) “Secretary” means the Executive Secretary of the Board.
(8)(7) “State Board” means the California Library Services Board.
(9)(8) “System consolidation” means the formal and legal joining of geographic service
areas, functions, operations, etc. of two or more formerly separate Systems into a single
Cooperative Library System, as defined in Education Code Section 18710 (c). A System
Consolidation is not considered complete until all necessary local System consolidation
agreements have been approved and are in force, and until the State Board has
approved the consolidation (see Administrative Code Section 20185, below).
(10)(9) “Valid non-resident borrowers card” means a card that is issued free of charge
by a public library to a resident of another jurisdiction which maintains a public library,
as long as such card meets all of the legal requirements of the issuing library.
(11)(10) “Vice-President” means the elected Vice-President of the Board.

ARTICLE 2. CALIFORNIA LIBRARY SERVICES BOARD PROCEDURES 

§ 20116. Officers of the State Board.
The State Board shall elect a President and Vice-President. The State Librarian shall be
the Chief Executive Officer of the State Board.
(a) The State Board shall annually biennially elect a President and Vice-President at the
first last regular meeting of each every odd numbered calendar year.
(b) Should a vacancy occur in the Office of President or Vice-President, the State Board
shall at its next regular meeting elect one of its members to fill such vacancy for the
remainder of the term.



(c) Duties of President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the State Board,
shall execute for the State Board any documents requiring such execution, and shall
perform such other duties as the State Board so provides.
(d) Duties of Vice-President. The Vice-President shall in the absence of the President
perform any of the duties of President that cannot reasonably await the President's
return.
(e) Duties of the Chief Executive Officer.
(1) Make such reports and recommendations to the State Board as he deems desirable
and appropriate or as may be required by the State Board.
(2) Administer the provisions of this chapter.
(3) Review all claims to ensure programmatic and technical compliance with the
provisions of this chapter.

§ 20117. Quorum.
A quorum for all State Board meetings shall be seven (7) members. The concurrence of
7 of its members shall be necessary to the validity of all actions of the State Board.

§ 20118. Regular Meetings.
(a) Date. Regular meetings of the State Board shall take place at least  bi-monthly on
the third Thursday of the months of February, April, June, August, October; the
December meeting shall be held in conjunction with the California Library Association
conference once each year.
(b) Place. The tentative time of year and locations for the regular meetings of in the
following forthcoming calendar year shall be determined annually, at the last regular
meeting of the calendar year.
(c) Change of date or place. Nothing in this regulation shall be construed to prevent the
State Board from altering its regular meeting dates or places of meeting location.
(d) Meeting notice. A notice of regular meetings shall be provided at least seven days
prior to the meeting date to any person annually requesting such notice under section
20119 below. Such notice shall include the time, date, and place of the regular meeting
and a copy of the agenda therefor  Notices of regular meetings shall comply with all
requirements laid out in Government Code sections 11120-11131.
(e) Any person or organization desiring to receive notice(s) of State Board meetings
may email the current Board Assistant or direct the request to: California Library 
Services Board, State Librarian’s Office, California State Library, P.O. Box 942837, 
Sacramento, CA 94237-0001. 

§ 20119. Notices.
(a) Eligibility. Notice of any regular or special public meeting of the State Board shall be
given to any person annually requesting under section 20119(b).
(b) Procedure. Individuals and organizations wishing to receive notice of regular and
special meetings of the State Board and copies of the agenda may annually request the
Secretary to include their names on the mailing list. Inclusion on the mailing list will
result in notification to the addressee of all regular and special meetings of the State



Board. The Secretary shall annually notify interested agencies and organizations that, 
upon request, they are entitle to be placed on the mailing list. 

§ 20120. Open Meetings of Committees, Commissions, and Advisory Bodies.
(a) State Board Committees. Meetings of State Board committees composed solely of
members of the State Board, created by a formal action of the State Board, shall be
open and public.
(b) Advisory Bodies. Unless otherwise provided by law, meetings of any advisory body,
or committees or subcommittees thereof, created by statutes or by formal action of the
State Board, to advise or report or recommend to the State Board, shall be open and
public.

§ 20121. Open Meetings.
All meetings of the State Board will be open and public except for executive sessions
authorized by Government Code Sections 11120- 11131.

§ 20122. Special Meetings.
Special meetings may be called by the President of the State Board or a majority of the
members thereof for any stated purpose. Notice of such meetings shall be provided at
least 24 hours in advance to those persons so requesting under section 20119(b).
Special meetings shall comply with all special meeting provisions provided in
Government Code sections 11120-11131.

§ 20123. Emergency Meetings and Agenda Items.
(a) Power. An emergency meeting may be called by the President of the State Board or
a majority of the members thereof without providing the notice required by section
20119 section 20118(d) if there is an unforeseen emergency condition in existence.
(b) Definition. An unforeseen emergency condition exists when there is an immediate
threat of adverse effects on the program authorized by the Act of such scope that
requires action of the State Board to avert such effects.
(c) Agenda Items. An item may be included on the agenda of any regular meeting if an
unforeseen emergency condition exists without the notice required by section 20119
section 20118(d).
(d) Certification. Concurrence of 7 of the members is required to certify that an
emergency condition exists in order to take any action at an emergency meeting or
regarding an emergency item.
(e) Notice. If reasonably possible, notice of the emergency item or meeting shall be
provided to those so requesting under section 20119(b)20118(e).  Lack of such notice
shall not invalidate any action taken on said item or at said meeting.

§ 20124. Agenda.
(a) All matters to be submitted for consideration of the State Board shall be sent to the
Secretary to the Board Assistant at least 10 15 business days preceding a regular
meeting of the State Board, by email or by mail at California Library Services Board,
California State Library, P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001.



(b) Setting of Agenda. The agenda for regular meetings of the State Board shall be set
by the Chief Executive Officer at least 8 12 business days prior to the meeting.

§ 20125. Speakers.
(a) Recognition of Speakers. Members of the public or the State Library staff will may be
recognized by the President of the State Board to speak at any State Board meeting. All
remarks made shall be germane to the business at hand and shall be addressed to the
President. No person other than the person having the floor and members of the State
Board shall be permitted to enter the discussion.
(b) Subject of Remarks. All speakers before the State Board shall confine their remarks
to the subject indicated in their written request, or indicated in the recognition by for
which they were recognized by the President.

§ 20127. Robert's Rules of Order.
Except where the provisions of the California Library Services Act of 1977 or of these
regulations provide to the contrary, or when the State Board determines otherwise, the
State Board shall operate under the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order.

§ 20130. Public Hearings.
(a) Notice. The State Board may hold a public hearing regarding any matter pending
before it, after giving the 45-day notice as required by the California Administrative
Procedures Act. Such notice shall include adequate descriptive matter relating to the
subjects to be considered in hearing.
(b) Alternative hearing. The State Board may direct that a public hearing be held before
staff of the State Library, an advisory commission to the State Board, or a standing or
ad hoc committee of the State Board regarding any matter which is, or is likely to be,
pending before the State Board.
(c) Speakers.
(1) Notice. Persons wishing to address the State Board on a subject to be considered at
a public hearing, should present a request to the Secretary Board Assistant four (4)
working days in advance of the meeting at the office of the Secretary by email, or in
person at the Board Assistant’s Office, at the Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building, 914
Capitol Mall, Sacramento California 95814, stating the subject they wish to address, the
organization they represent, if any, and the nature of their testimony. Persons wishing to
address the Board, who have not presented a request four days in advance, may be
heard at the discretion of the presiding officer.
(2) Copies of Statement. The speaker may provide a written copy of his statement to the
Secretary Board Assistant 24 hours in advance of the hearing.
(3) Public Testimony. At or before the hearing at which oral comments from the public
are to be received, the State Board or other hearing body shall determine the total
amount of time that will be devoted to hearing such oral comments, and may, at its
discretion, determine the time to be allotted to each person or to each side of an issue.



§ 20131. Waiver by Presiding Officer.
At any time upon a showing of good cause, the presiding officer of the hearing may
waive the requirements of Sections 20130.

§ 20134. Public Records.
(a) Inspection of Public Records.
(1) Inspection of the original copy of any public record of the State Board (as defined in
Government Code section 6252(d) and 6254) will be permitted during regular office
hours of the State Library, Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building, 914 Capitol Mall,
Sacramento California 95814.
(2) Requests to inspect such records should be filed with the Secretary Board Assistant
at least five working days prior to the requested date in order to insure availability.
(3) Requests for inspection should be as specific as possible in identifying the records
desired.
(4) Original copies of public records shall not be removed from the office the Secretary
Stanley Mosk Library-Courts Building.
(b) Obtaining Copies of Public Records.
(1) Requests to obtain copies of public records may be made in person or by mail to the
office of the Secretary Board Assistant at California Library Services Board, California
State Library, P.O. Box 942837, Sacramento, CA 94237-0001.
(2) Such requests should be as specific as possible in identifying the records desired.
(3) Certification of the authenticity of copies may be obtained from the Secretary Board
Assistant.

ARTICLE 3. GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR SYSTEMS 

§ 20135. System Budget Request and Plan of Service.
Each System participating in programs of the Act shall adopt a System Plan of Service
and prepare a budget for carrying out the objectives of the Plan. After approval by the
Administrative Council, the System budget request and Plan of Service shall be
annually submitted to the State Board by June 1 of the fiscal year immediately
preceding the fiscal year for which funds are requested.
(a) Plan of Service. The annual Plan of Service shall describe in the form and manner
prescribed by the State Board how the System proposes to carry out the purposes of
the Act, and it shall include information relative to the following statements:
(1) A population profile. This shall be no more than five three years old, and shall use
the most current data available.
(2) A description of the users and the non-users of the services of the members of the
System.
(3) A description of the services provided by the System.
(4) A list of the major unmet information needs of the population of the System area.
(5) A plan for the use of CLSA funds, listing each of the services(s) in (3) above which
the System plans to maintain or improve, and each of the unmet needs in (4) above



which the System plans to address. Under each such service to be provided, the plan 
shall include: 
(A) The user benefit expected.
(B) A brief description of the method by which the benefit will be provided.
(b) Budget. The System budget shall document in the form and manner prescribed by
the State Board the dollar amounts to be expended for providing each System service
or addressing each unmet need.
(c) In addition, each System shall file by September 1 of each year a report, in the form
and manner prescribed by the State Board for the fiscal year just ended, that describes
actual accomplishments and expenditures of the System program, compares them with
the planned accomplishments and expenditures for the fiscal year reported and includes
other appropriate commentary.

§ 20136. System Administrative Policy Manual.
Each System participating in programs of the Act must develop by July 1, 1979, a
System Administrative Policy Manual which shall include along with any other items the
System finds useful, its policies for:
(a) Receiving and accounting for state and federal funds on behalf of the System.
(b) Employment of System personnel.
(c) Executing the System programs approved by the State Board. Policy manuals shall
be in conformity with the California Library Services Act. Policy manuals shall be kept
current.

§ 20140. System Administration.
(a) Cooperative Library Systems. The System Administrative Council shall consist of the
head librarian of each jurisdiction in the system. In case of the head librarian's absence,
an official delegate or alternate may vote in place of the head librarian. It shall have
regular meetings, open and accessible to the public as required in the Ralph M. Brown
Act (Govt. Code Section 54950-54961). Information about the meetings of the Council
shall be disseminated in such a way and in such languages as the Council determines
will most effectively inform the public of the Council's activities. The Council shall
provide for the position of a Council Chair-person, and for rotation of that position
among the Council members.

ARTICLE 4. SYSTEM REFERENCE 

§ 20158. Allowance.
Each System shall receive an annual allowance based on the number of member
libraries of the System and on the total population served by that System. The State
Board shall periodically, and at least annually, review and approve the membership and
population figures, and determine an appropriate funding formula which shall be uniform
statewide.



ARTICLE 5: CONSOLIDATIONS AND AFFILIATIONS 

§ 20180. Public Library Consolidations.
(a) If any two or more contiguous jurisdictions operating public libraries wish to
consolidate their libraries into a single library agency and receive establishment grants
under Education Code Section 18732, a joint notice of intent signed by the head
librarians of the consolidating jurisdictions must be filed with the State Board no later
than September 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date for
consolidation. Authorizations to consolidate, approved by the governing body of each
consolidating jurisdiction, and a joint plan for provision of consolidated services, signed
by the head librarians, must be filed with the State Board no later than June 1 of the
fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date of the consolidation.
(b) The State Board's approval of requests for library consolidation funds under
Education Code Section 18732 shall be based on its determination that the
consolidation provides a more effective means of carrying out the purposes of the Act
than would be the case if the consolidation did not occur.
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the consolidating jurisdictions to receive
funds under other provisions of the Act, a A public library consolidation approved by the
State Board will be considered effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately
following the fiscal year in which the consolidation authorizations are filed.

§ 20185. System Consolidations.
(a) If any two or more Systems whose borders are contiguous wish to consolidate and
receive a consolidation grant under Education Code Section 18751, a joint notice of
intent, approved by the Administrative Councils of the consolidating systems, must be
filed with the State Board no later than September 1 of the fiscal year immediately
preceding the effective date of consolidation. System participation authorizations
approved by the jurisdictional governing body of each of the System's member libraries,
and a new system plan of Service and budget, must be filed with the State Board no
later than June 1 of the fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date of
consolidation. If the State Board approves the consolidation funding request, a grant
shall be awarded for each of the two fiscal years following the fiscal year in which the
filing is made.
(b) The State Board's approval of requests for System consolidation funds under
Education Code Section 19851 shall be based on its determination that the
consolidation provides a more effective way of carrying out the purposes of the Act than
would be the case if the consolidation did not occur.
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the consolidating systems to receive
funds under other provisions of the Act, a A system consolidation approved by the State
Board will be considered effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately
following the fiscal year in which the consolidation authorizations are filed.

§ 20190. Public Library Affiliation with an Existing System.
(a) If any jurisdiction, not previously a member of any System, joins a System with
borders contiguous to the jurisdiction, and the System wishes to receive an affiliation



grant under Education Code Section 18752, the administrative body of the System shall 
file a notice of intent and the jurisdictional governing body of the affiliating library shall 
file an affiliation authorization with the State Board. 
(b) The State Board's approval of requests for affiliation shall be based on its
determination that the proposed membership is at least as effective a way of carrying
out the purposes of the Act as would be the case if the membership were with a System
other than the one joined.
(c) For purposes of determining the eligibility of the affiliating public library or system to
receive funds under other provisions of the Act, aAn affiliation will be considered
effective beginning July 1 of the fiscal year immediately following the fiscal year in which
the affiliation authorization is filed.

§ 20192. Public Library Withdrawal from System Membership.
(a) If a member library does not retain its membership in any System participating in the
programs of the Act, the System shall notify the State Board no later than three months
preceding the beginning of the fiscal year in which the withdrawal takes effect.
(b) Any System failing to provide the notice required in Section 20192(a) may be
required to return to the State Board any funds allocated to it on the basis of the
withdrawing library's membership, if the Chief Executive Officer determines that such
funds would not have been allocated had the required notice been provided.

§ 20195. Public Library Change of System Membership.
If any jurisdiction at present or previously a member of a System which has received
state funds pursuant to that jurisdiction's membership, wishes to join another System
instead, and if the library and the System it proposes to join wish to receive state funds
pursuant to that jurisdiction's membership under Article 5 of the Act, the governing body
of the jurisdiction and the administrative body of the System it proposes to join shall file
a joint notice of intent with the State Board. The notice shall be filed by September 1 of
the year preceding any July 1 of the first full fiscal year for which state funds pursuant to
the new membership are requested. The State Board shall approve all appropriate state
fund payments to the System under Article 5 of the Act only if it determines that the new
membership results in a more effective statewide method of carrying out the purposes
of the Act than would be the case if the jurisdiction retained or resumed the System
membership it had previously. If the State Board does not make such a determination in
favor of the new membership, then the new System's funding under Article 5 of the Act
shall be calculated on the basis of the System comprising only those public library
jurisdictions whose membership is approved.

ARTICLE 6. DIRECT LOAN 

§ 20200. Scope.
Except where otherwise specified, the regulations contained in the Article apply both to
Education Code Section 18731 (Universal Borrowing) and Education Code Section
18743 (Equal Access) of the Act.



§ 20203. Residency.
For purposes of this Article, each resident of the State shall be deemed to have a single
legal residency, which shall entitle him/her to resident library services of the jurisdiction
in which he/she resides, and such services shall not be reimbursable under this Article.
In determining the places of residency, the following rules as excepted from
Government Code section 244 shall be observed:
(a) It is the place where one remains when not called elsewhere for labor or other
special or temporary purpose, and to which he or she returns in seasons of repose.
(b) There can be only one residence.
(c) A residence cannot be lost until another is gained.
(d) The residence of the parent with whom an unmarried minor child maintains his or
her place of abode is the residence of such unmarried minor child.
(e) A married person shall have the right to retain his or her legal residence in the State
notwithstanding the legal residence or domicile of his or her spouse.

§ 20204. Loans to Eligible Non-Resident Borrowers.
(a) Public libraries participating in direct loan programs under this Act, shall not charge
any fee to non-residents for borrowing privileges.
(b) Reserves and interlibrary loan requests shall be accepted by the participating public
library under the same rules and policies applied to local residents.
(c) All procedures governing registration of borrowers shall apply equally to residents
and non-residents.
(d) All materials normally loaned by a participating public library are available for loan to
non-residents under the same rules and policies applied to local residents.
(e) All loan and return rules governing circulation apply equally to residents and non-
residents. If overdue materials are returned to a library other than the library from which
borrowed, fines may be paid to and retained by the library to which the return is made.
Payments for lost or damaged material are payable to the lending library, and are to be
forwarded by the library to which payment is made.
(f) Special loan privileges extended by the participating public library to teachers and
other groups within its jurisdiction need not be extended beyond the jurisdiction.

§ 20205. Non-Resident Borrower Eligibility.
An eligible non-resident borrower must be a resident of California,
(a) Hold a valid borrowers card issued by his/her home library, or
(b) Hold or obtain a valid non-resident borrowers card issued by any California public
library, or
(c) Hold a valid state borrowers identification card issued by any California public library;
(d) And present any additional identification normally required by a library of its own
residents.
(e) Nothing in this section shall prevent the issuing of a non-resident card or charging of
fees to a resident of another state, except that loans to such non-residents shall not be
counted as reimbursable transactions.



§ 20206. Valid Identification.
The lending library must be supplied with the name and current address of the borrower
and the name of the library jurisdiction in which the borrower maintains his or her legal
residency.

§ 20210. Exchange of Local Funds Prohibited.
Libraries participating in direct loan programs authorized by the Act, shall not charge
other jurisdictions for borrowing privileges extended to their residents, except that
contracts for loan or other services provided within a defined geographic area by a
library jurisdiction to residents of another jurisdiction not served by their library
jurisdiction are not prohibited. Persons served under such contracts are to be registered
as residents of the jurisdiction providing the contract service.

§ 20211. Maintenance of Local Service Standards.
It is the intent of this Article that local service standards be maintained:
(a) Extension of borrowing privileges by libraries to non-residents, should not adversely
affect the level of service provided by the home library to its own residents.
(b) No library jurisdiction may reduce or fail to maintain or improve the level of service to
its residents for the purpose of placing undue reliance on the library services of
neighboring library jurisdictions.

§ 20215. Reimbursement for Net Direct Loans.
Loan of a library material of any type by a participating public library to an eligible
nonresident borrower shall result in reimbursement from the state under Education
Code Sections 18731 and 18743 to the extent that the number of such loans exceeds
the number of items borrowed by that library jurisdiction's residents from other
participating public libraries, during a specific reporting period.

§ 20216. Reporting Requirements.
To obtain reimbursement, participating public libraries shall provide reports in the form
and manner, and for the period required. Reports must be submitted by established
deadlines. Records in support of claims for state funds must be maintained for four
years.

§ 20217. Reimbursable Costs.
Reimbursable costs, expressed on a unit basis, are those handling costs incurred by the
lending library in processing a direct loan to a non-resident. The State Board shall
periodically review, at least once a year, and approve such cost data, but the
reimbursement rate, as adopted, shall be uniform statewide.

ARTICLE 7. COMMUNICATION AND DELIVERY 

§ 20235. Definition of Reporting Terms.
In complying with the reporting requirements of Section 20135 each system shall report
the following items using the following definitions with respect to the communication,



and delivery, and resource sharing programs: 
(a) “Message” means the transmission of a discrete body of information from one library
to another by means of a telecommunications system to a single individual or
institutional addressee. Many separate items of information may be contained in a
single message. The same body of information transmitted to several addressees at
physically distinct locations constitutes several, not one, messages. Written information
physically conveyed by delivery van, U.S. Mail, or other courier services is not
considered a “message” for communications and delivery reporting purposes.
(b) (b) “Item delivered” means the physical removal of a discrete item from one library to
another by means of a delivery van, U.S. Mail, courier service, or other delivery system
or the delivery of digital materials. Reasonable judgement shall be exercised in
determining particular “items” status (e.g., a carton containing 10,000 brochures is one -
not 10,000 items).
(c) “Frequency/schedule of delivery service” means that specific (daily, twice weekly,
weekly, etc.) frequency of delivery service received by member libraries. If not all
members receive the same frequency of delivery service the number of member
libraries served on each differing schedule must be reported.
(d) “Other” means that when a system employs communications, or delivery methods,
or shared resources, other than those specifically cited on the standard reporting forms,
the system must specify the method(s) employed and separately account for the
message or delivery volume for each such method. The System must describe the
communication, delivery method, or shared resource and the outcome of providing it.
procured by one (1) or more participating libraries to be shared by three (3) or more
participating libraries, accessible for use by participating libraries.

§20236. Inclusion
Unless otherwise prohibited by Education Codes 18745-18746, intra-system
communication, delivery and resource sharing includes the acquisition or maintenance
of technology or digital transmission products required to locate, create, or make
accessible digital, virtual, or electronic material, which may also include
telecommunication equipment and its installation along with monthly service fees.

ARTICLE 8. INTERLIBRARY LOANS 

§ 20251. Scope.
The regulations in this article refer to interlibrary loan activity covered under the
provisions of Education Code section 18744 (i.e. System interlibrary loan) and 18765
(i.e. Statewide loan).

§ 20252. Intent.
It is the intent of this program of the Act to support the sharing of library resources
through interlibrary loan. Library materials needed by a library user and not available in
that user's library will be made available to the user via interlibrary loan.

§ 20255. Eligibility.
(a) Public Libraries. Any public library as defined in Education Code section 18710(lj),



which has been authorized by its jurisdiction to participate in programs of the Act must 
participate in the interlibrary loan programs of the Act. 
(b) Libraries Other Than Public Libraries. To be eligible to participate these libraries
must be authorized by their own administrative authorities to do so and must file the
proper notice with the State Board as outlined in section 20105(c). Further, a library,
other than a public library, may be eligible for a reimbursement only for a loan to an
eligible public library. Libraries, other than public libraries, which can become eligible for
participation in the interlibrary loan reimbursement programs of the Act include only the
following:
(1) Libraries operated by public schools or school districts. These libraries include only
those defined in Education Code section 18710(m).
(2) Libraries operated by public colleges or universities. These include those academic
libraries (Education Code section 18710(a)) which are funded primarily with public
funds. Academic libraries potentially eligible for these programs include the libraries of
the University of California, of the State University and College System, and of the
California Community Colleges.
(3) Libraries operated by public agencies for institutionalized persons. Libraries for the
institutionalized include hospital, correctional, and residential treatment facility libraries
which are funded primarily with public funds (i.e. local, state, or federal tax monies).
(4) Libraries operated by nonprofit private educational or research institutions. These
libraries include those operated by private colleges and universities which maintain
nonprofit status under provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Service or the
California Franchise Tax laws. These libraries also include those operated by private
companies which are primarily devoted to educational or research purposes and which
maintain nonprofit status under provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Service or the
California Franchise Tax laws. Such libraries may be required by the State Board to
furnish proof of their nonprofit status in addition to any other required notices and forms.

§ 20257. Reimbursable Transaction.
An interlibrary transaction can result in reimbursement under Education Code sections
18744 and 18765 if it consists of the loan of a library material of any type which is
collected by a library or if it consists of the provision of a copy in lieu of loan of a library
material, from any eligible, participating lending library to any eligible public library as
defined in section 20255 and in Education Code sections 18744 and 18765.

§ 20260. Reimbursable Costs.
Reimbursable costs are only those handling costs which a lending library incurs in filling
a successfully completed interlibrary loan transaction. The State Board shall
periodically, and at least annually, review and approve the cost data and determine an
appropriate funding formula which shall be uniform statewide.

§ 20265. Participation Requirements.
Participating libraries, both public and nonpublic, shall conform to the following
requirements:



(a) Reporting. To obtain reimbursement a library shall provide by the deadline reporting
date, all required reports of its interlibrary loan transactions in an established form and
manner determined by the Board for the period required.
(b) Audit. For audit purposes, a record of the interlibrary loan transactions must be
maintained for four years.
(c) Fees. A library providing an item for interlibrary loan may not collect a handling fee
on a transaction for which that library claims an interlibrary loan reimbursement under
provisions of this article. A photocopy fee, exclusive of photocopy handling charge, may
be collected.
(d) Direct Loan Availability. Participating libraries shall make maximum use of available
bibliographic access tools to refer users to borrow directly from nearby libraries where
requested material is easily available, rather than to process an interlibrary loan.
(e) Responsibility for Borrowed Materials. The borrowing library shall be responsible for
all items it borrows, and if such item is lost or damaged by the library or its users, the
borrowing library may be required by the lending library to make restitution for the item.
(f) Adherence to Standards. All participating libraries shall attempt to follow the
standards described in the “California Library Services Act Interlibrary Loan Standards,”
which is hereby incorporated by reference. The State Board may withhold
reimbursements to libraries which continually fail to meet the standards of performance.



Exhibit D 

Article 7 Proposed Changes- System language vs. Draft language 

Section Existing language Library Cooperative Suggested Changes Draft Changes 

20107(6) 

Does not currently exist in the regulations “Resource Sharing” refers to the 
allowed use or application of a 
resource created, purchased or 
leased by one (1) or more 
participating libraries’ with three (3) or 
more participating libraries. 

20235 

In complying with the reporting requirements of 
Section 20135 each system shall report the following 
items using the following definitions with respect to 
the communication and delivery programs: 

No changes In complying with the reporting 
requirements of Section 20135 each 
system shall report the following items 
using the following definitions with 
respect to the communication, and 
delivery, and resource sharing 
programs: 

20235(a) 

"Message" means the transmission of a discrete 
body of information from one library to another by 
means of a telecommunications system to a single 
individual or institutional addressee. Many separate 
items of information may be contained in a single 
message. The same body of information transmitted 
to several addressees at physically distinct locations 
constitutes several, not one, messages. Written 
information physically conveyed by delivery van, 
U.S. Mail, or other courier services is not considered 
a "message" for communications and delivery 
reporting purposes. 

"Message" means the transmission of a discrete body of 
information from one library to another by means of a 
telecommunications system to a single individual or 
institutional addressee. Many separate items of information 
may be contained in a single message. The same body of 
information transmitted to several addressees at physically 
distinct locations constitutes several, not one, messages. 
Written information physically conveyed by delivery van, 
U.S. Mail, or other courier services is not considered a 
"message" for communications and delivery reporting 
purposes. A discrete body of information may include 
library-owned, library-leased or library-created physical or 
digital items, content or resources and the platforms that 
support the sharing of these bodies of information, 
including databases, that are procured by one (1) or more 
participating libraries to be shared by three (3) or more 
participating libraries. 

No changes 

20235(b) 

"Item delivered" means the physical removal of a 
discrete item from one library to the other by means 
of a delivery van, U.S. Mail, or other courier service, 
or other delivery system. Reasonable judgement 
shall be exercised in determining particular "items" 
status (e.g., a carton containing 10,000 brochures is 
one - not 10,000 items). 

"Item delivered" means the physical removal of a discrete 
item from one library to the other by means of a delivery 
van, U.S. Mail, or other courier service, or other delivery 
system. Reasonable judgement shall be exercised in 
determining particular "items" status (e.g., a carton 
containing 10,000 brochures is one - not 10,000 items). A 
delivery system may also include the platform that is 
required to make digital or virtual material, that is procured 
by one (1) or more participating libraries to be shared by 
three (3) or more participating libraries, accessible for use 
by participating libraries. It may also include the discovery 
layer or portal for access to the items delivered. A delivery 
system may also include the telecommunications 
equipment, installation and monthly service fees needed to 
provide access to content based on the most effective 

“Item delivered” means the physical 
removal of a discrete item from one 
library to another by means of a 
delivery van, U.S. Mail, courier 
service, or other delivery system or 
the delivery of digital materials. 
Reasonable judgement shall be 
exercised in determining particular 
“items” status (e.g., a carton 
containing 10,000 brochures is one -
not 10,000 items). 



methods of exchanging materials and information among 
participating libraries. 

20235(c) 

"Frequency/schedule of delivery service" means that 
specific (daily, twice weekly, weekly, etc.) frequency 
of delivery service received by member libraries. If 
not all members receive the same frequency of 
delivery service the number of member libraries 
served on each differing schedule must be reported. 

No changes No changes 

20235(d) 

"Other" means that when a system employs 
communications, or delivery methods other than 
those specifically cited on the standard reporting 
forms, the system must specify the method(s) 
employed and separately account for the message 
or delivery volume for each such method procured 
by one (1) or more participating libraries to be 
shared by three (3) or more participating libraries, 
accessible for use by participating libraries. 

"Other" means that when a system employs 
communications or delivery methods other than those 
specifically cited on the standard reporting forms, the 
system must specify the method(s) employed and 
separately account for the message or delivery volume for 
each such method. "Other" may include any service, 
communication or resource provided in support of the 
stated intent of the Act as defined in Section 18702. The 
system must describe the service, communication or 
resource provided and the outcome of providing it. "Other" 
may include resources that support planning, coordination 
and assessment of system-wide services so that programs 
and services are provided that meet the changing 
demographics of 21st-century populations. It may also 
include the delivery of eContent, including eBooks, 
eMagazines, eMusic, and other digital content that is 
procured by one (1) or more participating libraries to be 
shared by three (3) or more participating libraries, 
accessible for use by participating libraries. 

“Other” means that when a system 
employs communications, or delivery 
methods, or shared resources, other 
than those specifically cited on the 
standard reporting forms, the system 
must specify the method(s) employed 
and separately account for the 
message or delivery volume for each 
such method. The System must 
describe the communication, delivery 
method, or shared resource and the 
outcome of providing it.  procured by 
one (1) or more participating libraries 
to be shared by three (3) or more 
participating libraries, accessible for 
use by participating libraries. (NOTE: 
this removed language is addressed 
in section 20107(6) above)  

20236 

Does not currently exist in the regulations Unless otherwise prohibited by 
Education Codes 18745-18746, intra-
system communication, delivery and 
resource sharing includes the 
acquisition or maintenance of 
technology or digital transmission 
products required to locate, create, or 
make accessible digital, virtual, or 
electronic material, which may also 
include telecommunication equipment 
and its installation along with monthly 
service fees. 



1 

September 2, 2016 

Annly Roman 
California State Library 
Office of the State Librarian 
Administrative Assistant to California Library Services Board 
914 Capitol Mall 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

Dear Ms.  Roman, 

This letter is in response to the email dated August 5, 2016 requesting the System Coordinators of the 

nine California library cooperatives for opinions on updating the California Library Services Act (CLSA) 

regulatory language. The System Coordinators agree with the updated language the State Library has 

added and omitted in the draft updated CLSA regulations you provided in your email.  We thank the 

State Library for sharing those draft recommendations with us. 

Each of us has discussed with our Boards what changes they might like to see reflected in the updated 

regulations. Our public library directors were grateful for this opportunity, and expressed interest in 

updating the language to reflect not only the current needs, but also the future of our libraries in 

relation to communication and delivery.  As one director said, “We need to ensure our language 

represents future delivery models, including drones!” 

In reviewing section § 20235 Definition of Reporting Terms of the regulations, we believe the sections 

can be distilled as follows: 

(a) “Messaging” refers to the material we are sharing – “the what.”   The term “library owned” can
be expanded in its definition to include services such Zip Books because the library buys the
books and then loans them to patrons. It could also include databases or other library owned or
leased content. It may also be expanded to include library generated content, such as resource
databases which could be shared to benefit all California libraries.

(b) “Item Delivered” is more about what is delivered and how it is counted ‐ “the how.” This area
can be expanded to include platforms, infrastructure, etc.  This can include the clarification of
telecommunications. We also believe technology will continue to be developed to enhance our
access to our shared collections through discovery layers to our catalogs or other online portals.
Therefore, we recommend expanding language to include discovery layers or portals.

(c) “Frequency” is fairly straightforward and no proposed changes.

(d) “Other” allows a potential for further broadening of areas not captured in the three previous
sections to further clarify language in Code 18745: “Each system shall annually apply to the state
board for funds for intrasystem communications and delivery and resource sharing. Proposals
shall be based upon the most cost‐effective methods of exchanging print and digital materials
and information among the member libraries.”  We suggest expanding the definition to include
digital materials such eBooks, eStreaming and other eContent.  This section can also include
wording that reflects Section 18746: “Funds for planning, coordination and evaluation of overall

Exhibit E



2 

systemwide services” to include library cooperatives’ analysis of our constantly changing 
demographics to better respond to our patrons. 

Based on these observations, below in italics are some thoughts on how the existing language could be 

expanded upon to become more inclusive of the current and future needs. 

ARTICLE 7. COMMUNICATION AND DELIVERY 

 Sec. 20235. Definition of reporting terms. In complying with the reporting requirements of Section 

20235, each system shall report the following items using the following definitions with respect to the 

communication and delivery programs:  

(a) “Message” means the transmission of a discrete body of information from one library to

another by means of a telecommunications system to a single individual or institutional

addressee. Many separate items of information may be contained in a single message. The same

body of information transmitted to several addressees at physically distinct locations constitutes

several, not one, messages. Written information physically conveyed by delivery van, U.S. mail,

or other courier services is not considered a “message” for communications and delivery

reporting purposes.

A discrete body of information may include library‐owned, library‐leased or library‐created

physical or digital items, content or resources and the platforms that support the sharing of

these bodies of information, including databases, that are procured by one (1) or more

participating libraries to be shared by three (3) or more participating libraries.

(b) “Item delivered” means the physical removal of a discrete item from one library to another by

means of a delivery van, U.S. mail, courier service, or other delivery system. Reasonable

judgment shall be exercised in determining particular “items” status (e.g., a carton containing

10,000 brochures is one ‐‐ not 10,000 items).

A delivery system may also include the platform that is required to make digital or virtual

material, that is procured by one (1) or more participating libraries to be shared by three (3) or

more participating libraries, accessible for use by participating libraries. It may also include

the discovery layer or portal for access to the items delivered.

A delivery system may also include the telecommunications equipment, installation and

monthly service fees needed to provide access to content based on the most effective methods

of exchanging materials and information among participating libraries.

(c) “Frequency/schedule of delivery service” means that the specific (daily, twice weekly, weekly,

etc.) frequency of delivery service received by member libraries. If not all members receive the

same frequency of delivery service the number of member libraries served on each differing

schedule must be reported.



3 

(d) “Other” means that when a system employs communications or delivery methods other than

those specifically cited on the standard reporting forms, the system must specify the method(s)

employed and separately account for the message or delivery volume for each such method.

“Other” may include any service, communication or resource provided in support of the stated

intent of the Act as defined in Section 18702. The system must describe the service,

communication or resource provided and the outcome of providing it.  “Other” may include

resources that support planning, coordination and assessment of system‐wide services so that

programs and services are provided that meet the changing demographics of 21st century

populations.  It may also include the delivery of eContent, including eBooks, eMagazines,

eMusic, and other digital content that is procured by one (1) or more participating libraries to

be shared by three (3) or more participating libraries, accessible for use by participating

libraries.

In conclusion, the System Coordinators are interested and willing to contribute and participate in further 
discussions regarding changes in the regulatory language.  

Respectfully submitted,  

Maureen Theobald, Black Gold 
Carol Frost, Pacific Library Partnership 
Jacquie Brinkley and Carol Frost, NorthNet 
Kelley Landano, San Joaquin Valley 
Diane Satchwell, Southern California Library Cooperative, Santiago, Inland, 49‐99 and Serra 
Susan Hildreth, Strategic Advisor, Pacific Library Partnership and NorthNet 

cc:   Sara Jones, Chair, CLA Advocacy and Legislation Committee 
Christina DiCaro, Lobbyist, Michael F. Dillon and Associates 
Greg Lucas, State Librarian, California State Library 







September 2, 2016 

Annly Roman 
California State Library 
Office of the State Librarian 

Administrative Assistant to California Library Services Board 
914 Capitol Mall 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

Dear Ms. Roman, 

This letter is in response to the email dated August 5, 2016 requesting the System Coordinators of the 

nine California library cooperatives for opinions on updating the California Library Services Act (CLSA) 

regulatory language. The System Coordinators agree with the updated language the State Library has 

added and omitted in the draft updated CLSA regulations you provided in your email. We thank the 

State Library for sharing those draft recommendations with us. 

Each of us has discussed with our Boards what changes they might like to see reflected in the updated 

regulations. Our public library directors were grateful for this opportunity, and expressed interest in 

updating the language to reflect not only the current needs, but also the future of our libraries in 

relation to communication and delivery. As one director said, "We need to ensure our language 

represents future delivery models, including drones!" 

In reviewing section§ 20235 Definition of Reporting Terms of the regulations, we believe the sections 

can be distilled as follows: 

(a) "Messaging" refers to the material we are sharing - "the what." The term "library owned" can
be expanded in its definition to include services such Zip Books because the library buys the
books and then loans them to patrons. It could also include databases or other library owned or
leased content. It may also be expanded to include library generated content, such as resource
databases which could be shared to benefit all California libraries.

(b) "Item Delivered" is more about what is delivered and how it is counted - "the how." This area
can be expanded to include platforms, infrastructure, etc. This can include the clarification of
telecommunications. We also believe technology will continue to be developed to enhance our
access to our shared collections through discovery layers to our catalogs or other online portals.
Therefore, we recommend expanding language to include discovery layers or portals.

(c) "Frequency" is fairly straightforward and no proposed changes.

(d) "Other" allows a potential for further broadening of areas not captured in the three previous
sections to further clarify language in Code 18745: "Each system shall annually apply to the state

board for funds for intrasystem communications and delivery and resource sharing. Proposals

shall be based upon the most cost-effective methods of exchanging print and digital materials

and information among the member libraries." We suggest expanding the definition to include
digital materials such eBooks, eStreaming and other eContent. This section can also include
wording that reflects Section 18746: "Funds for planning, coordination and evaluation of overall

1 





CLSA Statute Reflecting changes from AB 1602 passed in 2016 
California Library Services Act 

(Education Code, Title 1, Division 1, Part 11, Chapter 4, 
Sec. 18700-18767) 

Article 1. General Provisions  
18700. This chapter shall be known as the California Library Services Act. 

18701. The Legislature finds and declares that it is in the interest of the people of the 
state to insure ensure that all people have free and convenient access to all library 
resources and services that might enrich their lives, regardless of where they live or of 
the tax base of their local government. This finding is based on the recognition that: 

(a) The public library is a primary source of information, recreation, and education to
persons of all ages, any location, or any economic circumstance.

(b) The expansion of knowledge and the increasing complexity of our society create
needs creates a need for materials and information that go goes beyond the
ability of any one library to provide.

(c) The public libraries of California are supported primarily by local taxes. The ability
of local governments to provide adequate service is dependent on the taxable
wealth of each local jurisdiction and varies widely throughout the state.

(d) Public libraries are unable to bear the greater costs of meeting the exceptional
needs of many residents, including people with disabilities, non-English-speaking
and limited-English-speaking persons, those who are confined to home or in an
institution, and those who are economically disadvantaged.

(e) The effective sharing of resources and services among the libraries of California
requires an ongoing commitment by the state to compensate libraries for
services beyond their clientele promote access to information in both print and
digital format.

18702. It is the intent of the Legislature to provide all residents with the opportunity to 
obtain from their public libraries needed materials and informational services by 
facilitating access to the resources of all libraries in this state. 
This policy shall be accomplished by assisting public libraries to improve service to the 
underserved of all ages, and by enabling public libraries to provide their users with the 
services and resources of all libraries in this state. 

18703. In adopting this chapter, the Legislature declares that its policy shall be as 
follows: 

Exhibit F 



(a) To reaffirm the principle of local control of the government and administration of
public libraries, and to affirm that the provisions of this chapter apply only to
libraries authorized by their jurisdictions to apply to participate in the programs
authorized by this act.

(b) To require no library, as a condition for receiving funds or services under this
chapter, to acquire or exclude any specific book, periodical, film, recording,
picture, or other material, or any specific equipment, or to acquire or exclude any
classification of books or other material by author, subject matter, or type.

(c) To encourage the adequate financing of libraries from local sources, with state
aid to be furnished to supplement, not supplant, local funds.

(d) To encourage service to the underserved of all ages.
(e) To encourage and enable the sharing of resources between libraries.
(f) To reimburse equitably any participating library for services it provides beyond its

jurisdiction if a public library, or, in not a public library beyond its normal clientele.
(g)(f) To ensure public participation in carrying out the intent of this act. 

Article 2. Definitions 
18710. As used in this chapter, the following terms have the following meanings, unless  
the context otherwise indicates or unless specific exception is made: 

(a) “Academic library” means a library established and maintained by a college or
university to meet the needs of its students and faculty, and others by
agreement.

(b) “Act” means the California Library Services Act.
(c) “Cooperative library system” means a public library system that consists of two or

more jurisdictions entering into a written agreement to implement a regional
program in accordance with this chapter, and which that, as of the effective date
of this chapter, was designated a library system under the Public Library
Services Act of 1963 or was a successor to such a that library system.

(d) “Direct loan” means the lending of a book or other item directly to a borrower.
(e) “Equal access” means the right of the residents of jurisdictions that are members

of a cooperative library system to use on an equal basis with one another the
services and loan privileges of any and all other members of the same system.

(f) “Independent public library” means a public library that is not a member of a
system.

(g) “Interlibrary loan” means the lending of a book or other item from one library to
another as the result of a user request for the item.



(h) ”Interlibrary reference” means the providing of information by one library or
reference center to another library or reference center as the result of a user
request for the information.

(i)(h) “Jurisdiction” means a county, city and county, city, or any district that is 
authorized by law to provide public library services and that operates a public 
library. 

(j)(i) “Libraries for institutionalized persons” means libraries maintained by 
institutions for the purpose of serving their resident populations. 

(k)”Net imbalance” means the disproportionate cost incurred under universal 
borrowing or equal access when a library directly lends a greater number of 
items to users from outside its jurisdiction than its residents directly borrow from 
libraries of other jurisdictions. 

(l)(j) “Public library” means a library, or two or more libraries, that is operated by a 
single public jurisdiction and that serves its residents free of charge. 

(m)(k) “School library” means an organized collection of printed and audiovisual 
materials that satisfies all of the following criteria: 

(1) Is administered as a unit.
(2) Is located in a designated place.
(3) Makes printed, audiovisual, and other materials as well as necessary

equipment and services of a staff accessible to elementary and secondary
school pupils and teachers.

(n)(l) “Special library” means one maintained by an association, government service, 
research institution, learned society, professional association, museum, business 
firm, industrial enterprise, chamber of commerce, or other organized group and 
the greater part of their collections being in a specific field or subject, e.g., such 
as natural sciences, economics, engineering, law, and history. 

(o)(m) “Special Services Programs” means a project establishing or improving 
service to the underserved of all ages. 

(p)(n) “State board” means the California Library Services Board. 
(q)(o) “System” means a cooperative library system. 
(r)(p) “Underserved” means any population segment with exceptional service needs 

not adequately met by traditional library service patterns; patterns, including, but 
not limited to, those persons who are geographically isolated, economically 
disadvantaged, functionally illiterate, of non-English-speaking or limited-English-
speaking ability, shut in homebound, or institutionalized, or who are persons with 
disabilities. 

(s)(q) “Universal borrowing” means the extension by a public library of its direct loan 
privileges to the eligible borrowers of all other public libraries. 



Article 3. Administration 
18720.  

(a) There is hereby established in the state government the California Library
Services Board, to consist of 13 members. The Governor shall appoint nine
members of the board. Three of the Governor’s appointments shall be
representative of laypersons, one of whom shall represent people with
disabilities, one of whom shall represent limited- and non-English-speaking
persons, and one of whom shall represent economically disadvantaged persons.

(b) The Governor shall also appoint six members of the board, each of whom shall
represent one of the following categories: school libraries, libraries for
institutionalized persons, public library trustees or commissioners, public
libraries, special libraries, and academic libraries.

(c) The Legislature shall appoint the remaining four public members from persons
who are not representative of categories mentioned in this section. Two shall be
appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules and two shall be appointed by the
Speaker of the Assembly.

(d) The terms of office of members of the board shall be for four years and shall
begin on January 1 of the year in which the respective terms are to start.

(e) On January 1, 2013, the members of the board shall be those persons serving on
the former Library of California Board, appointed pursuant to former Section
18820, as it existed on December 31, 2012, who shall serve for the duration of
their terms.

18722. The concurrence of seven members of the state board shall be necessary to the 
validity of any of its acts. 

18723. Members of the state board shall serve without pay. They shall receive their 
actual and necessary traveling expenses while on official business. 

18724. The duties of the state board shall be to adopt rules, regulations, and general 
policies for the implementation of this chapter. In addition, the state board, consistent 
with the terms and provisions of this chapter, shall have the following powers and 
duties: 

(a) To direct the State Librarian in the administration of this chapter.
(b) To review for its approval all annual proposals submitted under this chapter.
(c) To annually submit budget proposals as part of the annual budget of the

Department of Finance.
(d)(c) To expend the funds appropriated for the purpose of implementing the 

provisions of this chapter. 



(e)(d) To require participating libraries and systems to prepare and submit any 
reports and information which that are necessary to carry out the provisions of 
this chapter, and to prescribe the form and manner for providing such those 
reports and information. 

(f)(e) To require that any public library participating in programs authorized by this 
chapter provide access to its bibliographic records and materials location 
information consistent with the legislative policy of encouraging the sharing of 
resources between libraries. 

18725. The state board shall serve as the State Advisory Council on Libraries for the 
purpose of meeting the requirements of the federal Library Services and Technology 
Act. 

18726. The State Librarian shall be the chief executive officer of the state board for 
purposes of this chapter and shall: 

(a) Make such reports and recommendations as may be required by the state board.
(b) Administer the provisions of this chapter.
(c) Review all claims to insure programmatic and technical compliance with the

provisions of this chapter.

Article 4: Local Public Library Services  
18730. Any public library or combination of public libraries may submit proposals to the 
state board for Special Services Programs within the service area. Applications shall 
identify the needs of the target service group, assess the capacity of the applicant 
library or libraries to respond to those needs, and shall identify the activities and 
timelines necessary to achieve those objectives. Funds may be expended for the 
development of collections to meet the needs of the underserved, together with the 
employment or retraining of staff necessary to properly utilize the collections, and to 
provide appropriate services to the underserved. 

18731. Any A California public library may participate in universal borrowing. Public 
libraries A public library participating in universal borrowing may shall not exclude the 
residents of any jurisdiction maintaining a public library. Public libraries that incur a net 
imbalance shall be reimbursed for the handling costs of the net loans according to the 
allocation formula developed pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 18724. 
Reimbursement shall be incurred only for imbalances between: 

(a) System member libraries and independent public libraries.
(b) Independent public libraries with each other.



(c) Member libraries of one system with member libraries of other systems.

18732. If two or more public library jurisdictions wish to consolidate their libraries into a 
single library agency, an establishment grant in the annual maximum amount of twenty 
thousand dollars ($20,000) shall be made to the newly consolidated library jurisdiction 
for each of two years, provided that notice of such consolidation is filed with the State 
Librarian within one year after the consolidation.  

Article 5. Library System Services 
18740.  A library system, eligible for funds under this article, may consist of the following 
systems: 

(a) A cooperative library system that, as of the effective date of this act, was
designated a system under the Public Library Services Act of 1963.

(b) A library system in which two or more systems consolidate to form a library
system.

(c) A library system that is formed by adding independent public library jurisdictions
to an existing system.

(d) A library system formed by any combination of the above.

18743. Each member library of a system shall provide equal access to all residents of 
the area served by the system. Member libraries that incur a net imbalance shall be 
reimbursed through the system for the handling costs of the net loans according to the 
allocations formula developed pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 18724. 

18744. Each member library of a system shall be reimbursed through the system to 
cover handling costs, excluding communications and delivery costs, of each interlibrary 
loan between member libraries of the system according to the allocation formula 
developed pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 18724. 

18745. Each system shall annually apply to the state board for funds for intrasystem 
communications and delivery. delivery and resource sharing. Proposals shall be based 
upon the most cost-effective methods of exchanging print and digital materials and 
information among the member libraries. 

18746. Each system shall annually apply to the state board for funds for planning, 
coordination, and evaluation of the overall systemwide services authorized by this 
chapter. 



18747. Each system shall establish an administrative council whose membership 
consists of the head librarians of each jurisdiction in the system. Duties of the 
administrative council shall include general administrative responsibility for the system, 
adopting a system plan of service, and submitting annual proposals to the state board 
for implementation of the provisions of this article. 

18751. When any system or systems consolidate, a grant of ten thousand dollars 
($10,000) for each of the two years following the consolidation shall be made to the 
newly consolidated system.   

Article 6. Statewide Services 
18760. The state board shall establish and administer two or more state reference 
centers. The centers shall be responsible for answering reference requests that cannot 
be met by systems and libraries participating in the programs authorized by this chapter. 

18761. Each reference center established by the state shall provide statewide service. 
Such service shall include the handling of reference requests that cannot be met locally 
and regionally. 

18762. Each reference center established pursuant to Section 18760 may enter into 
reciprocal or contractual agreements with libraries or any other information source for 
the purpose of making available their materials and informational services for the benefit 
of the library users of this state. Each California public library participating in any 
program under this chapter shall make materials and services available, as needed, to 
state reference centers. 

18763. The budget of any reference center established pursuant to Section 18760 may 
include funds for the general operations of such centers, including funds for collection 
development and use. 

18764. The state board shall designate one or more of the reference centers 
established pursuant to Section 18760 as a repository for collections specially relevant 
to economically disadvantaged persons and non-English-speaking persons. 

18765. Each California library eligible to be reimbursed under this section for 
participation in the statewide interlibrary loan program shall be reimbursed according to 
the allocation formula developed pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 18724 to cover 
the handling costs of each interlibrary loan whenever the borrowing library is a public 
library, except for the interlibrary loans made between members of a cooperative library 



system as provided in Section 18744. Libraries eligible for interlibrary loan 
reimbursement under this section shall include public libraries, libraries operated by 
public schools or school districts, libraries operated by public colleges or universities, 
libraries operated by public agencies for institutionalized persons, and libraries operated 
by nonprofit private educational or research institutions. Loans to eligible libraries by 
public libraries shall also be reimbursed according to the allocation formula developed 
pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 18724.  

18766. The state board shall establish and maintain a statewide communications and 
delivery and resource-sharing network between and among systems, state reference 
centers, independent public libraries libraries, and all other libraries participating in the 
programs authorized by this act. 

18767. The state board shall establish and maintain a computerized data base of 
bibliographic records and locations of all materials acquired by public libraries in this 
state, for the purpose of carrying out the legislative policy of enabling libraries to share 
resources efficiently. 



 



CITY OF 
CHULA VISTA 

CHULA VISTA PUBLIC LIBRARY 

April 6,2017 

Anne R. Bernardo, President 
California Library Services Board 
Stanley Mosk Library and Courts Building 
914 Capitol Mall, Rm 500 
Sacramento. CA 95814 

Dear Ms. Bernardo: 

I am writing to ask that the members of the California Library Services Board undertake a study of the 
effects of changing the language regarding contiguous jurisdictions before proceeding to a vote. What 
may seem like a simple language change could have serious consequences for California libraries and 
our effective traditions of sharing and mutual support. 

I am the director of Chula Vista Public Library in San Diego County. We are a member of the Serra 
Cooperative Library System. Unfortunately our city has not fully recovered from the devastating effects 
of the economic downturn, leaving our library in the bottom 15% of library funding per capita in the 
state. Our membership in Serra gives access to services we would not be able to afford on our own. 
Serra sponsors and supports programs and resources such as Overdrive, Zinio, membership in CALIFA, 
grant opportunities, material delivery, and many more assets that mean so much to our residents. 

My biggest concern regarding the change in the language would be the loss of the mix of big and small, 
rural and urban, wealthy and modest that we see in our current system make-up. Changing to non
contiguous jurisdictions might destroy the ability to maximize resources that now virtually 100% of 
Califomians benefit from. It would be a shame i f our library organizations contributed to the have/have-
not divide that is overtaking so many avenues of life. 

Libraries are one of the great equalizers; I know that the California Library Services Board does not 
want to jeopardize that great characteristic of the public library ideal. 

Thank you for your consideration, and for your unselfish service to our state. 

Sincerely, 

Betty Waznis, Director 
Chula Vista Public Library 

365 F STREET • CHULA VISTA • CALIFORNIA 91910 • (619) 691-5168 • FAX (619) 427-4246 • www. chulavistalibrary.com 
^ Post-Consumor Recycled Paper 

 



 





 





April 7, 2017 

Annly Roman 
California State Library 
Office of the State Librarian 
Administrative Assistant to California Library Services Board 
914 Capitol Mall 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

Dear Ms. Roman, 

This letter is in response to the California Library Services Act (CLSA) draft regulatory changes 
spreadsheet which was shared with the system coordinators on April 3, 2017. The Black Gold 
Cooperative appreciates the efforts of the California State Library and the California Library Services 
Board to update this language to reflect current and projected future needs of public libraries.   

Black Gold Council members would like to comment on the issue of contiguous borders which is 
mentioned in three sections:  Section 20180, Public Library Consolidations, Section 20185 (a) and 
Section 20190 (a). The proposed changes include removing the current requirement for both systems 
and public library consolidations to have contiguous borders.  Per the current CLSA funding formula:  

• 30% awarded on the basis of the first three members of each System, equally;
• 45% for each System’s combined portion of the total state population and System membership,

excluding the first three members per System;
• 25% of each System’s combined portion of full membership and round-trip mileage of the

System’s service area.

The Black Gold region covers approximately 8000 square miles but is not heavily populated. We share an 
automated library system which allows us to move over half a million physical items a year among 
libraries, and for that we rely heavily on the delivery service funded by CLSA. Fully one-half of our annual 
CLSA funds, in the new funding amounts approved a year ago, pay for the delivery service. If changes to 
the contiguous border language are not fully considered, Systems could be inadvertently penalized and 
lose funding. After losing Transaction-Based Reimbursements and Public Library Funds, CLSA funds are 
the only ongoing state funding for public libraries.  

 



The Black Gold Council would like to see a study done prior to the language about contiguous borders 
being removed to ascertain what effect those changes could have on existing services. While there are a 
number of possibilities for libraries if that language is changed, there may also be unintended 
consequences.  

Thank you again for consideration of these issues for our member libraries. 

Sincerely, 

Mary Housel, City Librarian, Santa Maria Public Library 
Chair, Black Gold Administrative Council 

CC: 
Jessica Cadiente, Director, Santa Barbara Public Library System 
Sarah Bleyl, Director, Lompoc Public Library System 
Christopher Barnickel, Director, San Luis Obispo County Library 
Angelica Fortin, City Librarian, Paso Robles City Library  
Ned Branch, District Director, Blanchard/Santa Paula Community Library 



1

Roman, Annly@CSL

From: Theyer, Hillary <HTheyer@TorranceCA.gov>
Sent: Monday, April 10, 2017 8:11 AM
To: Roman, Annly@CSL
Cc: Diane Satchwell
Subject: for April 25 CLSB Meeting

I apologize for this not being on letterhead, I am out of the office, but I wanted to be certain my comments were 
received for the CLSB meeting.   

April 10, 2017 

Annie R. Bernardo, President 
California Library Services Board 

Dear Ms. Bernardo, 

I have been actively participating in the discussions and changes in California libraries, and working through 
the needs to change language in the laws and regulations regarding library funding, library systems, and 
resource sharing.  It is an exciting time to be in libraries, as we are driven, often by necessity, to reshape and 
rethink how to best serve everyone in California.  It is also a time that causes us to think deeply about how to 
act now to be good ancestors for the libraries to come. 

I understand that the Board will be considering removing the requirement for contiguous borders from systems 
at the April 25 meeting.  This is a foundational issue for how we work together, and how we get our separate 
jurisdictions to agree to resource share, especially in an era with more and more localities wanting to isolate 
behind literal or figurative walls.  NIMBY, “us vs. them” and “I don’t need that service, why should I have to pay 
for that service?” are all sentiments, and statements, that are alive and well in our communities.  I combat them 
every day.  We are often the institution with the deepest roots, and we are the best at holding hands.  Our 
shared borders bring a lot of that history, and I urge you not to take removal of that language lightly. 

I have both practical and philosophical concerns.  On the practical side, a significant change to any system will 
require a lot of administrative overhead, and I urge the Board to study the ramifications to cities, counties, 
special districts, JPAs, and the systems themselves.  At a time when I am combing through my own 
organization always seeking administrative overhead and process that is wasteful so I can move resources to 
direct public service, I do not know what impact this would have at large.  I would want to know how this would 
work, and would want to be certain that this would be worth the change.   

On the philosophical side, would this break up our shared vesting in the concerns of our area?  Society, and 
social concerns, land on the doorsteps of libraries every day, and they don’t respect jurisdictional lines.  I work 
more closely with my neighboring libraries, though we are very diverse organizationally, than I do with my “like 
cities” that other departments may use for comparison.  We see the same people, we have the same 
problems, and I know we have each other’s backs.  Our system helps us do this, and the fact that we share in 
priorities, resources, and support helps us all be better.  I have a looming fear that we could see the big leave 
the small behind, the well-resourced leave the under-resourced behind, and that those who don’t have enough 
voice on their own won’t have the automatic support of a geographically connected system.   

I urge the Board to undertake a deeper study of the practical issues, and survey the field for other concerns 
about how our profession works together in California.   

Thank you, 

 



2

Hillary Theyer 
City Librarian 
Torrance Public Library 
3301 Torrance Blvd. 
Torrance, CA 90503 
310-618-5953



 



 





1 
 

  Exhibit O 

Survey responses from Public Library Directors on topics of interest to the State Board: 

Should the CLSA regulations be modified to remove the contiguous borders requirement? 

 The contiguous borders issue might be solved by a compromise, where library systems offering 
conventional services must have contiguous borders, and those uniting for specialty services 
need not. 

 I would like to see the requirement lifted. This would give  libraries in rural areas an opportunity 

to join other systems that more closely align with their needs. 

 Currently, we are part of North State Library System. We have more in common, geographically, 

patron‐wise, and demographically with the Peninsula Library System south of us. We are looking 

into the benefits of joining PLS instead. We are technically geographically contiguous to both. 

 I don’t have a strong opinion about this. One of the great values of the system for us has been 

the opportunity for staff to meet and work with nearby colleagues. I do recognize the value of 

potentially setting up a system that serves the special needs of certain groups of jurisdictions.  

 It might spur some innovative partnerships. 

 Yes they should. In the age of instant communication with the Internet, the contiguous borders 

requirement is outmoded. It makes more sense to have affinities based on the shared interests 

of libraries and the communities they serve rather than an artificially drawn border. Possibly 

causing existing groupings to fail is a concern, but I believe that ways can be found to ameliorate 

that possibility. 

 I don’t know what that is or how it is relevant. However, if doing so would make it easier for 

libraries to collaborate across jurisdictions, I am all for it. 

 Yes – borders don’t matter as much as they did before. 

 Yes I think the contiguous border requirement is outdated in our digital age and possibly un‐

enforceable. We would ideally like to form non‐geographic cooperative arrangements within the 

state as well as additional partnerships nationwide that parallel what OCLC does for us, but 

using open source tools such as Fulfillment©. 

 No.  I get the argument for it, but as a former County Librarian, I understand the potential (and 

likely) negative impacts it would have. 

 For my library (and I suspect for the rest of the Inland libraries), this is not an issue that is of 

importance to us. 

 Take a look at a map of California and see what might be involved in this. A large portion of 

California does not even have air or passenger rail access. 

 Yes‐ I would love to partner with innovative libraries with similar goals and interests. 

 YES, absolutely.  We are seeking more and more to work with libraries across needs, and 

geography is less and less a factor.  This is for the future of effective collaboration. 

 Just remove the words contiguous borders. 

 I don’t think so, personally.  I think it could potentially open things up for abuse.  

 No.  While I understand that the contiguous borders requirement presents challenges, without it 

is seems that Systems serving rural communities would be further weakened, and the stronger 

systems which are in more urban areas and require a greater financial commitment from their 



2 
 

members would dominate.  I worry that this would leave smaller/less well off/rural library 

jurisdictions without a viable option for regional resource sharing. 

 Not sure about that – I need more information about the requirements. 

 I would need to review the pros/cons of such a change before giving an opinion on 

this.  Although it appears that allowing libraries (or systems) not contiguous, to align with 

another that may be more related to its mission or services, and it may be advantageous, I’m 

not sure what that means or how it affects current systems and libraries and logistics. 

 The ability for entities to “select” a library consortium could result in those groups who are 

already weak only suffering more. That is, if libraries opt to align with a stronger cooperative 

rather than one that is geographically close, that neighboring cooperative only grows weaker. I 

think we would need to ensure greater uniformity before we consider this seriously. 

 I feel that CLA, ALA, CALIFA and even InfoPeople and other LSTA supported projects serve the 

purpose of connecting libraries beyond contiguous borders.  I feel it’s important that CLSA 

continues to emphasize geographic location because it’s important for a library to be aware of 

what’s happening in neighboring communities to avoid duplication, improve efficiency and 

support each other’s efforts. 

 Yes:  5 

 No:  3 

 




